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 Department of Finance 
Office of the Controller 

201 W Colfax Avenue, Dept 1109 

Denver, CO 80202 

p: 720.913.5500 

f: 720.913.5245 

www.denvergov.org/controller 

 

 

Claude Pumilia
Chief Financial Officer

May 29, 2009

Citizens of the City and County of Denver,

Honorable Mayor,

Honorable Auditor,

Honorable Members of City Council, and

Audit Committee

State law requires the City and County of Denver (City) to publish, within seven months 
of the close of the fi scal year, a complete set of fi nancial statements presented in conformity with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (US GAAP) and audited in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, by a fi rm 
of licensed certifi ed public accountants.  This report is prepared by the Controller’s Offi  ce under 
the Department of Finance according to Article 2, Part 5 of the City’s Charter.  Pursuant to the 
requirements, I hereby issue the comprehensive annual fi nancial report (CAFR) of the City for the 
fi scal year ended December 31, 2008.

This report consists of management’s representations concerning the fi nances of the City.  
Responsibility for the accuracy of the data and the completeness and fairness of the presentation, 
including all disclosures, rests with the management of the City.  To provide a reasonable basis for 
making those representations, management of the City has established a comprehensive internal 
control framework that is designed both to protect the government’s assets from loss, theft, or 
misuse and to compile suffi  cient reliable information for the preparation of the City’s fi nancial 
statements in conformity with US GAAP.  Because the cost of internal controls should not outweigh 
their benefi ts, the City’s comprehensive framework of internal controls has been designed to provide 
reasonable rather than absolute assurance that the fi nancial statements will be free from material 
misstatement.  As management, we assert that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, this fi nancial 
report is complete and reliable in all material respects.

BKD, LLP, a fi rm of licensed certifi ed public accountants, has audited the City’s fi nancial statements.  
The goal of the independent audit is to provide reasonable assurance that the fi nancial statements 
of the City, as of and for the fi scal year ended December 31, 2008, are free of material misstatement.  
The audit involved examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in 
the fi nancial statements; assessing the accounting principles used and signifi cant estimates made 
by management; and evaluating the overall fi nancial statement presentation.  The independent 
accountants concluded, based upon the audit, that there was a reasonable basis for rendering an 
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unqualifi ed opinion on the City’s basic fi nancial statements 
as of and for the year ended December 31, 2008.  The 
independent accountants’ report is presented as the fi rst 
component of the fi nancial section of this report.

THE REPORT

The CAFR is presented in three sections:

The Introduction section includes this transmittal letter, 
Mayor, Auditor, Clerk and Recorder, City Council, and Court 
System introductions, the City’s organization chart, and 
certifi cates of achievement.  

The Financial section includes the report of the 
independent accountants, Management’s Discussion 
and Analysis (MD&A), the basic fi nancial statements, 
including the government-wide fi nancial statements, 
and the accompanying notes to the fi nancial statements.  
The Financial Section also includes the fund fi nancial 
statements including the governmental funds fi nancial 
statements, the proprietary funds fi nancial statements, 
the fi duciary fund fi nancial statements, component unit 
fi nancial statements, and combining individual funds 
fi nancial statements for the nonmajor governmental 
funds and internal service funds.  The Financial section 
also includes certain required and other supplementary 
information and schedules.

The Statistical section includes selected fi nancial and 
demographic information, on a multi-year basis.  This 
transmittal letter is designed to complement and should 
be read in conjunction with the MD&A.

This CAFR includes all funds of the City.  The City provides a 
full range of services including:  police and fi re protection; 
the construction and maintenance of highways, streets and 
other infrastructure; and recreational activities and cultural 
events.

The City maintains budgetary controls that have the objective 
of ensuring compliance with legal provisions embodied in 
the annual appropriated budget submitted by the Mayor 

and adopted by the City Council.  All activities of the General 
Fund and Human Services special revenue fund are included 
in the annual appropriated budget.  Project-length budgets 
are adopted for the remaining special revenue funds and 
capital project funds.  Budgetary control (the level at which 
expenditures and encumbrances cannot legally exceed the 
appropriated amount) is established at the department 
level within individual funds, except for special revenue 
and capital project funds, which are at the funded project 
level.  Disbursements that would result in an overrun of 
funded project balances (budgets) are not released until 
additional appropriations are made available.  At year-end, if 
additional monies have not been appropriated where needed, 
expenditures are properly refl ected in the current period 
causing an over budget condition to exist.

In addition to the fi nancial audit, the City undertakes a single 
audit in conformance with the Single Audit Act Amendments 
of 1996 and U.S. Offi  ce of Management and Budget (OMB) 
Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and 
Non-Profi t Organizations.  The results of this single audit, 
including a schedule of expenditures of federal awards, and 
the independent accountants’ reports on the City’s internal 
controls and compliance with legal requirements, with 
special emphasis on internal controls and legal requirements 
involving the administration of federal awards, are available 
in the City’s separately issued single audit reports.

CITY PROFILE

The City is located at the eastern base of the Rocky 
Mountains in the north-central part of Colorado, 
encompassing 154.63 square miles.  The City is the 
capital of the state, and it is also the cultural, distribution, 

entertainment, fi nancial, service and transportation hub of 
the Rocky Mountain region.  With an elevation of 5,280 feet 
the “Mile High City” has a cool, dry, sunny climate that makes 
it a magnet for health seekers and those enjoying outdoor 
recreation all year round.  Denver had a 2000 U.S. Census 
population of 554,636 for the core City and County.  In 2008, 

Management's 
Discussion and Analysis

Notes to the Financial 
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the population was estimated to be 598,707.  Another 2.7 
million people are estimated to reside in the metro area’s 

suburban counties (Adams, Arapahoe, Boulder, Broomfi eld, 
Douglas and Jeff erson).  Denver was founded November 
22, 1858, after a gold discovery at the confl uence of Cherry 
Creek and the South Platte River.  Town founder William H. 
Larimer, Jr. named the city for James W. Denver, Governor of 
Kansas Territory, of which east central Colorado was then a 
part.

Numerous gold discoveries sparked a mass migration of 
some 100,000 in 1859-1861, leading the federal government 
to establish Colorado Territory in 1861.  The City was 
incorporated on November 7, 1861 by a special act of 
the fi rst session of the Legislative Assembly of Colorado 
Territory.  In 1867 the City became the Capital of Colorado 
Territory and remained the capital after Colorado became a 
state on August 1, 1876.  Denver became a City and County 
with home rule when Article XX was added to the Colorado 
Constitution in 1902.  The City’s charter was enacted on 
March 29, 1904 establishing a strong mayor/city council form 
of government and an independent, elected city auditor.

The mayor and thirteen-member council, elected in non-
partisan elections govern the City.  The Mayor is the chief 
executive, exercising all administrative and executive 
powers granted to the City, except as otherwise delegated 
by the City Charter.  The legislative powers of the City are 
vested in the City Council.  The City has an elected Auditor 
and an elected Clerk and Recorder.  In November of 2006 
the voters approved a Charter amendment to change the 
fi nancial structure of the City.  Eff ective January 1, 2008 the 
accounting functions, including the preparation of the CAFR, 
were transferred from the elected Auditor to a Chief Financial 
Offi  cer reportable to the Mayor.  In addition, the Charter 
enhanced the role of the Auditor to provide for performance 
audits.  All elected offi  cials’ terms are concurrent and last four 
years and each position is subject to term limits of twelve 
years.

The Charter change also established an audit committee 
consisting of seven members; two members appointed by 
the Mayor, two members appointed by the City Council and 

two members appointed by the Auditor, with the Auditor 
as the Chair.  The audit committee, among other things, 
is responsible for the selection and management of the 
external auditor. During the course of the annual city-wide 
audit, the audit committee monitors the progress of the 
audit and discusses with the external auditor any matters 
related to the audit.  The audit committee also accepts the 
results of the audit.

FACTORS AFFECTING FINANCIAL CONDITIONS

The information presented in the fi nancial statements is 
perhaps best understood when it is considered from the 
broader perspective of the specifi c environment within 
which the City operates.

The City is the center of economic activity of the region, 
serving as a business, recreational, higher educational and 
cultural hub. Major features of the economy include the 
central business district, state capitol, Denver International 
Airport, extensive library facilities, several professional 
sports teams, institutions of higher learning, and numerous 
museums and other cultural facilities.  By the end of 2008, 
the national and local economies had entered a recession.  
According to Colorado’s Offi  ce of State Planning and 
Budgeting (OSPB), the economy of the metropolitan area 
generally mirrors that of the state.  State unemployment 
increased to 4.6 percent in 2008, up from 3.8 percent in 2007.  
Colorado’s labor market conditions correspond with those of 
the national labor market, which experienced a reduction of 
employment by 2.2 percent.

Construction

While construction activity remains an integral component 
of the metropolitan area’s economic condition, housing 
permits dropped 37.3 percent in 2008.  The area has seen 
declining rates since 2005, however it is anticipated that 
the bottom of the declining trend has been reached and 
calendar year 2009 will show a level number of permits 
issued from 2008 and an increase in permits for years 
beyond that.

Personal Income and Wages
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The March 2009 OSPB Colorado Economic Perspective 
report states that personal income grew 4.5 percent in 2008.  
Wages refl ected an increase of 4.1 percent for this same 
period.  It is anticipated that in 2009 personal income growth 
will slow to 0.5 percent and wage and salary income will 
decrease by 1.3 percent.  According to the OSPB, the decline 
in wage and salary refl ects a distressed labor market where 
unemployment forces competition for jobs, which in turn 
lowers salaries.

Consumer Spending

According to the OSPB, retail sales statewide did not grow in 
2008 and are not anticipated to grow in 2009 as negative job 
growth and high unemployment are anticipated to continue 
to diminish consumer confi dence.

Debt Administration

As of December 31, 2008, the City had $551,679,000 of 
general obligation bonds and $38,000,000 of general 
obligation commercial paper outstanding.  In addition to 
this amount, the cumulative compound interest on the 
1999A and 2007A general obligation mini-bonds totaled 
$2,536,000.  In November, 2007 voters approved almost 
$550 million in Better Denver general obligation bonds 
to be issued to address a wide variety of infrastructure 
improvements.  Commercial paper notes outstanding in 
the amount of $38,000,000 were issued against the Better 
Denver Bonds Projects authorization; the notes will be 
redeemed with proceeds of the Better Denver general 
obligation bonds as they are issued, beginning in 2009.  In 
2000, Denver voters approved the issuance of $62,500,000 
of general obligation bonds for the purpose of improving 
the Denver Zoological Gardens.  There remains $26,500,000 
from this authorization for general obligation bonds for the 
Zoo Project.  In 2005, Denver voters approved the issuance of 
$378,000,000 of general obligation bonds for the purpose of 
fi nancing new Justice System Facilities for the City, of which 
the remaining $174,135,000 was issued in February 2008.  
There are also $42,725,000 of general obligation water bonds 
issued by the Denver Board of Water Commissioners, payable 
from revenues derived from the City’s water system, that 
were outstanding at year-end.

The City’s Charter restricts general obligation bonded debt 
to three percent of the actual value of the taxable property 
within the City.  General obligation water bonds are excluded 
from this limitation.  At December 31, 2008, the City’s general 
obligation bonded debt, including compound interest of the 
general obligation mini-bonds, subject to this restriction was 
24% of the $2,356,914,246 three-percent limitation amount.  
By standard measures used by the primary credit rating 
agencies to assess debt (e.g. fund balance as a percent of 

operating revenues, debt-to-assessed ratios, debt per capital, 
etc.), the City’s debt is considered moderate in comparison 
with similarly sized cities.

The City has issued revenue bonds that the sole source 
of repayment are from four primary sources of pledged 
revenues.  Approximately $4.1 billion of airport system 
revenue bonds issued for and on behalf of Denver 
International Airport were outstanding at year-end.  
The repayment of these obligations is solely from the 
revenues of the airport enterprise fund.  In addition, there 
are approximately $290,930,000 of excise tax revenue 
bonds outstanding at December 31, 2008.  The revenues 
pledged towards the repayment of these bonds are specifi c 
excise taxes of the City.  At December 31, 2008 there were 
$24,250,000 of wastewater revenue bonds outstanding 
that fi nanced storm system capital projects.  Annual storm 
water and sanitary sewer fees are the pledged revenues for 
the repayment of these bonds.  In 2006 the City issued golf 
enterprise revenue bonds for the purpose of constructing 
and improving certain golf facilities within the City.  As of 
December 31, 2008, there were $6,110,000 of golf enterprise 
revenue bonds outstanding, payable solely from the 
revenues of the golf enterprise fund.

Cash Management

The City’s Charter regulates investment securities the 
City may acquire with idle cash. Permissible investments 
under the Charter are obligations of the United States 
Government, its agencies, and sponsored corporations, 
prime bankers’ acceptances, prime commercial paper, 
certifi cates of deposit issued by banks and savings and 
loan institutions, repurchase agreements, security lending 
agreements, highly rated municipal securities, money 
market funds that purchased only the types of securities 
specifi ed herein, and other similar securities as may be 
authorized by ordinance.  The City Council has adopted 
an ordinance authorizing the investment of City moneys 
in Resolution Funding Corporation (REFCORP) Securities, 
Forward Purchase Agreements, and Debt Service Reserve 
Fund Put Agreements, all of which are either issued by a 
U.S. Government Corporation or are collateralized by surety 
types already authorized by the Charter.  The City is not 
permitted to leverage its investment portfolio.  The size of 
the investment portfolio managed by the City Treasurer 
ended the year with a fair value of $2,061,165,000 compared 
to $2,021,952,000 for the prior year.  The size of the portfolio 
not managed by the City Treasurer ended the year with a 
market value of $1,937,373,000 compared to $2,649,293,000 
for the prior year.

The objectives of the City’s investment policy, in order of 
priority, are to maintain principal, to ensure the availability 
of funds to meet obligations promptly, and to maximize 
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yield on the investment portfolio.  Bank deposits are either 
insured by federal deposit insurance or collateralized 
according to state law. Investments are held at a third-party 
bank in a safekeeping account in the City’s name.

Long-Term Financial Planning

In 2007, the voters approved an increase in the mill levy for 
capital maintenance.  This increase added $25 million per 
year to annual capital funding streams, allowing the City to 
maintain infrastructure at a preventative level and reduce 
future replacement costs.  The City is also investing more in 
technology infrastructure to strengthen core systems, such 
as the sales tax collection system, but also to allow greater 
effi  ciencies in operations.   This was evident in the payroll 
time reporting project, which installed an electronic tool 
for employees to report their time, as well as centralized 
payroll operations in the City, resulting in a savings of over 
$1,500,000 per year in on-going operating costs.

Pension Plan Operations

Employees of the City are generally covered by one of two 
retirement plans.  The State of Colorado - Fire and Police 
Pension Plan (State Plan) covers fi refi ghters and police 
offi  cers.  This plan is a cost sharing, multiple-employer public 
employee retirement system.  The State Plan is affi  liated with 
the Fire and Police Pension Association (FPPA).  The rest of 
the City’s employees are covered primarily by the Denver 
Employees Retirement Plan (DERP), a cost-sharing multiple-
employer defi ned benefi t plan.

Awards and Acknowledgements

The Government Finance Offi  cers Association of the 
United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a Certifi cate of 
Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the 
City for its CAFR for the year ended December 31, 2007.  The 
Certifi cate of Achievement is a national award recognizing 
conformance with the highest standards for preparation of 
state and local government fi nancial reports. To be awarded 
a Certifi cate of Achievement, the City must publish an easily 
readable and effi  ciently organized CAFR.  This report must 
satisfy both US GAAP and applicable legal requirements.  
This was the twenty-eighth consecutive year that the City 
has received this award.  A Certifi cate of Achievement is 
valid for one year only.  We believe this 2008 CAFR continues 
to conform to the Certifi cate of Achievement program 
requirements and will submit it to the GFOA to determine its 
eligibility for another certifi cate.

The City also received the GFOA’s Award for Distinguished 
Budget Presentation for its fi scal year 2008 annual budget 
document.  The annual budget document is prepared by 
the City’s Budget and Management Offi  ce.  To qualify for the 
Distinguished Budget Presentation Award, the City’s budget 

document was judged to be profi cient in several categories 
including policy documentation, fi nancial planning, 
operational guidance, and communication.

Additionally, the City was awarded GFOA’s Award for 
Excellence in Government Finance for a project that 
established two task forces to address the maintenance 
of the city’s assets.  This award recognizes contributions 
to the practice of government fi nance that exemplifi es 
outstanding fi nancial management and is given for practical, 
documented work that off ers leadership to the profession 
and promotes improved public fi nance.  

The preparation of this CAFR could not have been 
accomplished without the effi  cient and dedicated service of 
a highly qualifi ed staff  in the Controller’s Offi  ce.  The Treasury 
Division and the Budget and Management Offi  ce were also 
instrumental.  Their cooperation and continued assistance 
is necessary and appreciated.  I would like to thank all 
personnel that helped and contributed to the preparation 
of this report.  I also want to acknowledge the thorough and 
professional manner in which our independent auditors, 
BKD, LLP, conducted their audit.

Respectfully submitted,

Claude Pumilia
Chief Financial Offi  cer
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This year Denver celebrated its 150th birthday and hosted the most important gathering in our history; the Democratic National 
Convention.  One hundred years ago Denver hosted another national Democratic convention and the nation’s circumstances 
were hauntingly familiar – the national economy was in the midst of troubled times.   In 2008, the nation experienced a signifi cant 
economic downturn that impacted our local economy including the fi rst simultaneous downturn in property, income and sales 
tax revenues in at least two decades.

Here in the Mile High City, just as our leaders of the past, we have committed to survive . . . and thrive.  Even with the downturn, 
we are committed to achieving results in our key goals:

People will say Denver is an even better place to live.• 

Denver will grow a vital economy.• 

Denver City Government will achieve the highest customer service rating in the country.• 

People who work for Denver city government will say it is an even better place to work.• 

Denver City government will live within its means.• 

We are committed to improve the quality of life of Denver’s residents and increase the opportunity for success, strengthen 
the businesses that are the foundation of our prosperity, and preserve our natural assets that are our history’s legacy.  We are 
committed to public safety.  This is our highest responsibility and we will continue the steady, determined progress to reduce 
crime.  We aim to make Denver the greatest city possible for our children and our seniors and we will invest in our children’s future 
and create elder-friendly communities that focus on needs and opportunities, transportation, health, and wellness.  

Denver has succeeded in creating a great city - we are changing the world.

Honorable John W. Hickenlooper
Mayor

David Fine, City Attorney

Kim Day, Manager, Department of Aviation

Nancy Severson, Manager, Department of Environmental Health

Awilda R. Marques, Manager,  Department of Excise & Licenses

Derek Brown, Acting Manager, Department of General Services

Kevin Patterson, Manager, Department of Parks and Recreation

Guillermo (Bill) Vidal, Manager, Department of Public Works, Deputy Mayor

Claude Pumilia, Chief Financial Offi  cer, Department of Finance

Alvin LaCabe, Manager, Department of Safety

Patricia Wilson-Pheanious, Manager, Department of Human Services

Peter Park, Manager, Department of Community Planning and Development

Mayor’s Cabinet
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Honorable Dennis J. Gallagher
Auditor

Honorable Stephanie O’Malley
Clerk and Recorder

Stephanie O’Malley was elected Clerk and Recorder in July 2007.  Ms. 
O’Malley also serves as Public Trustee, City Clerk, and Ex-Offi  cio Clerk 
of the City and County of Denver.  Ms. O’Malley’s term will expire on 
the third Monday in July 2011.

Dennis J. Gallagher is the Auditor for the City and County of Denver.  
Mr. Gallagher was elected Auditor in July 2003, and was re-elected for 
a second term beginning in July 2007.  Mr. Gallagher’s current term 
will expire on the third Monday in July 2011.

Honorable Mitchell R. Morrissey
District Attorney

Mr. Morrissey is the district attorney for the Second Judicial District. 
The district attorney is a state offi  cial. He is the chief law enforcement 
offi  cer in the district and is responsible for prosecuting all felonies, 
misdemeanors, and serious traffi  c off enses arising in the district.  Mr. 
Morrissey became district attorney in January 2005; his current term 
will end January 8, 2013. 
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Honorable Peggy Lehmann
4th District

Honorable Marcia Johnson
5th District

Honorable Charlie Brown
6th District

Honorable Judy Montero
9th District

Honorable Carla Madison
8th District

Honorable Chris Nevitt
7th District

Honorable Jeanne Robb
President
10th District

There are 13 city council members - 11 from equally populated districts and two elected at-large.  Council members, who must be 
25 years of age, US citizens and two-year Denver residents, are all elected at the same time every four years.   All terms expire on 
the third Monday in July 2011.

Honorable Michael B. Hancock
11th District

Honorable Rick Garcia
1st District

Honorable Paul D. Lopez
3rd District

Honorable Jeanne Faatz
2nd District

Honorable Carol Boigon
At-Large

Honorable Doug Linkhart
At-Large
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Certifi cate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting

The Government Finance Offi  cers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a Certifi cate of 
Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the City and County of Denver for its Annual Report for the fi scal 
year ended December 31, 2007.  

The  Certifi cate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting program was established to encourage municipal 
governments to publish high quality fi nancial reports and to provide peer recognition and technical guidance for 
offi  cials preparing these reports.

In order to be awarded an award for Excellence in Financial Reporting, a government unit must publish an easily-
readable and effi  ciently-organized annual fi nancial report, whose contents conform to program standards.  Such 
reports should go beyond the minimum requirements of generally accepted accounting principles and demonstrate 
an eff ort to clearly communicate the municipal government’s fi nancial picture, enhance an understanding of fi nancial 
reporting by municipal governments and address user needs.

A Certifi cate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting award is valid for a period of one year only.  We 
believe our current report continues to conform to the Certifi cate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting 
program requirements and we are submitting it to GFOA for their consideration.

10 City and County of Denver Government Finance Officers Association Awards

Distinguished Budget Presentation Award

The GFOA’s Distinguished Budget Presentation Awards Program has been promoting the preparation 
of high quality budget documents since 1984.

The Distinguished Budget Presentation Awards Program is specifi cally designed to encourage state 
and local governments to prepare and issue budget documents of the highest quality.  Top-quality 
documents are essential if citizens and others with an interest in a government’s fi nances are to be 
full and informed participants in the budget process.  Better budget documents contribute to better 
decision making and enhanced accountability.

The Distinguished Budget Presentation Awards Program allows the public fi nance profession a 
welcome opportunity to recognize those governments that have, in fact, succeeded in preparing a 

high quality budget document.

Award for Excellence in Government Finance

The GFOA’s Awards for Excellence in Government Finance recognizes contributions to the practice of government fi nance that exemplify outstanding fi nancial management.    

This award is given for practical, documented work that off ers leadership to the profession and promotes improved public fi nance.  Eight criteria are taken into consideration for 
this award and include: local signifi cance and value, technical signifi cance, transferability, documentation, the cost/benefi t analysis, effi  ciency, originality, and durability.

This award was presented to the City and County of Denver for a project that established two task forces to address the maintenance of the city’s assets.  One assessed the 
condition of the current infrastructure, developed maintenance standards, and established priority-setting criteria.  The other developed a capital funding policy to provide a 
long-term framework.  GFOA noted that the methodologies used provided a roadmap for other cities in addressing the intent of GASB 34 and that while simple in its approach, it 
was well executed and the process could and should be emulated in other jurisdictions.

Government Finance Offi  cers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA)
Awards for the City and County of Denver

The City and County of Denver is proud to have been recognized with the following awards off ered by the GFOA:

Certifi cate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting

Distinguished Budget Presentation Award

Award for Excellence in Government Finance
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Management of the City and County of Denver (City) off ers readers of the basic fi nancial statements this narrative overview and 

analysis of the fi nancial activities of the City for the fi scal year ended December 31, 2008.  Readers are encouraged to consider the 

information presented here in conjunction with additional information that is furnished in the letter of transmittal.  The focus of 

the information herein is on the primary government.

Financial Highlights 

The City’s assets exceeded its liabilities at the close of the fi scal year by $2,966,088,000 (net assets).  Of this amount, • 

$443,402,000 (unrestricted net assets) may be used to meet the City’s ongoing obligations.

The City’s total net assets increased by $22,929,000.• 

As of close of the current fi scal year, the City’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of $714,172,000, • 

an increase of $63,686,000 from the prior year.  Approximately 71.3% of the fund balance (unreserved fund balance) is 

available for spending at the government’s discretion.

At the end of the current fi scal year, unreserved/undesignated fund balance of the General Fund was $149,562,000 which • 

represents 16.7% of total General Fund expenditures, including transfers out.

The City’s total bonded debt increased by $14,955,000 during the year.  Increases occurred in general obligation bonds and • 

revenue bonds ended the year lower than in the previous year.

Overview of the Financial Statements 

This discussion and analysis is intended as an introduction to the City’s basic fi nancial statements.  The basic fi nancial statements 

comprise three components: 1) government-wide fi nancial statements, 2) fund fi nancial statements, and 3) notes to the 

basic fi nancial statements.  In addition to the basic fi nancial statements, also provided are required and other supplementary 

information.

Government-wide fi nancial statements

The government-wide fi nancial statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of the City’s fi nances, in a 

manner similar to a private-sector business.

The Statement of Net Assets presents information on all of the City’s assets and liabilities with the diff erence between the two 

reported as net assets.  Over time, increases or decreases in net assets may serve as a useful indicator of whether the fi nancial 

position of the City is improving or deteriorating.

The Statement of Activities reports how the City’s net assets changed during the most recent year.  All changes in net assets are 

reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash fl ows.  Thus, 

revenues and expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will only result in cash fl ows in future fi scal periods (e.g., 

uncollected taxes and earned but unused vacation and sick leave).

The governmental activities refl ect the City’s basic services, including police, fi re, public works, sanitation, economic development, 

and culture and recreation.  Sales and property taxes fi nance the majority of these services.

The business-type activities refl ect private sector-type operations, such as Wastewater Management; the Denver Airport System, 

including Denver International Airport (DIA); and Golf Courses, where fees for services typically cover all or most of the cost of 

operations, including depreciation.
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The government-wide fi nancial statements include not only the City itself (referred to as the primary government), but also other 

legally separate entities for which the City is fi nancially accountable.  Financial information for most of these component units is 

reported separately from the fi nancial information presented for the primary government itself.  A few component units, although 

legally separate, function essentially as an agency of the City and, therefore are included as an integral part of the City.

Fund fi nancial statements

A fund is a grouping of related accounts used to maintain control over resources that have been segregated for specifi c activities 

or objectives.  The City uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with fi nance-related legal requirements.  All 

of the funds of the City can be divided into three categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fi duciary funds.

Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental activities in the government-

wide fi nancial statements.  Governmental fund fi nancial statements focus on near term infl ows and outfl ows of spendable 

resources, as well as on the balances left at year-end that are available for spending.  Consequently, the governmental fund 

fi nancial statements provide a detailed short-term view that helps the reader determine whether there are more or fewer fi nancial 

resources that can be spent in the near future to fi nance the City’s programs.  Because this information does not encompass the 

long-term focus of the government-wide statements, additional information is provided that reconciles the governmental fund 

fi nancial statements to the government-wide statements explaining the relationship (or diff erences) between them.

The City maintains 22 individual governmental funds.  Information is presented separately in the governmental fund balance 

sheet and in the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances for the General Fund, 

Human Services special revenue fund, and Bond Projects capital projects fund, each of which are considered to be major funds.  

Data from the other 19 governmental funds are combined into a single aggregated presentation. Individual fund data for these 

nonmajor governmental funds is provided in the form of combining statements elsewhere in this report.

The City adopts an annual appropriated budget for the General Fund and Human Services special revenue fund.  A budgetary 

comparison schedule has been provided to demonstrate compliance with these budgets.

The City maintains two diff erent types of proprietary funds: enterprise funds and internal service funds.  Enterprise funds are used 

to report the same functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide fi nancial statements. The City uses 

enterprise funds to account for its Wastewater Management, Denver Airport System, Environmental Services, and Golf Course 

funds.  Internal Service funds are an accounting device used to accumulate and allocate costs internally among the City’s various 

functions.  The City uses internal service funds to account for its fl eet of vehicles, workers’ compensation self-insurance, paper 

and printing supplies inventory, and asphalt plant operations.  The internal service funds provide services which predominantly 

benefi t governmental rather than business-type functions.  They have been included within governmental activities with an 

adjustment to refl ect the consolidation for internal service fund activities related to the enterprise funds in the government-wide 

fi nancial statements.

Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as the government-wide fi nancial statements, only in more detail.  The 

proprietary fund fi nancial statements provide separate information for Wastewater Management and the Denver Airport System, 

both of which are considered to be major funds of the City. Data for the other two enterprise funds and all of the internal service 

funds are combined into their respective single aggregated presentations. Individual fund data for the nonmajor enterprise funds 

and all of the internal service funds is provided in the form of combining statements elsewhere in this report.

The City uses fi duciary funds to account for assets held on behalf of outside parties, including other governments.  When these 

assets are held under the terms of a formal trust agreement, a private-purpose trust fund is used.

Agency funds generally are used to account for assets that the City holds on behalf of others as their agent.  Pension trust funds 

account for the assets of the City’s employee retirement plans.
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Fiduciary funds are not refl ected in the government-wide fi nancial statements because the resources of those funds are not 

available to support the City’s own programs.  The accounting used for fi duciary funds is much like that used for proprietary funds.

The notes to the basic fi nancial statements provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data 

provided in the government-wide and fund fi nancial statements.

Other information in addition to the basic fi nancial statements and accompanying notes is presented in the form of certain 

required supplementary information concerning the City’s budgetary comparison schedules.

The combining statements supplementary information referred to earlier in connection with nonmajor funds, internal service 

funds, and non-major component units are presented immediately following the budgetary comparison required supplementary 

information.

Government-wide Financial Analysis 

As noted earlier, net assets may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s fi nancial position.  In the case of the City, 

assets exceeded liabilities by approximately $2,966,088,000 at the close of the most recent fi scal year.

A portion of the City’s net assets, $443,402,000 (15.0%), is unrestricted and may be used to meet the City’s ongoing fi nancial 

obligations. These are net assets that are not restricted by external requirements nor invested in capital assets.

Net assets of $1,501,153,000 (50.6%) refl ects investment in capital assets (e.g., land, buildings, infrastructure, machinery, and 

equipment) less any related debt used to acquire those assets that is still outstanding.  The City uses these capital assets to provide 

services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending.  Although the City’s investment in its capital 

assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from 

other sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities.

Net assets of the City also include $1,021,533,000 of restricted net assets.  These are assets representing resources subject to 

external restrictions as to how they may be used by the City.

Table 1 refl ects the City’s net assets (dollars in thousands) as of December 31, 2008 and 2007:

At December 31, 2008, the City reported positive balances in all three categories of net assets for both the government as a whole 

and the separate governmental and business-type activities.

Table 1

Governmental Business-type Total
Activities Activities Primary Government

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
Current and other assets 1,173,743$       1,034,379$       1,636,176$       1,694,321$        2,809,919$       2,728,700$       
Capital assets 2,362,767          2,206,531          3,907,628          3,960,366          6,270,395          6,166,897          
Total assets 3,536,510       3,240,910       5,543,804       5,654,687        9,080,314       8,895,597       

Long-term debt outstanding 1,528,673          1,338,974          3,973,246          4,058,210          5,501,919          5,397,184          
Other liabilities 406,556             342,234             205,751             213,020             612,307             555,254             
Total liabilities 1,935,229       1,681,208       4,178,997       4,271,230        6,114,226       5,952,438       

Net assets
Invested in capital assets, net 
  of related debt 1,238,768          1,170,496          262,385             317,488             1,501,153          1,487,984          
Restricted 340,270             274,159             681,263             678,687             1,021,533          952,846             
Unrestricted 22,243               115,047             421,159             387,282             443,402             502,329             
Total net assets 1,601,281$    1,559,702$    1,364,807$    1,383,457$     2,966,088$    2,943,159$    
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Table 2 refl ects the City’s Changes in Net Assets (dollars in thousands) for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007:

Governmental activities increased the City’s net assets by $41,579,000 for the year ended December 31, 2008.  Key elements of the 

increase are as follows:

Property tax and sales and use taxes totaled 84.5% of all tax revenues and 50.3% of all governmental activities’ revenues.  • 

Property tax recorded in the General Fund, special revenue funds and debt service funds totaled $274,809,000 for an increase 

of $47,621,000 (21%).  Sales and use tax revenues of $468,137,000 were up $12,701,000 (2.8%) compared to 2007, refl ecting a 

slightly growing economy in 2008.

The City received $36,280,000 more in operating grants and contributions in 2008 compared to 2007.• 

Table 2

Governmental Business-type Total
Activities Activities Primary Government

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
Revenues
  Program revenues:
    Charges for services 261,464$          237,606$          633,286$          622,674$          894,750$          860,280$          
    Operating grants and contributions 247,860            211,580            106,173            97,515               354,033            309,095            
    Capital grants and contributions 16,819               26,016               22,082               12,332               38,901               38,348               
  General revenues:
    Property tax 274,809            227,188            -                          -                           274,809            227,188            
    Sales and use tax 468,137            455,436            -                          -                           468,137            455,436            
    Facilities development admission tax 10,016               10,092               -                          -                           10,016               10,092               
    Lodgers tax 53,773               49,651               -                          -                           53,773               49,651               
    Motor vehicle ownership tax 19,514               16,963               -                          -                           19,514               16,963               
    Occupational privilege tax 43,040               42,751               -                          -                           43,040               42,751               
    Specific ownership tax 54                       1,434                 -                          -                           54                       1,434                 
    Telephone tax 9,814                 9,918                 -                          -                           9,814                 9,918                 
    Special Assessments 1,394                 -                          -                          -                           1,394                 -                          
    Investment income 34,340               39,990               90,279               87,885               124,619            127,875            
    Convention Center revenue 15,321               13,930               -                          -                           15,321               13,930               
    Other revenues 21,442               26,379               6                         33                        21,448               26,412               
Total revenues 1,477,797      1,368,934      851,826          820,439           2,329,623      2,189,373      

Expenses
  General government 257,780            262,209            -                          -                           257,780            262,209            
  Public safety 536,382            475,728            -                          -                           536,382            475,728            
  Public works 134,698            79,496               -                          -                           134,698            79,496               
  Human services 139,895            132,535            -                          -                           139,895            132,535            
  Health 52,332               45,345               -                          -                           52,332               45,345               
  Parks and recreation 105,232            63,778               -                          -                           105,232            63,778               
  Cultural activities 62,499               89,967               -                          -                           62,499               89,967               
  Community development 39,945               47,098               -                          -                           39,945               47,098               
  Economic opportunity 31,647               26,280               -                          -                           31,647               26,280               
  Interest on long-term debt 76,073               54,592               -                          -                           76,073               54,592               
  Wastewater management -                          -                          75,122               76,298               75,122               76,298               
  Denver airport system -                          -                          780,501            679,022             780,501            679,022            
  Other enterprise funds -                          -                          14,588               18,889               14,588               18,889               
Total expenses 1,436,483      1,277,028      870,211          774,209           2,306,694      2,051,237      

Change in net assets
  before transfers 41,314               91,906               (18,385)             46,230               22,929               138,136            
Transfers 265                    2,261                 (265)                   (2,261)                 -                          -                          
Change in net assets 41,579             94,167             (18,650)           43,969              22,929             138,136          

Net assets - January 1 1,559,702         1,465,535         1,383,457         1,339,488         2,943,159         2,805,023         
Net assets - December 31 1,601,281$    1,559,702$    1,364,807$    1,383,457$    2,966,088$    2,943,159$    
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General government expenses in 2008 were $257,780,000 (17.9%) of total expenses.  Public safety expenses were • 

$536,382,000 (37.3%) of total expenses. Public works’ expenses were $134,698,000 (9.4%) of total expenses.

Human services’ expenses were $139,895,000 (9.7%) of total expenses.  The remainder of the governmental activities • 

expenses is comprised of health with $52,332,000 (3.6%), parks and recreation with $105,232,000 (7.3%), cultural activities 

with $62,499,000 (4.4%), community development with $39,945,000 (2.8%), economic opportunity with $31,647,000 (2.2%), 

and interest on long-term debt of $76,073,000 (5.3%).

Chart 1
Expenses and Program Revenues - Governmental Activities
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Business-type activities decreased the City’s net assets by $18,650,000. Key elements of this decrease are as follows:

Total revenues of $851,826,000 were $31,387,000 (3.8%) higher compared to prior year amounts primarily due to increases in • 

charges for services, operating grants and contributions, and capital grants and contributions in the Denver Airport System 

fund.

Total expenses of $870,211,000 increased by $96,002,000 (12.4%) when compared to the prior year, mostly due to higher • 

expenses in the Denver Airport System fund of $101,479,000 during 2008.  Wastewater Management expenses in 2008 

totaled $75,122,000 (8.6%) of total business-type activities.  Denver Airport System expenses totaled $780,501,000 (89.7%) 

of business-type activities.  The remaining $14,588,000 (1.7%) of expenses in business-type activities were related to 

Environmental Services and Golf activities.

Chart 3
Expenses and Program Revenues - Business-Type Activities
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Financial Analysis of the Government’s Funds 

As noted earlier, the City uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with fi nance-related legal requirements.

Governmental funds

The focus of the City’s governmental funds is to provide information on current year revenues, expenditures, and balances of 

spendable resources.  Such information is useful in assessing the City’s fi nancing requirements. In particular, unreserved fund 

balance may serve as a useful measure of a government’s net resources available for spending at the end of the fi scal year.

As of December 31, 2008, the City’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of $714,172,000, an increase of 

$63,686,000 in comparison with the prior year.  Approximately 71.3% ($508,932,000) of the total fund balance amount constitutes 

unreserved fund balance, which is available for spending at the City’s discretion.  The remainder of fund balance is reserved to 

indicate that it is not available for new spending because it has already been committed 1) to pay debt service ($83,302,000), 2) for 

emergency use ($32,033,000), 3) for notes receivable ($83,199,000), and 4) for a variety of other purposes ($6,706,000).

The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the City.  As of December 31, 2008, unreserved/undesignated fund balance of the 

General Fund was $149,562,000 while total fund balance was $171,449,000.  As a measure of the General Fund’s liquidity, it may 

be useful to compare both unreserved fund balance and total fund balance to total fund expenditures. Unreserved/undesignated 

fund balance represents 16.7% of total General Fund expenditures including transfers out, while total fund balance represents 

19.2% of the same amount.

The total fund balance of the City’s General Fund decreased by $24,142,000 (12.3%) during the year ended December 31, 2008.  

The key factor in this decrease is total expenditures, including transfers out, were higher than revenues, including transfers in, by 

$33,926,000.

Certain revenues in the General Fund that increased from 2007 to 2008 include:

Sales and use taxes earned were higher by $12,751,000.  The increase in sales and use tax refl ects slight growth in economy-• 

driven tax collections for 2008.

The motor vehicle ownership and registration tax collections were higher by $2,551,000 principally due to a change in the • 

allocation of the tax.  In 2008, portions of the tax were no longer diverted to the old-hire police and fi re pension plans, as 

those unfunded liabilities had been paid down as anticipated.

Occupational Privilege tax revenues increased by $21,664,000 largely due to a change in the allocation of the tax.  In 2008, • 

all of the Occupational Privilege tax collected was deposited into the General Fund in exchange for sending an equivalent 

amount of Property Tax to the Capital Improvements Fund.

Charges for services increased $29,641,000 due primarily to reclassifying some revenue as charges for services as opposed to • 

reimbursement for expenditures. 

Fines and forfeitures increased by $4,163,000 primarily due to increases in the parking fi ne schedule and growth in traffi  c • 

court fi nes.

Lodgers tax revenue increased by $1,143,000 primarily due to the increased tourism due to the Democratic National • 

Convention.

Signifi cant revenues in the General Fund that decreased from 2007 to 2008 include:

Property tax revenues decreased by $16,529,000 largely due to a change in the allocation of the tax.  In 2008, all of the • 

Occupational Privilege tax collected was deposited into the General Fund in exchange for sending an equivalent amount of 

Property Tax to the Capital Improvements Fund.

Investment and interest income decreased by $7,025,000 due to the declining economy and resulting lower interest rates.• 
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The Denver economy grew slowly in early 2008, though it had begun to decline by the end of 2008.  The City saw increases in 

tourism and convention travel due to the Democratic National Convention held in August 2008.  Other areas of change in the 

General Fund included:

Public safety expenditures increased by $24,249,000, primarily as a result of collective bargaining increases averaging four • 

percent for uniformed offi  cers and increases in jail medical costs.

The Human Services special revenue fund had a total fund balance of $8,426,000, of which $2,043,000 is reserved for long-term 

debt and the Human Services share of the TABOR reserve.  The net decrease in fund balance of $12,567,000 during the current 

year in the Human Services special revenue fund was mainly due to an increase of $9,562,000 in Human Services operating 

expenditures.  This increase in expenditures was partially off set by an increase of $3,679,000 in property tax revenues related to 

Human Services.

An increase in fund balance in the Bond Projects fund of $62,076,000 primarily refl ects the issuance of debt net of related costs of 

$240,556,000.  This was off set by $8,941,000 in increased expenditures by Public Works, $14,432,000 in higher interest expense, 

and $114,208,000 in increased capital outlay.

Proprietary funds

The City’s proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in the government-wide fi nancial statements, but in 

more detail.

Total net assets of Wastewater Management were $491,560,000 and those for the Denver Airport System were $842,300,000. Net 

assets for all enterprise funds decreased $18,672,000. Other signifi cant factors concerning the fi nances of the enterprise funds can 

be found in the discussion of the City’s business-type activities.

General Fund Budgetary Highlights 

Diff erences between the General Fund original budget and the fi nal amended budget include a revision to both the projected 

revenues and expenditures.

Original revenue estimates for 2008 were based on moderate growth in the economy.  The projection was for modest sales and 

use tax growth of 5.1% above 2007 amounts and an overall growth rate in the General Fund of 3.2%.  The revenue forecast was 

revised upward slightly by a total amount of $6,955,000 (0.8%) during 2008.  The major revisions by individual revenue type are 

listed below.

Major upward revisions in the revenue estimates include:

2008 sales and use tax estimates were revised up by $3,954,000 or 0.9%.  At the time, collections were on target with what • 

was originally budgeted, though we were anticipating some additional audit collections. 

Property tax collections were revised up by $1,212,000 (1.9%).• 

An increase in the estimate of fi nes and forfeitures revenues by $1,260,000 (3.1%), mainly due to increases in volume of traffi  c • 

court fi nes.

An increase in the transfer of excise tax related to the Convention Center of $5,245,000 (29.5%) due to the refi nancing of the • 

debt in 2007 after the original 2008 budget was completed.
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Major reductions to the 2008 revenue estimates include a decrease for licenses and permits revenue of $4,786,000 (19.3%) due to 

a decline in construction activity towards the end of 2008.

In 2008, the original projection anticipated a use of fund balance of $3,625,000, after assuming that approximately $14,500,000 of 

appropriations would be unspent at the end of the year.  In the fi nal budget, transfers out increased due to the policy decision to 

transfer $20,400,000 in designated fund balance for the TABOR emergency reserve to a special revenue fund, which was recorded 

in the General Fund as a transfer expenditure.

Diff erences between the fi nal amended budget and actual revenues and expenditures are briefl y summarized in the following 

paragraphs.  The national and local economies had signifi cantly worsened in the last few months of 2008 and by October, 2008, 

revenue forecasts were adjusted again, this time downward from the revised forecast of the summer.

General Fund revenues, including transfers in, were approximately $5,050,000 lower than the revised budget of the summer, 

primarily due to the impacts of the recession on certain revenue sources.  The one major variance was revenue from sales and 

use tax collections, which was below the revised forecast by $9,346,000 (2.1%). This decrease was partially off set by various other 

revenues sources being over the revised budget, most notably use charges, which was over budget by $1,327,000 (7.9%) due to 

higher than anticipated parking related revenue.

General Fund budget basis expenditures including transfers out were approximately $12,000,000 less than the fi nal budget.  This 

is due to achieving the expected unspent appropriation, due in large part of savings measures put in place when the economy 

downturned in the fall, including a hiring freeze on non-critical positions.

Capital Assets and Bonded Debt Administration 

Capital Assets

The City’s capital assets for its governmental and business-type activities as of December 31, 2008, were $6,270,395,000 (net of 

accumulated depreciation).  This investment in capital assets includes land, buildings and improvements, equipment and other, 

park facilities, and, for governmental activities, infrastructure (including streets, alleys, traffi  c signals and signs, and bridges).  

Infrastructure-type assets of business-type activities are reported as buildings and improvements.  The City’s capital assets by 

activity at December 31, 2008 and 2007, are shown in Table 3 (dollars in thousands):

Table 3

Governmental Business-type Total
Activities Activities Primary Government

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
Land and construction in progress 490,258$          348,010$          380,161$          561,324$          870,419$             909,334$             
Buildings and Improvements 1,567,482         1,533,493         4,796,888         4,574,411         6,364,370            6,107,904            
Equipment and other 258,172            241,380            701,945            620,376            960,117               861,756               
Collections 74,556               75,094               -                          -                          74,556                 75,094                 
Infrastructure 1,055,027         1,007,409         -                          -                          1,055,027            1,007,409            
Less accumulated depreciation (1,082,728)       (998,855)           (1,971,366)       (1,795,745)       (3,054,094)          (2,794,600)          
Total 2,362,767$    2,206,531$    3,907,628$    3,960,366$    6,270,395$       6,166,897$       
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Major capital asset activity for the year ended December 31, 2008 included the following:

Governmental Activities:

Construction in progress on the Justice Center in the amount of $151,152,000• 

Business-type Activities:

Additions to the Wastewater Storm Collection system of $63,600,000• 

Additions to the Wastewater Sanitary Collection system of $20,700,000• 

Additions to Denver Airport Systems Building and Improvements of approximately $130,000,000• 

Additions to Denver Airport Systems Equipment of approximately $34,400,000• 

Additional information on the City’s capital asset activity for the year can be found in Note III-D in the notes to basic fi nancial 

statements.

Bonded Debt

At December 31, 2008, the City had total bonded indebtedness of $4,972,744,000.  Of this amount, $551,679,000 comprises debt 

backed by the full faith and credit of the City.  The remainder of the City’s debt, $4,421,065,000, represents bonds and commercial 

notes secured by specifi ed revenue sources (i.e., revenue bonds of the Denver Airport System, Wastewater Management, and 

excise tax revenues bonds).  

The City’s general obligation debt is rated AAA by Standard & Poor’s rating agency, AA+ by Fitch rating agency and Aa1 by 

Moody’s Investors Service.

In February 2008, the City issued $174,135,000 of Series 2008, General Obligation Bonds, and supplemental “B” interest registered 

coupons for the purpose of fi nancing a portion of the City’s new Justice System Facilities..

The Airport System’s senior lien debt is currently rated by Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s, and Fitch at A+, A1 and A+, respectively, 

with stable outlooks as of December 2008.

During 2008, the Denver Airport System had the following bond and commercial paper activity:

On November 2, 2008 the Airport issued $92,600,000 and $200,000,000 of Airport System Revenue bonds Series 2008C1 and • 

2008C2-C3 in a variable rate mode for the purpose of refunding the 2000C and 2000B bonds.

The Airport system entered into a $15.3 million Master Installment Purchase agreement with Chase Equipment Leasing Inc. • 

on August 5, 2008, to fi nance capital equipment purchases, primarily snow removal equipment, based on a ten year life.

On June 24, 2008, the Airport issued $81,800,000 of Airport System Revenue Bonds Series 2008B in a variable rate mode for • 

the purpose of refunding Series 2005C1-C2 which were trading at above market rate because of distressed bond insurance.

The Airport drew $50 million on March 28, 2008 and $50 million on April 1, 2008 of Commercial Paper to currently refund • 

the Series 2001C-C2 Auction rate securities (“ARS”).  On April 14, 2008 the Airport issued $221,215,000, $111,000,000, 

$181,965,000 and $94,660,000 2008A1-A4 bonds in a fi xed rate and term rate mode for purposes of current refunding 

$100,000,000 of the Series 2001C3-C4, $267,625,000 of the 2002A1-A3, $85,275,000 of the 2005B1-B2 Airport Revenue bonds 

that were variable rate bonds currently in an auction rate mode and to current refund $144,000,000 of the 2004A-B variable 

rate bonds.  The Series 2001C1-C4 Airport Revenue Bonds which were Auction Rate Securities and associated with 1999, 

2002, and 2007A swap agreements, were refunded on March 28, 2008, April 1, 2008 and April 14, 2008, with Commercial 

Paper and a portion of the Series 2008A1-A4 variable bonds which will bear interest initially in a term mode.  The refunding 

transactions were necessitated by the deterioration of the credit rating of certain bond insurers.
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Outstanding debt by activity at December 31, 2008, and 2007, is refl ected in Table 4 (dollars in thousands):

Additional information on the City’s bonded debt for the year can be found in Note III-G in the notes to the basic fi nancial 

statements.

Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budget 

The original 2009 budget assumed moderate growth in the local economy.  By the last quarter of 2008, the economy had entered 

into a recession, necessitating a revision to 2009 projections for both revenues and expenditures.  Currently, 2009 General 

Fund revenues are projected to be $851,000,000, which is $45,300,000 lower than the original budget (-5.0%) and a decrease of 

$15,000,000 from actual 2008 revenues.  Measures have been put in place to reduce 2009 expenditures.  Key points of the 2009 

General Fund savings plan are as follows:

Sales and use tax revenue is projected to decrease $24,900,000 (-5.8%) from 2008.  This fi gure refl ects expectations that the • 

economy will decline through mid-2009 and level off  by the end of the year.

The General Fund portion of the 2009 lodgers tax has been revised down by $2,569,000 (-16.8%) from the original budget. • 

Tourism, the major driver of Lodgers Tax, is expected to decline signifi cantly in 2009.

Fee-generated revenue is being revised down by $3,135,000 (-5.3%), primarily due to the continued decline of construction • 

activity in the City.  

Total 2009 General Fund expenditures were originally budgeted at $914,070,000, which was an increase of 5% over 2008.  • 

Expenditures have now been revised down to $878,000,000, a decrease of $35,900,000 from the original 2009 budget.

$30 million in operational savings has been identifi ed for 2009, primarily through holding vacant positions open, delaying • 

equipment replacement, and cutting back on supplies and services.

$15 million in savings is being achieved by salary concession from uniformed offi  cers, freezing merit pay for Career Service • 

employees at 2.25%, and by suspending the 2009 bonus program.

It is anticipated that unreserved-undesignated fund balance will decrease to approximately $122,000,000 during 2009, which 

equates to approximately 13.9% of expenditures.  This is appropriate during an economic downturn according to our fi nancial 

policies.

Requests for Information 

This fi nancial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City’s fi nances for all those with an interest in the 

government’s fi nances.  Questions concerning the information provided in this report or requests for additional fi nancial 

information should be addressed to the Controller’s Offi  ce, 201 West Colfax Avenue, Dept. 1109, Denver, CO 80202.  The report is 

available online at www.denvergov.org/controller.

Table 4

Governmental Business-type Total
Activities Activities Primary Government

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
General obligation bonds 551,679$          422,924$          -$                        -$                        551,679$             422,924$             
Revenue bonds 290,930            304,105            4,130,135         4,230,760         4,421,065            4,534,865            
Total 842,609$        727,029$        4,130,135$    4,230,760$    4,972,744$       4,957,789$       
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Statement of Net Assets
December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands)

Governmental Business-type Component
Activities Activities Total Units

Assets
Cash on hand 4,942$                     -$                              4,942$                     49$                           
Cash and cash equivalents 543,499                   127,272                   670,771                   73,146                     
Investments -                                 350,526                   350,526                   178,720                   
Receivables (net of allowances):

Taxes 329,390                   -                                 329,390                   56,567                     
Special assessments -                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 
Notes 83,199                     -                                 83,199                     -                                 
Accounts 22,286                     66,143                     88,429                     30,572                     
Accrued interest 2,705                        6,278                        8,983                        72                             
Other -                                 -                                 -                                 17,821                     

Due from other governments 43,194                     -                                 43,194                     -                                 
Internal balances 22,033                     (22,033)                    -                                 -                                 
Inventories 2,659                        10,182                     12,841                     7,010                        
Prepaid items and other assets 963                           923                           1,886                        11,363                     

Restricted assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 74,396                     219,628                   294,024                   83,299                     
Investments -                                 784,676                   784,676                   85,259                     
Accrued interest -                                 2,156                        2,156                        -                                 
Other receivables -                                 18,467                     18,467                     -                                 
Prepaid items -                                 4,224                        4,224                        -                                 
Net assets held by third party -                                 -                                 -                                 163,979                   

Capital assets:  
Land and construction in progress 490,258                   380,161                   870,419                   301,454                   
Buildings, improvements, infrastructure, collections, 1,872,509               3,527,467               5,399,976               1,679,881               

and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation  

Long-term receivables (net of allowances) 34,607                     2,000                        36,607                     34,384                     
Bond issue cost and other assets (net of 4,127                        52,661                     56,788                     20,568                     

accumulated amortization)   
Assets held for disposition 5,743                        13,073                     18,816                     -                                 
Total Assets 3,536,510              5,543,804              9,080,314              2,744,144              

Liabilities
Vouchers payable 73,514                     37,785                     111,299                   24,905                     
Accrued liabilities 41,499                     44,600                     86,099                     31,555                     
Unearned revenue 287,107                   37,343                     324,450                   55,913                     
Advances 3,837                        1,847                        5,684                        1,984                        
Due to taxing unit 599                           -                                 599                           -                                 
Due to other governments -                                 -                                 -                                 2,891                        
Liabilities payable from restricted assets -                                 84,176                     84,176                     -                                 
Noncurrent liabilities:

Due within one year 132,226                   119,683                   251,909                   49,849                     
Due in more than one year 1,396,447               3,853,563               5,250,010               1,102,945               

Total Liabilities 1,935,229              4,178,997              6,114,226              1,270,042              

Net Assets
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 1,238,768               262,385                   1,501,153               1,236,455               
Restricted for:

Capital projects 203,718                   23,645                     227,363                   85,178                     
Emergency use 32,033                     -                                 32,033                     255                           
Debt service 83,187                     657,618                   740,805                   83,310                     
Donor restrictions:  

Expendable 10,675                     -                                 10,675                     87,633                     
Nonexpendable 3,936                        -                                 3,936                        102,240                   

Other purposes 6,721                        -                                 6,721                        -                                 
Unrestricted (deficit) 22,243                     421,159                   443,402                   (120,969)                  
Total Net Assets 1,601,281$           1,364,807$           2,966,088$           1,474,102$           

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.

Primary Government



26 City and County of Denver 

Operating Capital
Charges for Grants and Grants and

Expenses Services Contributions Contributions

Primary Government
Governmental Activities:

General government 257,780$                  76,106$                     19,356$                     28$                             
Public safety 536,382                     67,396                       69,663                       -                                   
Public works 134,698                     50,812                       29,902                       8,822                          
Human services 139,895                     2,730                          82,004                       -                                   
Health 52,332                       1,360                          9,927                          -                                   
Parks and recreation 105,232                     5,931                          980                             7,769                          
Cultural activities 62,499                       19,803                       4,217                          200                             
Community development 39,945                       19,288                       19,282                       -                                   
Economic opportunity 31,647                       18,038                       12,529                       -                                   
Interest on long-term debt 76,073                       -                                   -                                   -                                   

Total Governmental Activities 1,436,483                261,464                    247,860                    16,819                       

Business-type Activities:
Wastewater management 75,122                       76,590                       -                                   7,690                          
Denver airport system 780,501                     540,760                     106,173                     14,392                       
Environmental services 6,336                          7,537                          -                                   -                                   
Golf course 8,252                          8,399                          -                                   -                                   

Total Business-type Activities 870,211                    633,286                    106,173                    22,082                       
Total Primary Government 2,306,694$              894,750$                  354,033$                  38,901$                    

Component Units 463,668$                  327,080$                  71,877$                    -$                                  

       General revenues:
         Taxes:
             Facilities development admissions
             Lodgers
             Motor vehicle ownership fee
             Occupational privilege
             Property
             Sales and use
             Specific ownership
             Telephone
          Special assessments
          Investment and interest income
          Convention center revenue
          Other revenues
       Transfers
       Total General Revenues and Transfers
       Change in net assets
       Net assets - January 1, as previously reported
       Restatement for change in reporting entity
       Net assets - January 1, as restated
       Net assets - December 31

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.

Functions/Programs

For the Year Ended December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands)
Statement of Activities

Program Revenues
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Governmental Business-type Component
Activities Activities Total Units

(162,290)$                 -$                                (162,290)$                 -$                                
(399,323)                    -                                   (399,323)                    -                                   

(45,162)                      -                                   (45,162)                      -                                   
(55,161)                      -                                   (55,161)                      -                                   
(41,045)                      -                                   (41,045)                      -                                   
(90,552)                      -                                   (90,552)                      -                                   
(38,279)                      -                                   (38,279)                      -                                   

(1,375)                        -                                   (1,375)                        -                                   
(1,080)                        -                                   (1,080)                        -                                   

(76,073)                      -                                   (76,073)                      -                                   
(910,340)                   -                                    (910,340)                   -                                    

-                                   9,158                          9,158                          -                                   
-                                   (119,176)                    (119,176)                    -                                   
-                                   1,201                          1,201                          -                                   
-                                   147                             147                             -                                   
-                                    (108,670)                   (108,670)                   -                                    

(910,340)                   (108,670)                   (1,019,010)               

(64,711)                      

10,016                       -                                   10,016                       -                                   
53,773                       -                                   53,773                       14,844                       
19,514                       -                                   19,514                       -                                   
43,040                       -                                   43,040                       -                                   

274,809                     -                                   274,809                     56,900                       
468,137                     -                                   468,137                     41,839                       

54                               -                                   54                               236                             
9,814                          -                                   9,814                          -                                   
1,394                          -                                   1,394                          -                                   

34,340                       90,279                       124,619                     (21,612)                      
15,321                       -                                   15,321                       -                                   
21,442                       6                                  21,448                       26,407                       

265                             (265)                            -                                   -                                   
951,919                    90,020                       1,041,939                118,614                    

41,579                       (18,650)                      22,929                       53,903                       
1,559,702                  1,383,457                  2,943,159                  1,411,086                  

-                                   -                                   -                                   9,113                          
1,559,702                  1,383,457                  2,943,159                  1,420,199                  

1,601,281$              1,364,807$              2,966,088$              1,474,102$              

Primary Government
Changes in Net Assets

Net (Expense) Revenue and
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Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds
December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands)

Other Total
 Human Bond Governmental Governmental

General Services Projects Funds Funds

Assets
Cash on hand 30$                      325$                    -$                          4,587$                 4,942$                 
Cash and cash equivalents 94,089                 2,905                   216,562              201,539              515,095              
Receivables (net of allowances of $72,677)

Taxes 117,668              48,012                 -                            163,710              329,390              
Special assessments -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            
Notes 25                         -                            -                            83,174                 83,199                 
Accounts 13,737                 14,104                 -                            28,824                 56,665                 
Accrued interest 781                      -                            906                      924                      2,611                   

Interfund receivable 31,596                 36                         -                            2,695                   34,327                 
Due from other governments 215                      3,373                   -                            39,606                 43,194                 
Prepaid items and other assets 861                      -                            -                            102                      963                      
Restricted assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 21,001                 2,043                   -                            51,338                 74,382                 
Assets held for disposition -                            -                            -                            5,743                   5,743                   
Total Assets 280,003$          70,798$             217,468$          582,242$          1,150,511$      

Liabilities and Fund Balances
Liabilities:

Vouchers payable 10,672$              5,379$                 21,067$              35,125$              72,243$              
Accrued liabilities 19,160                 1,628                   1,025                   1,086                   22,899                 
Due to taxing units 30                         -                            -                            569                      599                      
Interfund payable 3,408                   6,449                   19                         4,632                   14,508                 
Deferred revenue 75,272                 48,583                 -                            198,386              322,241              
Advances -                            333                      -                            3,504                   3,837                   
Compenseted absences 12                         -                            -                            12                         

Total Liabilities 108,554             62,372                22,111                243,302             436,339             

Fund Balances:
Reserved for:

Notes receivable 25                         -                            -                            83,174                 83,199                 
Prepaid items and other assets 861                      -                            -                            102                      963                      
Assets held for disposition -                            -                            -                            5,743                   5,743                   
Emergency use -                            2,000                   -                            30,033                 32,033                 
Debt service:

Long-term debt 21,001                 43                         -                            42,523                 63,567                 
Interest -                            -                            -                            19,735                 19,735                 

Unreserved:
Designated for subsequent years'
expenditures, reported in:   

Capital projects funds -                            -                            195,357              57,629                 252,986              
Undesignated, reported in:

General Fund 149,562              -                            -                            -                            149,562              
Special revenue funds -                            6,383                   -                            90,756                 97,139                 
Capital projects funds -                            -                            -                            5,309                   5,309                   
Permanent fund -                            -                            -                            3,936                   3,936                   

Total Fund Balances 171,449             8,426                  195,357             338,940             714,172             

Total Liabilities and Fund Balances 280,003$          70,798$             217,468$          582,242$          1,150,511$      

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds 
to the Statement of Net Assets
December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands)

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net assets are different because: 
  

Total fund balance-governmental funds 714,172$        

Capital assets used in governmental activities, excluding internal service funds of $3,135 are 2,359,632       
not financial resources, and therefore, are not reported in the funds.

Accrued interest payable not included in the funds. (18,340)            

Other long-term assets are not available to pay for current-period expenditures and, 35,134             
therefore, are deferred in the funds.

Bond issue costs, net of accumulated amortization. 4,127               

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the cost of these funds to their 761                   
primary users-governmental funds. The assets and liabilities of the internal service
funds are included in governmental activities in the statement of net assets.

Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable, are not due and payable in the current (1,494,205)      
period and therefore are not reported in the governmental funds (this excludes
internal service liabilities of $34,468).

Net assets of governmental activities 1,601,281$   

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - 
Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands)

Other Total
 Human Bond Governmental Governmental

General Services Projects Funds Funds

Revenues
Taxes:

Facilities development admission -$                        -$                        -$                        10,016$            10,016$            
Lodgers 14,626               -                          -                          39,147               53,773               
Motor vehicle ownership fee 19,514               -                          -                          -                          19,514               
Occupational privilege 43,040               -                          -                          -                          43,040               
Property 62,703               46,176               -                          165,930            274,809            
Sales 430,928            -                          -                          37,209               468,137            
Specific ownership -                          -                          -                          54                       54                       
Telephone 3,104                 -                          -                          6,710                 9,814                 

Special assessments -                          -                          -                          1,394                 1,394                 
Licenses and permits 27,763               -                          -                          1,601                 29,364               
Intergovernmental revenues 32,107               80,388               -                          134,891            247,386            
Charges for services 137,160            2,655                 -                          49,679               189,494            
Investment and interest income 11,692               6                         10,850               11,792               34,340               
Fines and forfeitures 38,416               75                       -                          2,982                 41,473               
Contributions 11                       1,616                 -                          7,395                 9,022                 
Other revenue 8,652                 160                    47                       31,308               40,167               
Total Revenues 829,716           131,076           10,897              500,108           1,471,797       

Expenditures
Current:

General government 173,300            -                          -                          81,708               255,008            
Public safety 424,718            -                          -                          110,266            534,984            
Public works 81,710               -                          8,983                 34,975               125,668            
Human services -                          139,013            -                          -                          139,013            
Health 42,514               -                          -                          9,677                 52,191               
Parks and recreation 50,375               -                          302                    50,251               100,928            
Cultural activities 32,531               -                          67                       8,228                 40,826               
Community development 17,209               -                          -                          20,599               37,808               
Economic opportunity -                          -                          -                          31,486               31,486               

Debt service:
Principal retirement 378                    2,905                 -                          67,524               70,807               
Interest 4,047                 1,838                 14,432               62,281               82,598               
Bond issuance costs -                          -                          833                    -                          833                    

Capital outlay -                          -                          171,113            39,317               210,430            
Total Expenditures 826,782           143,756           195,730           516,312           1,682,580       

Excess (Deficiency) of revenues over expenditures 2,934                 (12,680)             (184,833)           (16,204)             (210,783)           

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Sale of capital assets -                          -                          -                          2,526                 2,526                 
General obligation bonds issued -                          -                          174,135            -                          174,135            
Capital leases -                          -                          -                          20,780               20,780               
Capital leases restructured 260,000            -                          -                          -                          260,000            
Payment to escrow (250,290)           -                          -                          -                          (250,290)           
Commercial paper issued -                          -                          38,000               -                          38,000               
Bond premium (discount) -                          -                          17,644               (237)                   17,407               
Proceeds from sale of registered coupons -                          -                          11,610               -                          11,610               
Insurance recoveries 74                       6                         -                          6                         86                       
Transfers in 30,731               150                    5,520                 75,189               111,590            
Transfers out (67,591)             (43)                     -                          (43,741)             (111,375)           
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (27,076)            113                     246,909           54,523              274,469           

Net change in fund balances (24,142)             (12,567)             62,076               38,319               63,686               
Fund balances - January 1 195,591            20,993               133,281            300,621            650,486            

Fund Balances - December 31 171,449$        8,426$              195,357$        338,940$        714,172$        

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in
Fund Balances - Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands)

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different because:
  

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds 63,686$           

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.  However, in the statement of
activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives and
reported as depreciation expense.  This is the amount by which capital outlay exceeded
depreciation expense in the current period:

Capital outlay, including sale of assets 262,073           
Depreciation expense (105,660)         

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial resources are not
reported as revenue in the funds:

Change in revenues in fund statements previously recognized in statement of activities 9,404               

The issuance of long-term debt and other obligations (e.g., bonds, certificates of participation, 
and capital leases) provides current financial resource to governmental funds, while the 
repayment of the principal of long-term debt consumes the current financial resources of 
governmental funds.  Neither transaction, however has any effect on change in net assets.
Also, governmental funds report the effect of issuance cost, premiums, discounts, and similar 
items when debt is first issued, whereas these amounts are deferred and amortized in the 
statement of activities. These differences in the treatment of long-term debt and related 
items consist of:

General obligation bonds issued (174,135)         
Certificates of participation executed and delivered (27,445)            
Commercial paper issued (38,000)            
Capital lease issued (3,045)              
Principal retirement on bonds 45,380             
Issuance costs, premium, discounts and deferred gain (loss) on refunding (11,206)            
Capital lease principal payments 25,427             

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of current financial
resources and, therefore, are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds:

Compensated absences (excluding internal service) (6,922)              
Accrued interest payable (4,419)              
Legal liability 1,520               
Note payable (494)                 
Line of credit payable (35)                    

Internal service funds are used by management to charge their cost to individual funds.  The net 5,450               
expense of certain activities of internal service funds is reported within governmental
activities.

Change in net assets of governmental activities 41,579$         

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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Statement of Net Assets - Proprietary Funds
December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands)

Wastewater Denver 
Management Airport System 

 
Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 13,795$                           94,817$                           
Investments 24,992                             155,233                           
Receivables (net of allowance for uncollectibles of $2,144):

Accounts 11,058                             53,900                             
Accrued interest 164                                   6,041                               

Inventories 10,054                             
Interfund receivable 128                                   281                                   
Prepaid items and other assets 301                                   622                                   
Restricted assets:

Cash and cash equivalents -                                        218,444                           
Investments -                                        142,453                           
Accrued interest receivable -                                        2,152                               
Other receivables -                                        18,051                             
Prepaid items -                                        4,224                               

Total Current Assets 50,438                              706,272                          

Noncurrent assets:
Investments - unrestricted -                                        170,301                           
Investments - restricted -                                        642,223                           

Capital assets:   
Land and construction in progress 30,479                             342,510                           
Buildings and improvements 14,207                             1,990,255                       
Improvements other than buildings 639,588                           2,130,486                       
Machinery and equipment 14,088                             683,471                           
Accumulated depreciation (209,613)                         (1,746,589)                      

Net capital assets 488,749                            3,400,133                       

Long-term receivables (net of allowances) -                                        2,000                               
Bond issue costs and other assets, net 274                                   52,205                             
Assets held for disposition -                                        13,073                             

Total Noncurrent Assets 489,023                          4,279,935                      

Total Assets 539,461                           4,986,207                      

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.

Business-type Activities
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Governmental 
 Activities 

Other  Total Internal
Enterprise Enterprise Service 

Funds Funds Funds 

18,660$                           127,272$                        28,404$                           
-                                        180,225                           -                                        

 
1,185                               66,143                             223                                   

73                                     6,278                               99                                     
128                                   10,182                             2,659                               

33                                     442                                   4,266                               
-                                        923                                   -                                        

1,184                               219,628                           14                                     
-                                        142,453                           -                                        
4                                       2,156                               -                                        

416                                   18,467                             -                                        
-                                        4,224                               -                                        

21,683                              778,393                           35,665                             

-                                        170,301                           -                                        
-                                        642,223                           -                                        

  
7,172                               380,161                           -                                        
9,129                               2,013,591                       4,107                               

13,223                             2,783,297                       82                                     
4,386                               701,945                           8,313                               

(15,164)                            (1,971,366)                      (9,367)                              
18,746                             3,907,628                       3,135                               

-                                        2,000                               -                                        
182                                   52,661                             -                                        

-                                        13,073                             -                                        
18,928                             4,787,886                      3,135                               

40,611                              5,566,279                       38,800                             

continued

Enterprise Funds



34 City and County of Denver 

Statement of Net Assets - Proprietary Funds, continued
December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands)

Wastewater Denver 
Management Airport System 

Liabilities
Current liabilities:

Vouchers payable 1,958$                             35,307$                           
Revenue bonds payable 1,235                               -                                        
Accrued liabilities 770                                   43,051                             
Interfund payable 3,187                               18,073                             
Capital lease obligations -                                        -                                        
Compensated absences 658                                   2,098                               
Deferred revenue 13,402                             -                                        
Claims reserve -                                        -                                        
Construction payable 1,847                               -                                        
Unearned revenue -                                        23,843                             

Current liabilities (payable from restricted assets):
Vouchers payable -                                        13,642                             
Retainages payable -                                        22,459                             
Notes payable -                                        14,368                             
Accrued interest and other liabilities -                                        24,241                             
Other accrued liabilities -                                        23,711                             
Revenue bonds payable -                                        100,785                           

Total Current Liabilities 23,057                             321,578                          

Noncurrent liabilities
Notes payable -                                        49,280                             
Revenue bonds payable, net 23,015                             3,703,810                       
Unamortized premium 68                                     63,519                             
Capital lease obligations -                                        -                                        
Compensated absences 1,761                               5,720                               
Claims reserve -                                        -                                        

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 24,844                             3,822,329                      

Total Liabilities 47,901                             4,143,907                      

Net Assets
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 462,857                           (213,290)                         
Restricted for:

Capital projects -                                        22,164                             
Debt service -                                        657,618                           

Unrestricted (deficit) 28,703                             375,808                           

Total Net Assets 491,560$                       842,300$                       

Adjustment to reflect consolidation of internal service fund activities
related to enterprise funds

Net assets of business-type activities

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.

Business-type Activities
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Governmental 
 Activities 

Other  Total Internal
Enterprise Enterprise Internal Service 

Funds Funds Funds 

520$                                37,785$                           1,271$                             
385                                   1,620                               -                                        
779                                   44,600                             248                                   

1,607                               22,867                             1,660                               
-                                        -                                        74                                     

154                                   2,910                               243                                   
98                                     13,500                             -                                        

-                                        11,371                             
-                                        1,847                               -                                        
-                                        23,843                             -                                        

123                                   13,765                             -                                        
-                                        22,459                             -                                        
-                                        14,368                             -                                        
-                                        24,241                             -                                        
-                                        23,711                             -                                        
-                                        100,785                           -                                        

3,666                               348,301                          14,867                             

-                                        49,280                             -                                        
5,725                               3,732,550                       -                                        

50                                     63,637                             -                                        
-                                        -                                        243                                   

615                                   8,096                               884                                   
-                                        -                                        21,653                             

6,390                               3,853,563                      22,780                             

10,056                             4,201,864                      37,647                             

12,818                             262,385                           2,819                               
  

1,481                               23,645                             -                                        
-                                        657,618                           -                                        

16,256                             420,767                           (1,666)                              

30,555$                          1,364,415                       1,153$                             

392                                   

1,364,807$                   

Enterprise Funds



36 City and County of Denver 

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Assets - Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands)

Wastewater Denver 
Management Airport System 

Operating Revenues  
Charges for services 76,590$                           526,829$                        
Other revenue -                                        13,931                             
Total Operating Revenues 76,590                             540,760                          

Operating Expenses
Personnel services 20,454                             114,288                           
Contractual services 14,515                             234,036                           
Supplies and materials 1,579                               25,505                             
Depreciation and amortization 12,603                             168,026                           
Metropolitan Wastewater Reclamation District 25,995                             -                                        
Claims payments -                                        -                                        
Change in claims reserve -                                        -                                        
Other operating expenses -                                        -                                        
Total Operating Expenses 75,146                             541,855                          

Operating income (loss) 1,444                               (1,095)                              

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)
Investment and interest income 1,966                               87,483                             
Passenger facility charges -                                        96,787                             
Disposition of assets 6                                       -                                        
Grants -                                        703                                   
Interest expense -                                        (238,643)                         
Other revenue -                                        8,683                               
Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) 1,972                               (44,987)                           

Income (loss) before contributions and transfers 3,416                               (46,082)                            

Capital grants and contributions 7,690                               14,392                             
Transfers in -                                        -                                        
Transfers out (15)                                    -                                        

Change in net assets 11,091                             (31,690)                            

Net assets (Deficit) - January 1 480,469                           873,990                           

Net Assets - December 31 491,560$                       842,300$                       

Change in net assets of enterprise funds
Adjustment to reflect consolidation of internal service fund activities
  related to enterprise funds
Change in net assets of business-type activities

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.

Business-type Activities
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Governmental 
Activities - 

Other Total Internal
Enterprise Enterprise Service 

Funds Funds Funds 

15,656$                           619,075$                        50,651$                           
280                                   14,211                             1,227                               

15,936                             633,286                          51,878                             

7,030                               141,772                           9,337                               
2,323                               250,874                           970                                   
1,131                               28,215                             21,495                             

682                                   181,311                           790                                   
-                                        25,995                             -                                        
-                                        -                                        8,863                               
-                                        -                                        528                                   

3,124                               3,124                               6,053                               
14,290                             631,291                          48,036                             

1,646                               1,995                               3,842                               

830                                   90,279                             1,134                               
-                                        96,787                             -                                        
-                                        6                                       -                                        
-                                        703                                   -                                        

(299)                                 (238,942)                         (24)                                    
-                                        8,683                               -                                        

531                                    (42,484)                           1,110                               

2,177                               (40,489)                            4,952                               

-                                        22,082                             -                                        
-                                        -                                        50                                     

(250)                                 (265)                                 -                                        

1,927                               (18,672)                            5,002                               

28,628                             1,383,087                       (3,849)                              

30,555$                          1,364,415$                   1,153$                             

(18,672)$                         

22                                     
(18,650)$                        

- Enterprise Funds



38 City and County of Denver 

Statement of Cash Flows - Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands)

 
Wastewater Denver 

  Management Airport System 

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Receipts from customers 76,685$                    555,823$                  
Payments to suppliers (37,562)                     (253,659)                   
Payments to employees (20,193)                     (111,298)                   
Other receipts (payments) -                                  -                                  
Interfund activity (6,603)                        (13,131)                     
Claims paid -                                  -                                  
Other payments -                                  -                                  
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 12,327                     177,735                  

Cash Flows From Noncapital Financing Activities
Transfers in -                                  -                                  
Transfers out (14)                              -                                  
Operating grants -                                  67                               
Net Cash Provided (Used) By Noncapital Financing Activities (14)                             67                              

Cash Flows From Capital and Related Financing Activities
Proceeds from capital debt -                                  16,833                       
Issuance of notes payable -                                  15,295                       
Bond issue costs -                                  (7,334)                        
Principal payments (1,180)                        (113,056)                   
Passenger facility charges -                                  99,898                       
Payments on capital assets acquired through construction payables (7,212)                        (36,720)                     
Acquisition and construction of capital assets (20,895)                     (55,484)                     
Sale of assets 5                                 218                             
Interest paid (1,250)                        (234,069)                   
Contributions and advances 1,932                         11,238                       
Payments to escrow for current refunding of debt -                                  (13,813)                     
Net Cash Provided (Used) by Capital and Related Financing Activities (28,600)                   (316,994)                 

Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Purchases of investments (22,222)                     (5,813,321)               
Proceeds from sale of investments 42,966                       5,743,315                 
Sale of assets held for disposition; payments to maintain assets held -                                  (25,126)                     
Insurance proceeds from Stapelton remediation -                                  20,490                       
Interest received 2,504                         62,176                       
Net Cash Provided (Used) by Investing Activities 23,248                     (12,466)                   

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 6,961                         (151,658)                   
Cash and cash equivalents - January 1 6,834                         464,919                    
Cash and Cash Equivalents - December 31 13,795$                  313,261$               

Reconciliation of Operating Income (Loss) to Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities
Operating income (loss) 1,444$                       (1,095)$                     
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 12,603                       168,026                    
Miscellaneous revenue -                                  3,114                         
Accounts receivable, net of allowance (305)                           13,716                       
Interfund receivable 663                             -                                  
Inventories -                                  (3,396)                        
Prepaid items and other assets 19                               (1,752)                        
Vouchers payable 561                             2,866                         
Unearned revenue (264)                           21                               
Accrued and other liabilities 96                               (3,597)                        
Interfund payable (2,490)                        (168)                           
Claims reserve -                                  -                                  

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 12,327$                  177,735$               

Noncash Activities

Assets acquired through capital contributions 5,757$                       -$                                
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments 268                             23,835                       
Capital assets acquired through accounts payable 1,847                         33,228                       
Amortization of bond premiums and deferred losses on bond refundings -                                  17,939                       

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.

Business-type Activities

The Airport system issued  bonds in the amount of $1,083,240,000 in order to refund debt and fund capital projects.  Net bond proceeds of $1,085,034,000 were deposited immediately 
into an irrevocable trust for the defeasance of outstanding revenue bond principal, payment of a redemption premium and accrued interest amounts.  Original issue premiums on bonds 
of $12,657,000 were realized on the issuance of bonds.
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Governmental 
Activities - 

Other Total Internal
Enterprise Enterprise Service 

Funds Funds Funds 

16,457$                    648,965$                  48,548$                    
(7,803)                        (299,024)                   (26,156)                     
(6,931)                        (138,422)                   (9,218)                        

-                                  -                                  541                             
-                                  (19,734)                     -                                  
-                                  -                                  (8,758)                        

(1,485)                        (1,485)                        -                                  
238                           190,300                  4,957                       

-                                  -                                  50                               
(250)                           (264)                           -                                  

-                                  67                               -                                  
(250)                          (197)                          50                              

-                                  16,833                       -                                  
-                                  15,295                       -                                  
-                                  (7,334)                        -                                  

(370)                           (114,606)                   (151)                           
-                                  99,898                       -                                  
-                                  (43,932)                     -                                  

(2,891)                        (79,270)                     (29)                              
-                                  223                             207                             

(299)                           (235,618)                   (24)                              
-                                  13,170                       -                                  
-                                  (13,813)                     -                                  

(3,560)                      (349,154)                 3                                 

-                                  (5,835,543)               -                                  
-                                  5,786,281                 -                                  
-                                  (25,126)                     -                                  
-                                  20,490                       -                                  

897                             65,577                       1,123                         
897                           11,679                     1,123                       

(2,675)                        (147,372)                   6,133                         
22,519                       494,272                    22,285                       

19,844$                  346,900$               28,418$                  

1,646$                       1,995$                       3,842$                       
 

682                             181,311                    790                             
-                                  3,114                         -                                  

468                             13,879                       285                             
-                                  663                             (1,073)                        
7                                 (3,389)                        (552)                           
-                                  (1,733)                        -                                  

(2,807)                        620                             377                             
53                               (190)                           -                                  
99                               (3,402)                        139                             
90                               (2,568)                        621                             

-                                  -                                  528                             
238$                         190,300$               4,957$                     

-$                                5,757$                       -$                                
-                                  24,103                       -                                  
-                                  35,075                       -                                  
9                                 17,948                       -                                  

Enterprise Funds



40 City and County of Denver 

Statement of Fiduciary Net Assets - Fiduciary Funds
December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands)

Pension, Health, and
 Other Employee Private-Purpose Agency 
Benefit Trust Funds Trust Funds Funds 

Assets
Cash on hand -$                                   862$                             3,614$                          
Cash and cash equivalents 42,991                          664                                16,403                          
Securities lending collateral 151,272                        -                                     -                                     
Receivables (net of allowance for uncollectibles of $6,222):

Taxes -                                     -                                     500,790                        
Accounts 2,159                            -                                     24                                  
Accrued interest 6,404                            -                                     1                                     

Investments, at fair value:
U.S. Government obligations 137,733                        -                                     -                                     
Domestic stocks and bonds 868,890                        -                                     -                                     
International stocks 213,640                        -                                     -                                     
Annuity 342,997                        -                                     -                                     
Mutual funds 32,841                          -                                     -                                     
Real estate 176,520                        -                                     -                                     
Other 94,338                          -                                     -                                     

Total investments 1,866,959                   -                                       -                                       

Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 1,006                            -                                     -                                     
Total Assets 2,070,791                   1,526                            520,832$                    

Liabilities
Vouchers payable 4,053                            347                                779                                
Securities lending obligation 157,381                        -                                     -                                     
Other accrued liabilities -                                     -                                     5,236                            
Due to taxing units -                                     862                                514,817                        
Total Liabilities 161,434                       1,209                            520,832$                    

Net Assets
Net assets held in trust for pension benefits 1,455,545                    -                                     
Net assets held in trust for OPEB benefits 69,776                          -                                     
Net assets held in trust for deferred compensation benefits 384,036                        -                                     
Net assets held in trust for other purposes -                                     317                                
Net assets held in trust for pension benefits

and other purposes 1,909,357$                317$                              

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Assets - Fiduciary Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands)

Pension, Health, and
Other Employee Private-Purpose 

Benefit Trust Funds Trust Funds
 

Additions
Contributions:

City and County of Denver 41,313$                    -$                               
Denver Health and Hospital Authority 7,304                        -                                 
Plan members 46,999                      -                                 

Total contributions 95,616                     -                                   

Investment earnings (loss):
Net appreciation (depreciation) in fair value of investments (599,568)                  -                                 
Interest and dividends (45,541)                     -                                 

Total investment earnings (loss) (645,109)                 -                                   

Less investment expense (9,100)                       -                                 
Net loss from investments (654,209)                 -                                   

Securities lending earnings 7,221                        -                                 
Securities lending expenses:

Borrower rebates (4,694)                       -                                 
Agent fees (633)                          -                                 

Net earnings from securities lending 1,894                        -                                   
Total net investment loss (652,315)                  -                                 

Other additions -                                 60                              
Total Additions (556,699)                 60                               

Deductions
Benefits 156,950                    -                                 
Refunds of contributions 517                            -                                 
Administrative expenses 2,992                        -                                 
Total Deductions 160,459                  -                                   

Change in net assets (717,158)                  60                              
Net assets-January 1 2,626,515                257                            

Net assets-December 31 1,909,357$           317$                         

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.



42 City and County of Denver 

Statement of Net Assets - Component Units
December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands)

Denver Denver  
Convention Urban Other 

Center Hotel Renewal Water Component  
Authority Authority Board Units Total  

Assets
Cash on hand -$                           -$                           49$                        -$                           49$                        
Cash and cash equivalents 3,124                    3,322                    31,205                  35,495                  73,146                  
Investments -                             1,708                    170,854               6,158                    178,720               
Receivables:

Taxes -                             49,012                  -                             7,555                    56,567                  
Accounts 2,052                    413                        23,446                  4,661                    30,572                  
Accrued interest -                             72                          -                             -                             72                          
Other -                             4,139                    -                             13,682                  17,821                  

Inventories -                             -                             6,253                    757                        7,010                    
Prepaid items and other assets 1,289                    6,846                    -                             3,228                    11,363                  

Restricted Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 58,170                  7,695                    -                             17,434                  83,299                  
Investments 22,303                  62,956                  -                             -                             85,259                  
Net assets held by third party -                             -                             -                             163,979               163,979               

Capital Assets:
Land and construction in progress 23,421                  -                             272,160               5,873                    301,454               
Buildings and improvements 229,302               -                             212,288               38,611                  480,201               
Improvements other than buildings -                             -                             1,575,950            -                             1,575,950            
Machinery and equipment 39,263                  -                             210,761               10,523                  260,547               
Accumulated depreciation (34,221)                -                             (566,158)              (36,438)                (636,817)              

Net Capital Assets 257,765               -                             1,705,001            18,569                  1,981,335            

Long-term receivables -                             -                             27,763                  6,621                    34,384                  
Other assets 11,403                  -                             8,957                    208                        20,568                  
Total Assets 356,106              136,163              1,973,528          278,347              2,744,144          

Liabilities
Vouchers payable 5,539                    -                             11,224                  8,142                    24,905                  
Accrued liabilities 7,440                    1,707                    13,319                  9,089                    31,555                  
Deferred revenue -                             45,220                  84                          10,609                  55,913                  
Advances 1,684                    300                        -                             -                             1,984                    
Due to other governments -                             2,891                    -                             -                             2,891                    
Noncurrent liabilities:

Due within one year 1,960                    11,921                  34,166                  1,802                    49,849                  
Due in more than one year 354,541               322,327               408,219               17,858                  1,102,945            

Total Liabilities 371,164              384,366              467,012              47,500                 1,270,042          

Net Assets
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt (100,209)              -                             1,319,268            17,396                  1,236,455            
Restricted for:  

Capital projects 52,154                  33,024                  -                             -                             85,178                  
Emergency use -                             -                             -                             255                        255                        
Debt service 36,831                  37,473                  9,005                    1                            83,310                  
Donor restrictions:  

Expendable -                             3,809                    -                             83,824                  87,633                  
Nonexpendable -                             -                             -                             102,240               102,240               

Unrestricted (Deficit) (3,834)                   (322,509)              178,243               27,131                  (120,969)              
Total Net Assets (Deficit) (15,058)$            (248,203)$          1,506,516$       230,847$           1,474,102$       

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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Statement of Activities - Component Units
For the Year Ended December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands)

Denver Denver  
Convention Urban Other

Center Hotel Renewal Water Component  
Authority Authority Board Units Total

Expenses 92,195$           65,815$            196,957$          108,701$          463,668$          

Program Revenues
Charges for services 83,377             1,616                216,262            25,825               327,080            
Operating grants and contributions -                        350                    39,991               31,536               71,877               
Total Program Revenues 83,377            1,966                256,253           57,361             398,957           

Net (expenses) revenues (8,818)              (63,849)             59,296               (51,340)             (64,711)             

General Revenues
Taxes:

Lodgers -                        1,100                -                          13,744               14,844               
Property -                        49,536              -                          7,364                 56,900               
Sales and use -                        17,700              -                          24,139               41,839               
Specific ownership -                        -                          -                          236                    236                    

Investment and interest income 2,209               2,777                9,141                 (35,739)             (21,612)             
Other revenues 11,114             2,145                3,426                 9,722                 26,407               
Net General Revenues 13,323            73,258             12,567             19,466             118,614           

Change in net assets 4,505               9,409                71,863               (31,874)             53,903               
Net Assets (deficit) - January 1, as previously reported (19,563)            (257,612)          1,434,653         253,608            1,411,086         
Restatement for change in reporting entity -                        -                          -                          9,113                 9,113                 
Net Assets (deficit) - January 1, as restated (19,563)            (257,612)          1,434,653         262,721            1,420,199         

Net Assets (Deficit) - December 31 (15,058)$       (248,203)$      1,506,516$    230,847$        1,474,102$    

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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46 City and County of Denver Notes to Basic Financial Statements

I. Summary of Signifi cant Accounting Policies 

The accompanying fi nancial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 

United States of America (USGAAP) applicable to governmental entities.  A summary of the City and County of Denver’s signifi cant 

accounting policies applied in the preparation of these fi nancial statements follows.

Note A – Reporting Entity

The City and County of Denver (City) was incorporated in 1861 and became a Colorado Home Rule City on March 29, 1904, under 

the provisions of Article XX of the Constitution of Colorado, as amended, when the people of the City ratifi ed a Charter providing 

for a Mayor-Council form of government.  The City is operated by authority of the powers granted by its Charter.  The City provides 

typical municipal services with the exception of education, public housing, and sewage treatment that are administered by other 

governmental entities.

As required by USGAAP, these fi nancial statements present the City (primary government) and its component units.  The 

component units discussed below are included in the City’s reporting entity because of the signifi cance of their operational or 

fi nancial relationships with the City in accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 14, 

The Financial Reporting Entity and GASB Statement No. 39, Determining Whether Certain Organizations Are Component Units, an 

amendment of GASB Statement No. 14.  Certain amounts reported in the individual component unit fi nancial statements have been 

reclassifi ed to conform to the City’s accounting policies.  Each component unit has a December 31 year-end, except for the Denver 

Art Museum, Inc., which has a September 30 year-end.

1. Blended Component Unit.

Gateway Village General Improvement District – The City created the District as a separate legal entity pursuant to state 

law.  The Districts’ board of directors consists of the members of the City Council.  The District is reported herein in the City’s 

debt service and capital project funds because it is operated by City management and provides services entirely to the City.

2.  Discretely Presented Component Units.

9th Avenue, Cherry Creek North, Cherry Creek Subarea, , Colfax, Downtown Denver, Old South Gaylord, and West 

Colfax Business Improvement Districts (BID) – Each BID is established by the City in accordance with state law for the 

purpose of maintaining public improvements and planning development activities within each BID’s geographic boundaries.  

The City approves annual operating budgets for the BIDs and appoints the governing board of each BID.  The 9th Avenue BID 

had no fi nancial activity in 2008 or net assets to report as of December 31, 2008.

Denver Art Museum, Inc.  (DAM) – DAM operates the Denver Art Museum for the City.  DAM is the Art Agency for the City.  

The City does not appoint a voting majority of the DAM’s board.  The City provides a material subsidy to the DAM, $2,054,000 

for the 2008 fi scal year, to be used for general operating expenses of the museum and DAM employees are subject to the rules 

of the City’s personnel system.  The nature and signifi cance of the relationship between the City and DAM is such that it would 

be misleading to exclude the DAM from the City’s fi nancial statements.

Denver Convention Center Hotel Authority (DCCHA) – The DCCHA was organized by the City as a nonprofi t corporation 

in accordance with state law for the purpose of owning, acquiring, constructing, equipping, operating and fi nancing a 

convention center hotel.  The Mayor appoints the board of the DCCHA subject to City Council confi rmation.  The City approves 

the budget of the DCCHA.  Any excess revenues of the DCCHA are distributed to the City annually.
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Denver Metro Convention and Visitor’s Bureau, Inc. (Bureau), d/b/a VISIT DENVER – The Bureau is a nonprofi t corporation 

organized to solicit, induce, and persuade sundry organizations to hold their conventions in the City and to encourage 

tourists and other persons to visit the City and state.  The Bureau is closely related to the City because the City makes a 

signifi cant annual appropriation to the Bureau and the Bureau must incorporate City comments and suggested changes to its 

annual budget.

Denver Museum of Nature and Science (DMNS) – The DMNS serves as the Natural History Agency of the City.  DMNS 

operates and manages the Museum of Nature and Science at Denver City Park.  The City makes an annual appropriation 

to DMNS, $1,401,000 for the 2008 fi scal year, as compensation for the care, control, maintenance, management, and 

development of the museum.  DMNS must donate all of its right, title, and interest in exhibits at the museum to the City for 

the benefi t of the people of the City.  The nature and signifi cance of the relationship between the City and DMNS is such that 

it would be misleading to exclude the DMNS from the City’s fi nancial statements.

Denver Preschool Program, Inc. (DPP) – DPP is a nonprofi t corporation organized to administer the Denver Preschool 

Program as defi ned in Article III of Chapter 11, of the Denver Revised Municipal Code.  This program provides tuition credits 

for children of Denver families the year before the child is eligible for kindergarten.  The Mayor appoints six of the seven DPP 

board members and City Council appoints the other one.

Denver Union Station Project Authority – The Denver Union Station Project Authority was formed June 30, 2008, 

with the Regional Transportation District, the Denver Regional Council of Governments and the Colorado Department 

of Transportation for the redevelopment of the Denver Union Station and its surrounding environs as a multimodal 

transportation center to serve as the future hub for several transportation modes in the City’s metropolitan area.  It will 

specifi cally deal with the fi nancing, acquiring, owning, equipping, designing, constructing, operating and maintaining the 

historic Denver Union Station building.  There was no fi nancial activity or net assets to report as of December 31, 2008.

Denver Urban Renewal Authority (DURA) – The DURA was created as a separate legal entity by the City pursuant to the 

state Urban Renewal Law to acquire, clear, rehabilitate, conserve, develop or redevelop identifi ed slum or blighted areas 

existing within the City.  The Mayor appoints the DURA board of directors subject to City Council approval.  DURA cannot 

undertake any urban renewal projects unless the City approves the urban renewal plan.

Water Board – The Water Board was created pursuant to the City Charter as a separate legal entity to oversee the City’s 

water system.  The Water Board’s fi ve-member governing body is appointed by the Mayor.  Due to the signifi cance of the 

relationship between the Water Board and the City, it would be misleading to exclude the Water Board fi nancial statements 

from those of the City.

Complete fi nancial statements of the following individual discretely presented component units can be obtained from their 

respective administrative offi  ces:

 9th Avenue BID Denver Convention Center Hotel Authority
 1700 Lincoln Street, Suite 3800 1225 Seventeenth Street, Suite 3050
 Denver, Colorado 80203 Denver, Colorado 80202

 Cherry Creek North BID Denver Metro Convention and Visitor’s Bureau, Inc., 
 299 Milwaukee Street, Suite 201 d/b/a VISIT DENVER
 Denver, Colorado 80206 1555 California Street, Suite 300
  Denver, Colorado 80202

 Cherry Creek Subarea BID Denver Museum of Nature and Science
 1593 South Jamica Street 2001 Colorado Boulevard - City Park
 Denver, Colorado 80012 Denver, Colorado 80205
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 Colfax BID Denver Preschool Program, Inc.
 8390 East Crescent Parkway, Suite 500 370 17th Street, Suite 5300
 Aurora, Colorado 80111 Denver, Colorado 80202

 Downtown Denver BID Denver Union Station Project Authority
 511 16th Street, Suite 200 1200 17th Street, Suite 1500
 Denver, Colorado 80202 Denver, Colorado 80202

 Old South Gaylord BID Denver Urban Renewal Authority
 1076 South Gaylord Street 1555 California Street, Suite 200
 Denver, Colorado 80209 Denver, Colorado 80202

 West Colfax BID Water Board
1700 Lincoln Street, Suite 3800 1600 West 12th Avenue
Denver, Colorado 80203 Denver, Colorado 80204

 Denver Art Museum, Inc.
100 West 14th Avenue Parkway
Denver, Colorado 80204

3. Fiduciary Component Unit.

Denver Employees Retirement Plan (DERP) – The DERP is a separate legal entity established by City ordinance to provide 

pension benefi ts for substantially all City employees, except police offi  cers and fi re fi ghters.  The Mayor appoints the members 

of the DERP governing board.  The DERP is presented herein in the City’s fi duciary funds as Pension and Health Benefi ts Trust 

Funds.  The net assets of the DERP are held for the sole benefi t of the participants and are not available for appropriation by 

the City.

4. Related Organizations.  

The City appoints members to the boards of the following organizations.  The City’s accountability for the organizations does 

not extend beyond making these appointments and there is no fi scal dependency by these organizations on the City.

Denver Health and Hospital Authority (Authority) – The Authority is a political subdivision and body corporate of the 

State of Colorado.  The Authority is governed by a nine member board, all appointed by the Mayor.  The Authority entered 

into contractual agreements with the City to obtain and operate the City’s existing hospital system.  In accordance with the 

contractual agreements between the Authority and the City, the City paid the Authority $53,630,000 for providing various 

health related services to the City and its residents during 2008.  In addition, the Authority made payments in the amount of 

$1,713,000 to the City for human services, fl eet, sheriff , and various human resources services.

Denver Housing Authority (DHA) – The DHA was created by ordinance in accordance with U. S. Department of Housing and 

Urban Development (HUD) regulations.  Its fi ve member board controls the daily administration and operations of the DHA.  

The DHA is dependent on Federal funds from HUD and, as a result, is not fi nancially dependent on the City.  In addition, the 

City is not responsible for any defi cits incurred and has no fi scal management control over the DHA.

Denver Public Library Trust (DPL Trust) – The DPL Trust is a charitable entity formed by the Library Commission and the DPL 

Friends Foundation to accept inherited interests through a bequest.  All assets of the DPL Trust derive from a percentage of 

an interest in two real estate partnerships.  The Library Commission appoints the trustees of the DPL Trust.  All funds received 

by the DPL Trust are deposited into a bank account managed by the DPL Trust and quarterly transferred to the DPL Friends 

Foundation.  The monies may be requested during the Denver Public Library’s annual budget request from the DPL Friends 

Foundation.
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Lowry Economic Redevelopment Authority (Lowry) – Lowry was created as a public entity by contract between the City 

and another local government under the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, C.R.S.  Section 24-10-01.  Lowry is a separate 

legal entity intended to maintain, manage, promote, and implement economic redevelopment of the former Lowry Air Force 

Base.  The City is not fi scally accountable for Lowry.  Lowry is governed by a nine-member board of directors of which the 

Mayor appoints seven.

Stapleton Development Corporation (SDC) – The City and DURA created a nonprofi t corporation whose objectives would 

include, but not be limited to, planning an orderly public purpose assessment and redevelopment program for the former 

Stapleton International Airport property and implementing the redevelopment plan for the property.  The SDC board of 

directors is composed of 11 voting members; the Mayor appoints 9 and 2 are appointed by DURA.  All 11 members are 

confi rmed by the City Council.  SDC is not fi nancially accountable to either the City or DURA, as the City and DURA cannot 

impose their will on SDC, nor does a fi nancial benefi t or burden exist between the entities.

Note B – Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements

The government-wide fi nancial statements, which include the statement of net assets and statement of activities, report 

information on all of the non-fi duciary activities of the primary government and its component units.  Eliminations have been 

made to minimize the double-counting of internal activities.  Governmental activities, which generally are supported by taxes, 

intergovernmental revenues, and other nonexchange transactions, are reported separately from business-type activities, which 

rely generally on fees and charges to external parties.  The primary government is reported separately from certain legally 

separate component units for which the primary government is fi nancially accountable.

The statement of net assets reports all of the City’s assets and liabilities, with the diff erence between the two presented as net 

assets.

The statement of activities demonstrates the extent to which the direct expenses of a given function or business-type activity 

is off set by program revenues.  Direct expenses are clearly identifi able with a specifi c function.  Program revenues include: 1) 

charges to customers who purchase, use, or directly benefi t from goods, services provided by the programs, and 2) grants and 

contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular program.  Taxes and other items 

not properly included among program revenues are reported as general revenues.

Separate fund fi nancial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds, fi duciary funds, even though the latter 

are excluded from the government-wide fi nancial statements, and component units.  The emphasis of fund fi nancial statements 

is on major governmental funds, enterprise funds, and component units, each reported as a separate column.  All remaining 

governmental funds, enterprise funds, and component units, are aggregated and reported as nonmajor funds.

Note C – Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Statement Presentation

The government-wide fi nancial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis 

of accounting, as are the proprietary, fi duciary, and component unit fund fi nancial statements.  Revenues are recorded when 

earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of the related cash fl ows.  On an accrual 

basis, property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied.  Grants and similar items are recognized as 

revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements have been met.

Governmental fund fi nancial statements are reported using the current fi nancial resources measurement focus and the modifi ed 

accrual basis of accounting.  Under the modifi ed accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when they are measurable 

and available.  Available means collectible within the current period, or soon enough thereafter, to pay liabilities of the current 

period or when matured.  The City considers all revenue as available, if collected within 60 days after year-end.  Property taxes, 

sales and use taxes, franchise taxes, occupational privilege taxes, interest revenue, grant revenue, and charges for services are 
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susceptible to accrual.  Other receipts, fi nes, licenses, permits, and parking meter revenues become measurable and available 

when cash is received by the City and are recognized as revenue at that time.  Grant revenue is considered available if it is 

expected to be collected within one year and all eligibility requirements are met.  Expenditures are recorded when the related 

liability is incurred, except for debt service expenditures, and certain compensated absences and claims and judgments, which are 

recognized when the payment is due.

The City reports the following major governmental funds:

The General Fund is the City’s primary operating fund.  It accounts for all fi nancial resources of the general government, • 

except those required to be reported in another fund.

The Human Services special revenue fund is used to account for proceeds of restricted revenue to be used for public • 

assistance and welfare activities.

The Bond Projects capital projects fund is used to account for proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt to be used for • 

paying the cost of projects as set forth in bond issuing ordinances.

The City reports the following major proprietary funds:

The Wastewater Management fund accounts for the City’s storm and sewer operations.• 

The Denver Airport System fund accounts for the operation of the City’s airport system which includes Denver International • 

Airport.

The City reports the Denver Convention Center Hotel Authority, Denver Urban Renewal Authority, and Water Board component 

units as major component units.

Additionally, the City reports the following fund-types:

Internal service funds account for the print shop, fl eet maintenance, asphalt plant, and workers’ compensation services • 

provided to the various departments and agencies of the City on a cost reimbursement basis.

The private-purpose trust funds are used to account for resources legally held in trust by the City for use by various • 

organizations for various purposes, i.e., COBRA payments and unclaimed warrants.  All resources of the funds, including any 

earnings on invested resources, may be used to support the various activities of the organizations.  There is no requirement 

to preserve the resources as capital.

Pension trust funds account for the Denver Employees Retirement Plan and Deferred Compensation Plan which accumulate • 

resources for pension and health benefi t payments to qualifi ed City retirees and amounts employees defer from their income.

Agency funds account for the Employee Salary Redirect plan, clearing funds for payroll and benefi t provider payments, and • 

collected receipts being temporarily held for allocation to other entities.  The agency funds are custodial in nature and do not 

involve measurement of results of operations.

The City reports its government-wide and enterprise fund fi nancial statements following all applicable GASB pronouncements 

as well as the following pronouncements issued on or before November 30, 1989, unless the pronouncements confl ict with or 

contradict GASB pronouncements:  Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Statements and Interpretations, Accounting 

Principles Board Opinions, and Accounting Research Bulletins.  Governments are given the option whether or not to apply all 

FASB Statements and Interpretations issued after November 30, 1989, for their enterprise funds and business-type activities.  The 

City has elected not to implement this option.  However, certain component units, including the Denver Art Museum, Inc., Denver 

Museum of Nature and Science, and the Denver Metro Convention and Visitor’s Bureau, Inc. have elected this option.
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The eff ect of interfund activity generally has been eliminated from the government-wide fi nancial statements.  Exceptions to this 

practice include payments and other charges between the City’s enterprise funds and various other functions of the government.  

Elimination of these charges would distort the direct costs and program revenues reported for the various functions aff ected.

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items.  Operating revenues and expenses 

generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund’s principal 

ongoing operations.  The principal operating revenues of the enterprise and internal service funds are charges to customers for 

sales and services.  Operating expenses for the enterprise and internal service funds include the administrative expenses, cost 

of sales and services, and depreciation on capital assets.  All revenues and expenses not meeting this defi nition are reported as 

nonoperating revenues and expenses.

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, the City uses the restricted resources fi rst, then unrestricted 

resources as needed.

Note D – Assets, Liabilities, and Net Assets or Equity

1. Cash and Investments.  For the primary government, except when prohibited by trust agreements, the operating cash 

in each fund is maintained in one consolidated pool by the City Treasury.  Cash in excess of operating requirements 

is invested by the City Treasurer.  The City Charter, Section 2.5.3(C) and the Denver Revised Municipal Code, Section 

20-21, authorize that investments may be made in U. S. Government obligations, prime commercial paper, prime 

bankers’ acceptances, repurchase agreements, forward purchase agreements, securities lending, highly rated municipal 

securities, and other similar securities as may be authorized by ordinance.  The pension trust funds and component units 

maintain deposits and investments outside of the City Treasurer’s pools.  These are primarily in demand deposits and U.S. 

Government obligations.  Some pension trust funds have investments in real property.

Investments are stated at fair value, which is primarily determined based upon quoted market prices at year-end.  Fair values 

of real estate and other investments are determined by independent periodic appraisals.

2. Cash Equivalents.  The City considers all investments held in the treasurer’s consolidated pool to be cash equivalents.  

For investments owned by wastewater, the airport system, the pension trust funds, and the component units, 

investments with maturities of three months or less from the date of purchase are considered cash equivalents.

3. Property Taxes Receivable.  Property taxes are reported as a receivable and as deferred revenue when the levy is 

certifi ed by the City’s Assessor on or before December 15 of each year, unless there is a special election.  Property taxes 

receivable is reduced by an allowance for uncollectible taxes.  Property taxes are due and considered earned on January 1 

following the year levied.  The fi rst and second halves become delinquent on March 1 and June 16, respectively.  Tax rate 

levy authority for the 2008 fi scal year was approved when Resolution 205, Series of 2008, was adopted by the City Council 

and approved by the Mayor.

4. Water and Wastewater Service Accounts.  Sanitary sewer accounts are maintained, billed, and collected by the 

Water Board component unit in connection with its water accounts.  The Wastewater Management enterprise fund is 

responsible for billing and collecting storm drainage charges using a cycle billing system.  Flat rate accounts and certain 

cycle billings are billed in advance on a monthly basis and revenues relating to future years are classifi ed as deferred 

revenue.  Metered accounts are billed in arrears and have been accrued.
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5.  Interfund Receivables/Payables.  During the course of operations, numerous transactions occur between individual 

funds for goods provided or services rendered.  The balances from these transactions are classifi ed as “interfund 

receivable” or “interfund payable” on the balance sheet.  Other interfund receivables/payables between individual funds 

have occurred because some funds have overdrawn their equity share of pooled cash.

6. Due From Other Governments.  Due from other governments includes amounts due from grantors for grants for specifi c 

programs and capital projects.  Program and capital grants for capital assets are recorded as receivables and revenues 

when all eligibility requirements are met.  Revenues received in advance of project costs being incurred or for which 

eligibility requirements have not been met are deferred.  In the governmental funds, revenue recognition depends on the 

timing of cash collections (availability).

7. Inventories and Prepaid Items.  The City values inventories at cost, which approximates market, and accounts for 

them using either the weighted average method or the fi rst-in/fi rst-out method.  The costs of governmental fund-type 

inventories are recorded as expenditures when purchased.

Payments made to vendors for services representing costs applicable to future accounting periods are recorded as prepaid 

items in both the government-wide and fund fi nancial statements.

8. Restricted and Designated Assets.  Certain assets of the General Fund, General Government special revenue fund and 

certain component units are classifi ed as restricted assets because their use is completely restricted by State statute (see 

Note IV-F-8)

In the General Fund and Human Services special revenue fund, certain monies related to capital leases (see Note III-E-1) are 

classifi ed as restricted in accordance with lease requirements.

Certain resources of the governmental activities and the Denver Airport System enterprise fund are classifi ed as restricted 

assets because their use is limited by applicable bond covenants.  These covenants require the accumulation of resources for 

current principal and interest on both bonds and subordinate bonds, principal and redemption price on term bonds subject 

to mandatory redemption, principal and interest emergency reserve, and operating and maintenance emergency reserve.

Certain assets of the Environmental Services enterprise fund have been restricted by external parties to be used for future 

plant and equipment expenditures and payment of certain liabilities.

Resources received through donor-restricted endowments are classifi ed as restricted assets in the Denver Art Museum, Inc. 

and Denver Museum of Nature and Science component units.

9. Capital Assets.  Land, collections, construction in progress, buildings, equipment, and infrastructure assets are reported 

in the applicable governmental or business-type activities, or component unit columns of the government-wide fi nancial 

statements.  Such assets are recorded at cost or estimated cost if purchased or constructed.  Donated capital assets are 

recorded at their estimated fair value at the date of donation.  The capitalization threshold of the City is $5,000.  The costs 

of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the assets or materially extend assets’ lives are not 

capitalized.  Interest incurred during the construction phase of capital assets of business-type activities is refl ected in the 

capitalized value of the asset constructed, net of interest earned on the invested proceeds over the same period.

Assets under capital leases are recorded at the present value of future minimum lease payments and are amortized on a 

straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term or the estimated useful life of the asset.
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Capital assets of the City and certain component units are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the following estimated 

useful lives:

 Buildings and improvements 5 to 100 years
 Motor vehicles and motorized equipment 5 to 20 years
 Furniture, machinery, and equipment 3 to 20 years
 Collections 15 years
 Infrastructure 6 to 40 years

Collections primarily include library books which are depreciated over a 15-year life using the composite method.  The 

Western History artwork collection, valued at $14,060,000 is not capitalized because these assets are held for public exhibition 

rather than fi nancial gain.  They are protected and preserved and proceeds from any sales must be used to acquire other 

items for collection.

Assets held for disposition consist primarily of the net book value of the Stapleton International Airport, which ceased 

aviation operations on February 27, 1995 and are recorded in the Denver Airport System enterprise fund.  No depreciation is 

recorded for assets held for disposition.  In addition, assets held for disposition in governmental funds consist of foreclosed 

property pending future sale.

10. Long-term Obligations.  The City records long-term debt and other long-term obligations as liabilities in the 

government-wide and proprietary fund fi nancial statements.  Bond premiums, discounts, deferred refunding gains 

(losses), and issuance costs, are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using the eff ective interest method 

or the straight-line method over the term of the debt, except for deferred refunding gains (losses) which are amortized 

using the same methods over the shorter of the term of either the new or old debt.  Bond premiums, discounts, and 

deferred refunding gains (losses) are presented as an addition or reduction (net) of the face amount of the bond payable.  

Bond issuance costs are recorded as deferred charges.  With few exceptions, bonds issued by the City are tax exempt and 

subject to federal arbitrage regulations.

In the fund fi nancial statements for governmental fund-types, bond premiums, discounts, and issuance costs are recognized 

as expenditures during the current period.  Bond proceeds and bond premiums are reported as an other fi nancing source.  

Bond discounts are reported as an other fi nancing use.  Issuance costs, even if withheld from actual net proceeds received, are 

reported as debt service expenditures.

11.  Compensated Absences.  The City has vacation and sick leave policies covering substantially all of its employees, as 

follows:

 Career Service Authority
 Fire and Police Departments’ Classifi ed Service
 Undersheriff 
 District Attorney and Judges

Employees may accumulate earned but unused benefi ts up to a specifi ed maximum.  The City has recorded an accrued 

liability for compensated absences in the government-wide and proprietary fund fi nancial statements that was calculated 

using the vesting method.  A liability is recorded for these compensated absences in the governmental funds only if they have 

matured as a result of employee resignations or retirements.

12.  Net Assets.  In the government-wide and fund fi nancial statements, net assets are the diff erence between assets 

and liabilities.  Net assets invested in capital assets represent capital assets, less accumulated depreciation less any 

outstanding debt related to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets.  Certain net assets are 

restricted for capital projects, emergency use, debt service, and by donor restrictions.
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13.  Fund Equity.  In the fund fi nancial statements, governmental funds report reservations of fund balance representing 

amounts that are not appropriable or are legally segregated for a specifi c purpose.  Designations of fund balance 

represent tentative management plans that are subject to change.

14.  Encumbrances.  Encumbrances for contracts and purchase orders are unencumbered at year end and reappropriated 

against the subsequent year’s budget.  As of December 31, 2008, $6,152,098 was reappropriated against the general fund 

2009 budget for remaining prior year encumbrances.

Note E – Implementation of New Accounting Principles

1. Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No.  49.  In 2008, the City implemented the provisions of GASB 

Statement No. 49, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pollution Remediation Obligations, which establishes uniform 

standards requiring more timely and complete reporting of pollution remediation obligations and requires governments 

to account for them in the same manner to enhance comparability of information.  See the City’s related disclosure in 

Note IV-B.

II. Stewardship, Compliance, and Accountability 

Note A – Defi cit Fund Equity

At December 31, 2008, the Central Services internal service fund, Workers’ Compensation internal service fund (see Note IV-C), and 

the DURA and Denver Convention Center Hotel Authority component units had defi cit fund balances or net assets in the amounts 

of $114,000, $8,330,000, $248,203,000 and $15,058,000, respectively.

The City closely monitors the situation in the internal service funds and defi cits are funded through unreserved fund balance/

unrestricted net assets of other funds.

The DURA component unit uses Tax Increment Financing (TIF), which is additional incremental property and sales taxes generated 

by redevelopment projects, to fund its defi cit net assets.  The Denver Convention Center Hotel Authority component unit will use 

revenue from its hotel facility to fund its defi cit net assets.

Note B – Excess Expenditures Over Appropriations

Budget basis expenditures exceeded appropriations for certain funded projects shown in Table 1.

The expenditures, which resulted in excess of appropriations, were recorded because a liability had been incurred before year-end.

Table 1

Excess Expenditures Over Appropriations
For the Year Ended December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands)

Budget Basis Excess over
Appropriation Expenditures Appropriation

Career Service Authority Hearing Office 355$                     359$                     4$                          
County Court 20,584                 20,753                 169                       
911 Call Center 8,838                    9,216                    378                       
Police Department 169,414               171,542               2,128                    
Police Airport 2,513                    2,575                    62                          
Fire Department 100,382               100,722               340                       
Undersheriff 91,949                 92,075                 126                       
Art, Culture, and Film 1,220                    1,233                    13                          
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III. Detailed Notes for All Funds 

Note A – Deposits and Investments

1. Deposits.  The City Charter, Section 2.5.3(c), requires all banking or savings and loan institutions to pledge suffi  cient 

collateral as required by law (Public Deposit Protection Act (C.R.S., 11-10.5-101)) before any public funds are deposited.  

In addition, the City’s investment policy requires that certifi cates of deposit be purchased from institutions that are 

certifi ed as Eligible Public Depositories by the appropriate state regulatory agency. Under the PDPA, all deposits 

exceeding the amount insured by the FDIC are to be fully collateralized at 102% of the deposits with specifi c approved 

securities identifi ed in the act. The eligible collateral pledged must be held in custody by any Federal Reserve Bank, or 

branch thereof, or held in escrow by some other bank in a manner as the banking commissioner shall prescribe by rule 

and regulation, or may be segregated from the other assets of the eligible public depository and held in its own trust 

department. All collateral so held must be clearly identifi ed as being security maintained or pledged for the aggregate 

amount of public deposits accepted and held on deposit by the eligible public depository. Deposits collateralized under 

the PDPA are considered collateralized with securities held by the pledging fi nancial institutions’ trust department or 

agent in the “City’s name.”

Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of a failure of a fi nancial institution or counterparty, the City would not be able 

to recover its deposits, investments or collateral securities.  At December 31, 2008, the bank balance and carrying amounts 

of accounts managed by the City Treasurer were $14,613,000 and $22,814,000, respectively.  The City’s deposits, except for 

the Denver Employees Retirement Plan (DERP) pension trust fund, funds deposited at the Rocky Mountain Law Enforcement 

Federal Credit Union, funds held by St. Paul/Travelers Insurance, and certain component units’ deposits are subject to, and in 

accordance with, the State of Colorado’s Public Deposit Protection Act (PDPA).  Deposits subject to the PDPA are not subject to 

custodial credit risk.

The DERP has no formal policy for custodial credit risk for deposits.  At December 31, 2008, the DERP had $4,441,000 in 

uninsured and uncollateralized deposits.

The Rocky Mountain Law Enforcement Federal Credit Union is not certifi ed as an Eligible Public Depository.  At December 31, 

2008, the City had $327,000 in uninsured and uncollateralized deposits subject to custodial credit risk.

St. Paul/Travelers Insurance manages an owner-controlled insurance plan on behalf of the Denver Airport System. St. Paul 

pays claims from an escrow account held in the Airport System’s name that is uninsured, uncollateralized, and subject to 

custodial credit risk. The balance of the account at December 31, 2008, was $188,569.

All deposits for DURA and the Water Board were not subject to custodial credit risk at December 31, 2008, since they were in 

PDPA eligible fi nancial institutions.  DCCHA had cash deposits at December 31, 2008, in bank accounts in excess of the FDIC 

insurance limits aggregating to approximately $2,874,000 that was subject to custodial risk.

2. Investments.  It is the policy of the City to invest its funds in a manner which will provide for the highest investment 

return consistent with the preservation of principal and provision of the liquidity necessary for daily cash fl ow demands.  

The City’s investment policy applies to all investment activity of the City under the control of the Manager of Finance (the 

Manager), including investments of certain monies related to all governmental and business-type activities, and trust 

and agency funds.  The City’s investment policy does not apply to the investments of the deferred compensation plan or 

component units.  Other monies that may from time to time be deposited with the Manager for investment shall also be 

administered in accordance with the investment policy.
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The City Charter, Section 2.5.3(c), and Revised Municipal Code, Section 20-21, authorize the investments that the City can 

hold.  The investment policy requires that investments shall be managed in accordance with portfolio theory management 

principles to compensate for actual or anticipated changes in market interest rates.  To the extent possible, investment 

maturity will be matched with anticipated cash fl ow requirements of each investment portfolio.  Additionally, to the extent 

possible, investments will be diversifi ed by security type and institution.  This diversifi cation is required in order that potential 

losses on individual securities do not exceed the income generated from the remainder of the portfolio.  Deviations from 

expectations shall be reported in a timely fashion and appropriate action taken to control adverse developments.

The City has retained Dominion Capital Group, Inc. (DCG) to perform quarterly reviews of the investment portfolio to ensure 

that the investments are authorized by the Denver City Charter and are in compliance with the City’s Investment Policy.  DCG 

also reviews investment market prices for accuracy as well as the accuracy of the portfolio performance as reported by the 

City.

At December 31, 2008, the City’s investment balances were as shown in Table 2.

The DERP pension trust fund had securities lending collateral of $151,272,000 at December 31, 2008; see Note III-A-6 for 

additional discussion related to this balance.

At December 31, 2008, the investment balances of the discretely presented component units were as shown in Table 3.

Table 2

City Investment Balances
December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands)

Fair Value 
Repurchase agreements 1,734$                    
Money market funds 39,392                    
Local government investment pool 125,632                  
Commercial paper 761,211                  
Common stock 765,648                  
Mutual funds 182,860                  
State and local government securities 15,135                    
Municipal auction rate securities 134,000                  
U.S. Treasury securitites 161,306                  
U.S. agency securities 1,001,784               
Corporate and mortgage bonds 316,882                  
Annuity contracts 183,099                  
Real estate 176,520                  
Other 133,335                  
Total Investments 3,998,538$          

Table 3

Component Units Investment Balances
December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands)

Fair Value 
Money market funds 112,540$                
Local government investment pool 19,049                    
Commercial paper 22,064                    
Mutual funds 6,583                       
U.S. Treasury securitites 113,631                  
U.S. agency securities 56,030                    
Investment contracts 25,219                    
Corporate bonds 7,193                       
Other 11,649                    
Total Investments 373,958$              
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A reconciliation of cash and investments as shown in the basic fi nancial statements as of December 31, 2008, is shown in 

Table 4.

Interest Rate Risk - Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in the fi nancial market rates of interest will adversely aff ect the 

value of an investment.  The City’s investment policy limits interest rate risk for investments under the control of the Manager 

by limiting the maximum maturity of investments.  Investments in commercial paper have a maximum maturity of 270 days.  

At December 31, 2008, the City’s commercial paper maturity dates ranged from January 5, 2009 to June 26, 2009.  Bond 

reserve proceeds that are invested in U. S. Treasury and agency securities have a maximum maturity of ten years.  All other U.S. 

Treasury and agency securities can have a maximum maturity of fi ve years.

At December 31, 2008, the City’s investment balances and maturities for those investments subject to interest rate risk 

(excluding the DERP) is shown in Table 5 (dollars in thousands):

The City’s portfolio of U. S. agency securities includes callable securities and securities with scheduled interest changes.  If 

a callable investment is purchased at a discount the maturity date is assumed to be the maturity date of the investment.  If 

the investment is bought at a premium, the maturity date is assumed to be the call date.  As of December 31, 2008, the City 

owned callable securities with a fair value of $535,882,000.  Of these, securities with scheduled changes to predetermined 

interest rates had a fair value of $60,861,000.

Table 4

Reconciliation of Cash and Investments
December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands)

Primary Component 
Government Units Total  

Governmental and Business-type Activities
Cash on hand 4,942$                  49$                        4,991$                  
Cash and cash equivalents 670,771               73,146                  743,917               
Investments 350,526               178,720               529,246               
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 294,024               83,299                  377,323               
Restricted investments 784,676               85,259                  869,935               
Total Governmental and Business-type Activities 2,104,939          420,473              2,525,412          

Fiduciary
Cash on hand 4,476                    -                             4,476                    
Cash and cash equivalents 60,058                  -                             60,058                  
Investments 1,866,959            -                             1,866,959            
Total Fiduciary 1,931,493          -                               1,931,493          
Total 4,036,432            420,473               4,456,905            
Less deposit balance (37,894)                1 (46,515)                (84,409)                
Total Investments 3,998,538$       373,958$           4,372,496$       

1The carrying amount of the City's bank accounts, $22,814, plus fiduciary deposits of $42,992, less uncashed warrants of $37,524, plus 
other cash amounts of $9,612 equal ($37,894).

Table 5

Investment Maturities in Years
Less Greater 

Investment Type Fair Value than 1 1  -  5 6  -  10 than 10 
Commercial Paper 761,211$            761,211$            -$                          -$                          -$                          
U.S. Treasury securities 39,750                 -                            10,909                 28,841                 -                            
U.S. agency securities 985,607              183,045              543,677              202,572              56,313                 
Total 1,786,568$      944,256$          554,586$          231,413$          56,313$             
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The Manager is authorized to waive certain portfolio constraints when such action is deemed to be in the best interest of the 

City.  The Manager has waived the maximum maturity for certain investments in U. S. agency securities that are part of the 

Denver Airport System structured pool created to facilitate an economic defeasance of a portion of the future debt service 

payments due on certain airport system bonds and also the investments held for the Cable Land Trust.

The DERP limits its exposure to fair value losses due to rising interest rates by limiting investment duration as the primary 

measure of interest rate risk within some of its fi xed income investments: intermediate – one to eight years and high yield 

– between (+) or (-) 10% of the duration of the Merrill Lynch High yield Cash Pay Index.  At December 31, 2008, the DERP 

pension trust fund investment balances and maturities for those investments subject to interest rate risk are shown in Table 6 

(dollars in thousands).

Credit Quality Risk - Credit quality risk is the risk that the issuer or other counterparty to a debt security will not fulfi ll its 

obligations to the City. National rating agencies assess this risk and assign a credit quality rating for most investments. 

Obligations of the U. S. Government or obligations explicitly guaranteed by the U. S. Government are not assigned credit 

quality ratings. Of the City’s investments at December 31, 2008, commercial paper, municipal auction rate securities, and local 

government investment pools were subject to credit quality risk.  The City’s investment policy requires that commercial paper 

and bankers acceptances be rated by at least two of the recognized rating agencies and have a minimum rating of A-1, P-1, 

and F-1 from Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s, and Fitch, respectively, at the time of purchase.  Municipal auction rate securities 

must have an underlying issuer rating from at least one of the three rating agencies of at least A from Standard & Poor’s and 

Fitch or A2 from Moody’s at the time of purchase.  Local government investment pools must either have over $1 billion in 

assets or have a rating of AAAm-g, AAAm, or AAA by Standard & Poor’s or Aaa, Aa1, or Aa2 by Moody’s.

As of December 31, 2008, the City owned commercial paper with a fair value of $761,211,000 that had two ratings of at least 

A-1 as rated by Standard & Poor’s, P-1 as rated by Moody’s, or F1 as rated by Fitch.  The City owned $134,000,000 of municipal 

auction rate securities that had ratings of  at least A1 by Moody’s or AA- by Standard & Poor’s or Fitch.  The City also had 

$125,632,000 invested in local government investment pools with ratings of AAAm by Standard & Poor’s.

The DERP pension trust fund investment policy states that the DERP fi xed income investment mangers, excluding the DERP 

high yield manger, invest only in securities that are rated at BBB- or higher by one of the three established rating agencies.  

The DERP high yield investment manger is permitted to invest in securities rated B- or higher.  The high yield manger is also 

permitted to invest 5% of its portfolio temporarily in bonds rated CCC or lower.

Table 6

Investment Maturities in Years
Less Greater 

Investment Type Fair Value than 1 1  -  5 6  -  10 than 10 
U.S. Treasury securities 121,556$            3,052$                 48,162$              51,774$              18,568$              
U.S. agency securities 16,177                 1,237                   6,801                   3,705                   4,434                   
Asset backed 9,050                   35                         4,304                   1,977                   2,734                   
Corporate backed 205,399              4,392                   84,502                 89,668                 26,837                 
Mortgage backed 102,433              751                      33,193                 9,872                   58,617                 
Total 454,615$          9,467$                176,962$          156,996$          111,190$          
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Information on the credit ratings associated with the DERP investments in debt securities at December 31, 2008, is shown in 

Table 7 (dollars in thousands).

Custodial Credit Risk - Custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that, in the event of a failure, the City will not be able 

to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party.  Investments 

are exposed to custodial credit risk if they are uninsured, are not registered in the City’s name, and are held by either the 

counterparty to the investment purchase or are held by the counterparty’s trust department or agent but not held in the 

City’s name.  None of the City’s investments owned at December 31, 2008, were subject to custodial credit risk.

In accordance with the City’s investment policy, all of the City’s repurchase agreements are collateralized at 102% of the 

market value of the portfolio by U.S. agency securities at the time of purchase.  Collateral valuation is calculated and adjusted 

at least once per week, and adjusted on an as needed basis.  Collateral for all investments, including repurchase agreements, 

are held in the City’s name by the City’s custodian, J.P. Morgan.  The City did not own any repurchase agreements in its 

investment portfolio on December 31, 2008.

The Offi  ce of Economic Development has several accounts at Vectra Bank in relation to its HUD Section 108 programs.  The 

cash in these accounts is invested each night in repurchase agreements issued by Vectra.  The amounts in these accounts are 

held in the City’s name and protected by the PDPA.  In addition, Vectra pledges securities that are direct obligation of the U. S. 

Government, at a minimum collateralized value of 102% in compliance with HUD’s investment requirements.

DERP has no formal policy for custodial credit risk.  There were no investments or collateral securities subject to custodial 

credit risk.

Concentration of Credit Risk - Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of the City’s 

investment in a single issuer.  The City’s Investment Policy states that a maximum of 5% of the portfolio may be invested in 

commercial paper or certifi cates of deposit issued by any one provider.  The City’s Investment Policy also limits investments in 

money market funds to 25% of total investments and investments in municipal securities to 15% of total investments.  As of 

December 31, 2008, all investments in commercial paper, money market funds, and municipal securities were in compliance 

with the City’s Investment Policy.

The DERP investment policy mandates that no managed account may invest more than 5% of managed assets in the 

securities of a single issuer.  As of December 31, 2008, all DERP investments were in compliance with this policy.

Table 7

Asset  Corporate  Mortgage  
S&P Moody's Backed  Bonds  Bonds  Total  
AAA Aaa 5,468$               8,843$                     89,231$                  103,542$                
AAA A1 to Aa3 875                     875                           
AAA NR 110                     4,485                       4,595                       
AA+ to AA- A1 to Aa3 11,910                     11,910                     
A+ to A- A1 to Baa2 852                     64,037                     1,912                       66,801                     
BBB+ to BBB- A1 to Baa3 1,100                  40,247                     1,197                       42,544                     
BB+ to BB- B1 to Ba3 605                     35,338                     1,305                       37,248                     
B+ to B- B1 to Caa1 35                       43,483                     362                          43,880                     
CCC+ to CCC B3 -                           1,541                       1,541                       
NR Aaa to Baa2 5                          3,941                       3,946                       

-                                 
Total 9,050$              205,399$              102,433$              316,882$               

NR - no rating.
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Foreign Currency Risk - Foreign Currency risk is the risk that changes in exchange rates will adversely aff ect their value of an 

investment or deposit.  The City’s investment policy, excluding the DERP pension trust fund, does not allow for investments 

in foreign currency.  The DERP pension trust fund investment policy allows 15% to 19% of total investments to be invested in 

international equities.  The DERP pension trust fund exposure to foreign currency risk as of December 31, 2008, is refl ected in 

Table 8 (dollars in thousands):

3. Denver Convention Center Hotel Authority (DCCHA) – DCCHA’s investments are not subject to custodial credit risk at 

December 31, 2008, since they were covered by collateral held by DCCHA’s custodial bank.

4. Denver Urban Renewal Authority (DURA) – Although it does not have a formal policy to limit exposure to interest rate 

risk, DURA limits the maximum maturity of investments.

At December 31, 2008, DURA’s investment balances and maturities are shown in Table 9 (dollars in thousands):

Table 8

Foreign Currency U.S. Dollars 
Equities:

Euro 80,476$                    
British Pound 34,381                      
Brazillian Real 388                            
Japanese Yen 42,842                      
Swiss Franc 22,696                      
Australian Dollar 10,445                      
Hong Kong Dollar 5,108                        
Sedish Krona 3,045                        
Singapore Dollar 3,905                        
Norwegian Krone 1,784                        
Danish Krone 1,568                        
Canadian Dollar 212                            
New Zealand Dollar 53                              

Subtotal 206,903                  

Cash:
British Pound 62                              
Singapore Dollar 13                              
Japanese Yen 91                              
Euro 121                            

Subtotal 287                            

Total Foreign Deposits and Investments 207,190$                

Table 9

Less 
Investment Type Fair Value than 1 1  -  5 
Money market funds 21,124$              21,124$              -$                          
Guaranteed investment contracts 25,219                 -                            25,219                 
Local government investment pool 18,302                 18,302                 -                            
Total 64,645$             39,426$             25,219$             

Investment Maturities in Years
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5. Water Board.  To limit exposure to interest rate risk, the Water Board’s investment policy limits investments to 270 days 

for commercial paper, 3 years for corporate fi xed income securities, 4 years for U. S. agency securities, 5 years for U. S. 

Treasury securities, and 7 business days for repurchase agreements. 

At December 31, 2008, the Water Board’s investment balances and maturities are shown in Table 10 (dollars in thousands):

The Water Board mitigates credit quality risk by limiting the purchase of investments in commercial paper to those rated 

either A1 or better by Standard & Poor’s or P1 by Moody’s.  Corporate bonds must have an investment grade rating by either 

Standard & Poor’s or Moody’s.  As of December 31, 2008, all of the Water Board’s investments in commercial paper were rated 

A1 or better by Standard & Poor’s or P-1 by Moody’s with the exception of two securities that were downgraded to A3/P-2 

September 15, 2008.  These securities, representing 1.1% of the total portfolio at December 31, 2008, are being held with the 

Water Board’s approval until maturity in early 2009.  All corporate bonds held by the Water Board on December 31, 2008, were 

rated AA- or better by Standard & Poor’s or Aa3 or better by Moody’s.

6. Securities Lending.  The City participates in a securities lending program with certain qualifi ed dealers.  The securities 

are loaned to the dealer up to a maximum of up to one year in exchange for a predetermined fee.  The City continues to 

receive interest earnings on the loaned securities.  The securities are collateralized by the dealer.  The collateral is held in 

the City’s name by J.P. Morgan, the City’s custodian.  Collateral is limited to U.S. Government and/or its Agencies’ securities 

with a maximum maturity of 10 years.  Only those securities issued by Agencies approved for purchase under the City’s 

investment policy are acceptable as collateral for these agreements.  The initial market value of the collateral for each 

investment position maintained with a dealer shall be 102% of the market value of the securities being collateralized.  

Market value includes investment principal plus accrued interest.  Collateral valuation levels with each dealer must be 

determined on at least a weekly basis, and defi ciencies from the required 102% level must be cured no later than the 

following business day.  The loans can be terminated at the request of either party on demand.  The City had no securities 

on loan as of December 31, 2008.

The DERP pension trust fund participates in a securities lending program to augment income.  The program is administered 

by the DERP custodial agent bank, which lends certain securities for a predetermined period of time, to an independent 

broker/dealer (borrower) in exchange for collateral.  Collateral may be cash, U. S. Government securities, defi ned letters of 

credit or other collateral approved by the DERP.  Loans of domestic securities are initially collateralized at 102% of the fair 

value of securities lent.  Loans of international securities are initially collateralized at 105% of the fair value of securities 

lent.  DERP continues to receive interest and dividends during the loan period as well as a fee from the borrower.  There are 

no restrictions on the amount of securities that can be lent at one time.  At December 31, 2008, the fair value of underlying 

securities lent was $196,637,000.  The fair value of associated collateral was $194,564,000; of this amount, $151,272,000 

represents the fair value of cash collateral and $43,293,000 is the fair value of non-cash collateral.  The collateral at December 

Table 10

Less 
Investment Type Fair Value than 1 1  -  5 
U.S. Treasury securities 73,591$              58,464$              15,127$              
U.S. agency securities 67,923                 50,569                 17,354                 
Commercial paper 51,906                 51,906                 -                            
Corporate obligations 2,438                   1,532                   906                      
Total 195,858$          162,471$          33,387$             

Investment Maturities in Years
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31, 2008, is less than 102% of the underlying securities due to certain securities for which cash collateral had been invested in 

becoming impaired because of the credit failure of the issuer.  Thus DERP has credit risk exposure of $6,109,000; the reduction 

in the carrying amount of the collateral due to the impairment.

Note B – Receivables

1. Accounts and Notes Receivable Allowances.  The City reviews its accounts receivables periodically and allowances for 

doubtful accounts are established based upon management’s assessment of collection.

Table 11 represents the allowances for doubtful accounts at December 31, 2008:

2. Notes Receivable.  The special revenue funds’ and general fund notes receivable balance at December 31, 2008, is shown 

in Table 12 (dollars in thousands):

Allowance for uncollectibles for notes receivable of $45,490,000 is included in the accounts receivable allowance of 

$72,677,000 above.

The Neighborhood, Economic and Housing Development loans are funded from both federal U.S. Housing and Urban 

Development grants and City monies designated for aff ordable housing.  Recipients of aff ordable housing loans target low 

and moderate income households, special needs and the homeless.  Rental and Occupancy Covenants are recorded on these 

properties for aff ordability periods of 20 years or more.  Housing loans may be fully deferred and forgivable at the end of the 

aff ordability period, due and payable in full, or due and payable based on occupancy rates or other conditions.  The Economic 

Development loans are made to qualifi ed program recipients under the Community Development Block Grant to provide 

business owners with funds to promote job creation and growth in targeted areas.  Loans are collateralized by the underlying 

properties.

Table 11

Allowances for Doubtful Accounts
December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands)

Governmental Business-type Fiduciary 
Activities Activities Funds 

General Fund 22,306$            -$                       -$                       
Human Services 595                    -                          -                          
Other Governmental Funds 49,776              -                          -                          
Wastewater Management -                          1,119                -                          
Denver Airport System -                          1,025                -                          
Agency -                          -                          6,222                
Total 72,677$          2,144$             6,222$             

Table 12

Neighborhood Development Loans 5,798$                             
Economic Development Loans 53,286                             
Housing Development Loans 69,605                             
Total Office of Economic Development 128,689                          

Less allowances for delinquent loans (1,505)                              
Less allowances for forgivable loans (43,985)                            
Notes Receivable, Net 83,199$                          
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3. Long-Term Receivables Allowance.  Included in long-term receivables are amounts related to reimbursement for 

construction costs, parking fi nes, court fi nes, and library fi nes.  The City recorded an allowance for uncollectible accounts 

for governmental activities of $24,204,000.  The DURA component unit recorded an allowance of $4,376,000.

4. Operating Leases.  The Denver Airport System leases portions of its Denver International Airport buildings and 

improvements to airline and concession tenants under non-cancelable operating leases.  Lease terms vary from 1 to 

30 years.  The operating leases require retail concessions to pay a minimum guarantee or percentage of gross receipts, 

whichever is greater.  Revenue from these operating leases of $71,582,000 was recognized in the Denver Airport System 

enterprise fund during the year ended December 31, 2008.  Minimum future rentals due from concessions under 

operating leases are shown in Table 13 (dollars in thousands):

Leases with airlines with terms of 10 years and 30 years are terminable by the airline if the airline’s cost per enplaned 

passenger exceeds $25 and $20 (in 1990 dollars), respectively.  Rental rates for airlines are established using the rate making 

methodology whereby a compensatory method is used to set terminal rental rates and a residual method is used to set 

landing fees.  Rentals, fees, and charges must generate gross revenues together with other available funds suffi  cient to meet 

rate maintenance covenants per governing bond ordinances.

Note C – Interfund Receivables, Payables, and Transfers

Tables 14 and 15 refl ect the City’s interfund balances as of December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands):

1. Interfund Payables/Receivables.

These balances result from the time lag between the dates that interfund goods and services are provided or reimbursable 

expenditures occur, transactions are recorded in the accounting system, and payments between funds are made.  In addition, 

some balances result from the overdraft of cash balances in the payable funds.

Table 13

Year
2009 51,806$                  
2010 50,115                    
2011 47,619                    
2012 45,901                    
2013 44,037                    
2014 - 2017 25,955                    
Total 265,433$              

Table 14

Denver 
General Human Bond Non-major Wastewater Airport Non-major Internal 

Receivable Fund Fund Services Projects Governmental Management System Business-type Service Total  
General Fund -$               2,938$        -$               4,390$                  3,056$             17,999$        1,568$               1,645$      31,596$          
Human Services -                 -                    -                 36                          -                         -                      -                          -                 36                    
Non-major Governmental 253            2,299           18              105                        1                        1                     14                       4                2,695              
Wastewater Management 85              -                    -                 -                             -                         25                   18                       -                 128                  
Denver Airport System 281            -                    -                 -                             -                         -                      -                          -                 281                  
Non-major Business-type 31              -                    -                 2                            -                         -                      -                          -                 33                    
Internal Service Funds 2,758        1,212           1                99                          130                   48                   7                         11              4,266              
Total 3,408$    6,449$       19$           4,632$                 3,187$            18,073$       1,607$              1,660$    39,035$        

Payable Fund
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2.  Transfers.

Transfers are used to move revenues from the fund in which the City budget requires collection to the fund required to 

expend the monies, and to move unrestricted revenues collected in the General Fund to fi nance various activities accounted 

for in other funds.

Note D – Capital Assets

Capital asset activity for the year ended December 31, 2008, are shown in Tables 16 and 17:

1.  Governmental Activities.

Table 15

 
General Human Non-major Wastewater Non-major

Transfers In Fund Services Governmental Management Business-type Total  
General Fund -$                       -$                       30,731$           -$                       -$                       30,731$           
Human Services 150                   -                         -                         -                         -                         150                   
Bond  Projects -                         -                         5,520                -                         -                         5,520                
Non-major Governmental 67,391              43                      7,490                15                      250                   75,189              
Internal Service Funds 50                      -                         -                         -                         -                         50                      
Total 67,591$          43$                   43,741$          15$                   250$                 111,640$       

Transfers Out

Table 16

Governmental Activities
For the Year Ended December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands)

January 1 Additions Deletions December 31 
Capital assets not being depreciated:
  Land and land rights 246,273$           1,612$               (1,576)$              246,309$           
  Construction in progress 101,737             208,997             (66,785)              243,949             
Total capital assets not being depreciated 348,010           210,609           (68,361)             490,258           

Capital assets being depreciated:
  Buildings and improvements 1,533,493          39,868               (5,879)                1,567,482          
  Equipment and other 241,380             30,451               (13,659)              258,172             
  Collections 75,094               5,525                  (6,063)                74,556               
  Infrastructure 1,007,409          51,938               (4,320)                1,055,027          
Total capital assets being depreciated 2,857,376       127,782           (29,921)             2,955,237       

Less accumulated depreciation for:
  Buildings and improvements (351,049)            (43,135)              884                     (393,300)            
  Equipment and other (172,486)            (24,643)              10,514               (186,615)            
  Collections (39,593)              (4,260)                6,069                  (37,784)              
  Infrastructure (435,727)            (33,622)              4,320                  (465,029)            
Total accumulated depreciation (998,855)          (105,660)          21,787              (1,082,728)      

Total capital assets being depreciated, net 1,858,521       22,122              (8,134)               1,872,509       
Governmental Activities Capital Assets, net 2,206,531$    232,731$         (76,495)$          2,362,767$    
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2.  Business-type Activities.

3.  Discretely Presented Component Units.  Capital Asset activity for the Water Board and Denver Convention Hotel 

Authority component units is shown in Table 18:

Table 17

Business-type Activities
For the Year Ended December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands)

 
January 1 Additions Deletions December 31

Capital assets not being depreciated:
  Land and land rights 317,866$           3,620$                -$                        321,486$           
  Construction in progress 243,458              145,505             (330,288)            58,675               
Total capital assets not being depreciated 561,324            149,125            (330,288)          380,161           

Capital assets being depreciated:
  Buildings and improvements 1,995,941          37,040                (19,390)              2,013,591          
  Improvements other than buildings 2,578,174          126,550             78,573               2,783,297          
  Machinery and equipment 620,672              83,006                (1,733)                701,945             
Total capital assets being depreciated 5,194,787        246,596            57,450              5,498,833       

Less accumulated depreciation for:
  Buildings and improvements (658,588)            (56,533)              4,202                  (710,919)            
  Improvements other than buildings (786,298)            (69,880)              -                           (856,178)            
  Machinery and equipment (350,859)            (54,879)              1,469                  (404,269)            
Total accumulated depreciation (1,795,745)       (181,292)          5,671                 (1,971,366)      

Total capital assets being depreciated, net 3,399,042        65,304               63,121              3,527,467       
Business-type Activities Capital Assets, net 3,960,366$     214,429$         (267,167)$       3,907,628$    

Table 18

Discretely Presented Component Units
For the Year Ended December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands)

January 1 Additions Deletions December 31 
Capital assets not being depreciated:
  Land and land rights 179,696$           6,585$                (16)$                    186,265$           
  Construction in progress 155,813              -                           (46,497)              109,316             
Total capital assets not being depreciated 335,509            6,585                 (46,513)             295,581           

Capital assets being depreciated:
  Buildings and improvements 437,649              4,372                  (431)                    441,590             
  Improvements other than buildings 1,499,287          83,470                (6,807)                1,575,950          
  Machinery and equipment 200,456              52,539                (2,971)                250,024             
Total capital assets being depreciated 2,137,392        140,381            (10,209)             2,267,564       

Less accumulated depreciation for:
  Buildings and improvements (61,037)               (8,357)                 68                       (69,326)              
  Improvements other than buildings (408,342)            (24,507)              2,249                  (430,600)            
  Machinery and equipment (87,813)               (14,989)              2,349                  (100,453)            
Total accumulated depreciation (557,192)           (47,853)             4,666                 (600,379)          

Total capital assets being depreciated, net 1,580,200        92,528               (5,543)               1,667,185       
Discretely Presented Component Units
   Capital Assets, net 1,915,709$     99,113$            (52,056)$          1,962,766$    1

1Excludes net capital assets of $18,569 of Other Component Units.
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4.  Depreciation Expense.  Depreciation expense that was charged to governmental activities’ functions is shown in Table 

19 (dollars in thousands):

5.  Construction Commitments.  The City’s governmental and business-type activities and component units have entered 

into construction and professional services contracts having remaining commitments under contract as of December 31, 

2008, as shown in Table 20 (dollars in thousands):

The commitments for these funds are not refl ected in the accompanying fi nancial statements. Only the unpaid amounts 

incurred to date for these contracts are included as liabilities in the fi nancial statements.

Note E – Lease Obligations

1.  Capitalized Leases.  The governmental activity capital leases are for various properties including the Wellington Webb 

Municipal Offi  ce Building, 2000 West Third Avenue, the Blair-Caldwell Research Library, the Buell Theatre, the 5440 Roslyn 

maintenance facility property, a jail dorm building, three fi re stations and portions of three parking garages.  The capital 

leases also include certain computer and safety equipment, the Figaro simultext system, snow plows, street sweepers, 

and a production press.  The Water Board leases are for 40% of the storage capacity and 40% of the water rights of 

Ritschard Dam and Wolford Mountain Reservoir, and leases of certain facilities.

Table 19

General government 16,394$               
Public safety 12,828                  
Public works, including depreciation of infrastructure 38,831                  
Human services 789                        
Health 195                        
Parks and recreation 9,766                    
Cultural activities 25,985                  
Community development 75                          
Economic opportunity 7                            
Capital assets held by internal service funds 790                        
Total 105,660$           

Table 20

Governmental Activities:
  Bond Projects 195,357$         
  Entertainment and Culture 2,784                
Total Governmental Activities 198,141$       

Business-type Activities:
  Wastewater Management 11,401$            
  Denver Airport System 207,611            
Total Business-type Activities 219,012$       

Component Units:
  Water Board 135,500$         
Total Component Units 135,500$       
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The City currently leases two City Park parking structures, adjacent to the Denver Museum of Nature and Sciences (DMNS) 

and the Denver Zoo, from Denver Capital Leasing Corporation (DCLC).  Under separate agreements, the DMNS and the Denver 

Zoological Foundation Inc. agreed to increase their admission charges and provide a portion of their admission revenues 

to help make the lease payments.  In 2008, the DMNS collected and remitted $565,257 to the City to be applied to the lease 

payments. The Zoo collected and remitted $638,045.

On October 1, 2008, Civic Center Offi  ce Building, Inc. (CCOB), the Lessor on the City’s capital lease on the Wellington E. Webb 

Municipal Offi  ce Building, refunded the outstanding Series 2003C1-C3 Certifi cates of Participation (COPs) with the Series 

2008A1-A3 (2008A COPs).  The refunding was necessary due to the deteriorating credit rating of the insurer.  Concurrently, 

the City amended its annually renewable lease with CCOB.  The present value of the new lease payments is $9,710,000 higher 

than the present value of the old lease payments. This fi gure does not include interest due to the variable rate nature of the 

lease.

In addition to base rental payments, the lease agreement with CCOB, requires the City to make all payments for any swap 

agreements relating to the Series 2008 A COP’s entered into by the Lessor.  The Lessor has entered into three separate interest 

rate swap agreements requiring payment to the counterparties of a fi xed 3.39% interest rate on the 2008A1 and 2008A2 

associated swaps and 3.13% on the 2008A3 associated swap.  In return, the Lessor receives a fl oating rate set at 68% of LIBOR.  

The interest rate swaps, with amortizing notional amounts equal to the principal of the outstanding 2008A COPs, eff ectively 

fi x the variable rate on the 2008A COPs.  The City’s annual interest expense on the lease is equal to the interest payable on 

the variable rate 2008A COPs, increased or decreased by any payments made or received under the three interest rate swap 

agreements.  In 2008, the City’s net payments to the swap counterparties were $2,926,806.

In 2008, the City entered into a Lease/Lease Back agreement to allow the Trustee on behalf of Denver Botanic Garden Parking 

Facility Leasing Trust to execute and deliver Certifi cates of Participation (Denver Botanic Gardens Parking Facility Project), 

Series 2008B.  Certifi cates in the amount of $17,735,000 were executed and delivered in November 2008, and proceeds of the 

certifi cates are being used to fund the design and construction of a new parking facility at the Denver Botanic Gardens.  The 

Trust has a leasehold interest in the City-owned site of the parking facility that is currently being leased back to the City by 

the Trust. Upon completion of the parking facility, it will also be leased to the City by the Trust.  The Denver Botanic Gardens 

has agreed to implement a fee increase schedule for admissions, membership and concerts in order to generate revenues 

suffi  cient to cover the lease payments.  The certifi cated lease is included in the City’s capital lease information.

The related net book values of plant and equipment under capital lease obligations as of December 31, 2008, are shown in 

Table 21 (dollars in thousands):

Table 21

Governmental Component Unit 
Activities Water Board 

Buildings 351,316$         31,183$           
Land 17,314              -                         
Improvements other than buildings -                          40,766              
Equipment 25,287              -                         
Less accumulated depreciation (75,675)             (22,610)            
Net Book Value 318,242$       49,339$          
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Table 22 is a schedule by year of future minimum lease obligations together with the present value of the net minimum lease 

payments as of December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands):

2. Operating Leases.  The City is committed under various cancelable leases for property and equipment.  These leases 

are considered for accounting purposes to be operating leases. Lease expenses for the year-ended December 31, 2008, 

were approximately $10,954,000, $847,000, and $2,778,000 for the governmental activities, business-type activities, 

and component units, respectively.  The City expects these leases to be replaced in the ordinary course of business with 

similar leases.  Future minimum lease payments should be approximately the same amount.

Note F – Other Liabilities

The Denver Airport System establishes annually, as adjusted semi-annually, airline facility rentals, landing fees, and other charges 

suffi  cient to recover the costs of operations, maintenance, and debt service related to the airfi eld and space utilized by the airlines.  

Any diff erences between amounts collected and actual costs allocated to the airline’s leased space are credited or billed to the 

airlines.  As of December 31, 2008, the Denver Airport System has accrued a liability of $1,184,000 for such amounts due to the 

airlines.

For the years ended December 31, 2000 through 2005, 75% of Net Revenues (as defi ned by bond ordinance) remaining at the 

end of each year is to be credited in the following year to the passenger airlines signatory to use and lease agreements; and 

thereafter it is 50%, capped at $40,000,000.  The Net Revenues credited to the airlines for the year-ended December 31, 2008, were 

$40,000,000 and have been accrued as a liability at year-end.

Note G – Long-Term Debt

1. General Obligation Bonds.  The City issues general obligation bonds to provide for the acquisition and construction of 

major capital facilities.  General obligation bonds have been issued for both governmental and business-type activities.  

General obligation bonds are reported in the business-type funds if they are expected to be repaid from business-type 

fund revenues.

Table 22

Governmental Component Unit 
Activities Water Board 

2009 29,892$            10,599$              
2010 30,481              10,582                
2011 31,854              16,113                
2012 32,504              5,211                   
2013 32,625              5,209                   
2014-2018 162,208            21,633                
2019-2023 137,258            4,500                   
2024-2028 104,718            -                            
2029-2032 78,575              -                            
Total minimum lease payments 640,115          73,847               
Less amounts representing interest (204,809)          (16,311)               
 
Present Value of Minimum Lease Payments 435,306$       57,536$            



Notes to Basic Financial Statements Financial 69

General obligation bonds are direct obligations and pledge the full faith and credit of the City.  These bonds are generally 

issued as 15-year serial bonds, except for refunding issues.  General obligation bonds outstanding, excluding unamortized 

premium of $34,539,902, at December 31, 2008, are shown in Table 23 (dollars in thousands):

On December 31, 2008, the City had $538,230,000 in authorized but unissued general obligation bonds.  Of this amount, 

$26,500,000 is for improvements to the City Zoo, and $511,730,000 is for the Better Denver Bond Projects authorized by the 

Denver voters in November 2007.  Commercial paper notes outstanding in the amount of $38,000,000 are attributed to the 

Better Denver Bonds Projects authorization that will be redeemed with proceeds of the Better Denver general obligation 

bonds as they are issued, beginning in 2009.  The City initiated the use of commercial paper notes to fund the Better Denver 

Bond Projects in order to more closely match incoming funds to project needs, and time the issuance of bonds to market 

conditions.  The initial commercial paper draw was $16,000,000 on May 29, 2008, and another $22,000,000 was drawn on 

August 27, 2008.  The interest rate on the outstanding commercial paper on December 31, 2008, was 0.90%.

In February 2008, the City issued $174,135,000 of Series 2008, General Obligation Bonds, and supplemental “B” interest 

registered coupons for the purpose of fi nancing a portion of the City’s new Justice System Facilities.  The bonds are fi xed rate 

bonds that mature in 2020 and the coupons, totaling $11,785,100, mature in 2008 and 2009.

General obligation bonds have been issued by the Gateway Village General Improvement District; however, these bonds are 

solely the obligation of the District and not the primary government.  These bonds are outstanding at December 31, 2008 in 

the amount of $2,215,000.

Annual debt service requirements to maturity for general obligation bonds are shown in Table 24 (dollars in thousands):

Table 23

Purpose Net Interest Cost Interest Rates Amount 
General government 3.14% to 4.90% 3.00% to 5.50% 551,679$      
Water Board component unit refunding n/a 3.125% to 5.60% 42,725           
Total 594,404$    

Table 24

Governmental Activities Component Unit-Water Board
General Government General Improvement District

Principal 1 Interest Principal Interest Principal 2 Interest 
2009 40,305$          29,586$          365$               87$                  11,555$          2,006$              
2010 29,460            24,465            520                  76                    3,080              1,548                
2011 32,710            23,010            565                  59                    4,265              1,391                
2012 34,500            21,492            325                  39                    1,595              1,178                
2013 33,190            19,822            65                    26                    1,995              1,112                
2014 - 2018 202,724          76,613            375                  69                    6,320              4,409                
2019 - 2023 121,295          39,912            -                       -                       2,365              3,535                
2024 - 2028 57,495            4,347              -                       -                       -                       3,232                
2029 - 2033 -                       -                       -                       -                       11,550            646                    
Total 551,679$     239,247$     2,215$           356$               42,725$        19,057$          

 unamortized premium of $34,540).
2Does not include unamortized discount of ($146) and deferred amount on refunding of ($15).

1Does not include $1,805 and $731 of compound interest on the series 1999A and 2007 mini-bonds respectively (or 
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2. Revenue Bonds.  The City and component units issue bonds and notes where income derived from acquired or 

constructed assets is pledged to pay debt service.  Certain Airport system and Art Museum revenue bonds are subject 

to mandatory redemption requirements in 2009, and subsequent years.  Revenue bonds outstanding, excluding 

unamortized premium (net of discount) of $75,769,000 and deferred amount on refunding of ($297,613,000), at 

December 31, 2008, are shown in Table 25 (dollars in thousands):

Revenue bonds’ debt service requirements to maturity are shown in Tables 26 and 27 (dollars in thousands):

Table 25

Purpose Net Interest Cost Interest Rates Amount 
Excise tax revenue 5.04% to 5.41% 3.75% to 5.00% 87,955$                    
Excise tax refunding 3.40% to 5.11% 3.50% to 5.50% 202,975                    
Wastewater 4.98% 4.25% to 5.50% 24,250                      
Golf 4.80% 4.00% to 5.50% 6,110                        
Airport system 4.15% to 8.02% 3.41% to 7.75% 4,099,775                
Total primary government 4,421,065              
DCCHA component unit 4.125% to 5.25% 355,890                    
Water Board component unit 0.75% to 5.50% 277,490                    
Total 5,054,445$           

Table 26

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities
Golf Enterprise Wastewater Management Denver Airport System

Principal 1 Interest Principal 2 Interest Principal 3 Interest Principal 4 Interest 
2009 14,490$             13,871$                385$                      297$                      1,235$                  1,220$                  100,785$           186,491$             
2010 14,945                13,182                  400                        282                        1,300                     1,167                     112,395              180,539                
2011 16,085                12,422                  425                        260                        1,365                     1,109                     136,200              172,685                
2012 17,085                11,607                  450                        236                        1,430                     1,047                     143,960              163,911                
2013 17,955                10,699                  470                        212                        1,505                     980                        159,635              155,803                
2014 - 2018 95,530                39,143                  2,705                     717                        8,730                     3,661                     819,145              652,189                
2019 - 2023 87,730                15,638                  1,275                     93                          8,685                     1,142                     1,124,915          443,930                
2024 - 2028 27,110                836                        -                              -                              -                              -                              1,184,305          164,860                
2029 - 2033 -                           -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              318,435              45,456                  
2034 - 2038 -                           -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              -                            -                              
Total 290,930$         117,398$            6,110$                 2,097$                 24,250$              10,326$              4,099,775$     2,165,864$        

1Does not include unamortized premium of $12,132 and deferred amount on refunding of ($2,433).
2Does not include unamortized premium of $50.
3Does not include unamortized premium of $68.
4Does not include unamortized premium of $63,519 and deferred amount on refunding of ($295,180).

Table 27

DCCHA Water Board
Principal 1 Interest Principal 2 Interest 

2009 1,960$            17,655$          12,465$          12,668$          
2010 2,800              17,557            21,360            12,072            
2011 3,100              17,417            6,105              10,984            
2012 3,835              17,263            14,560            10,690            
2013 4,335              17,070            15,415            10,037            
2014 - 2018 30,585            81,464            70,050            39,039            
2019 - 2023 50,405            72,297            63,890            24,897            
2024 - 2028 75,410            57,328            24,655            12,778            
2029 - 2033 107,260          35,553            24,550            7,718              
2034 - 2037 76,200            6,294              24,440            2,738              
Total 355,890$     339,898$     277,490$     143,621$     

1Does not include unamortized premium of $8,413 and deferred amount on refunding of ($7,802).
2Does not include unamortized premium of $4,633 and deferred amount on refunding of ($938).

Component Units
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Included in the revenue bonds are certain bonds which bear interest at fl exible or weekly rates and are subject to mandatory 

redemption upon conversion to a diff erent rate type or rate period.  If the bonds are in a weekly (or monthly) mode, the 

bonds are subject to purchase on demand of the holder at a price of par plus accrued interest.  Each series is supported by 

an irrevocable letter of credit or standby bond purchase agreement that contains provisions for a take-out agreement that 

would convert the obligation to an installment loan with the provider of that agreement.  If the take-out agreement were to 

be exercised, interest payments would be required that are expected to be higher than the interest amount on the bonds.  

Table 28 provides details of the irrevocable letters of credit and standby bond purchase agreements (SBPA) that were issued 

as collateral for the commercial paper and demand bonds (dollars in thousands):

As of December 31, 2008, no amounts were outstanding that have been drawn under any of the existing agreements.

On November 2, 2008 the Airport issued $92,600,000 and $200,000,000 of Airport System Revenue bonds Series 2008C1 and 

2008C2-C3 in a variable rate mode for the purpose of refunding the Series 2000C and 2000B bonds.

On June 24, 2008, the Airport issued $81,800,000 of Airport System Revenue bonds Series 2008B in a variable rate mode 

for the purpose of refunding Series 2005C1-C2 bonds which were trading at above market rate because of distressed bond 

insurance.

The Airport drew $50 million on March 28, 2008 and $50 million April 1, 2008, of Commercial Paper to current refund 

the Series 2001C1-C2 Auction Rate Securities (“ARS”).  On April 14, 2008, the Airport issued $221,215,000, $111,000,000, 

$181,965,000 and $94,660,000 of Series 2008A1-A4 bonds in a fi xed rate and term rate mode for the purposes of current 

refunding $100,000,000 of the Series 2001C3-C4, $267,625,000 of the Series 2002A1-A3, $85,275,000 of the Series 2005B1-B2 

Airport Revenue bonds that were variable rate bonds currently in an auction rate mode, and to current refund $144,000,000 

of the Series 2004A-B bonds variable rate bonds.  The Series 2001C1-C4 Airport Revenue Bonds which were Auction Rate 

Securities and associated with 1999, 2002, and 2007A swap agreements were refunded on March 28, 2008, April 1, 2008, and 

April 14, 2008, with Commercial Paper and a portion of the Series 2008A1-A4 variable rate bonds which will bear interest 

initially in a term mode.  The refunding transactions were necessitated by the deterioration of the credit rating of certain bond 

insurers.  Debt service savings and economic gains resulting from the refunding transactions are not meaningful because all 

debt was variable rate debt.

For detailed information on individual bond issues see “OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULES – Combined Schedule of Bonds 

Payable, Commercial Paper, and Escrows.”

Table 28

Par Amount Letter of Credit Annual Letter of Credit or
Bonds Outstanding or SBPA Amount Commitment Fee SBPA Expiration Date
Excise Tax Series 2001B 74,000$                   74,827$                   0.225% May 1, 2009 1

Airport Series 1992F 24,800                      25,183                      0.163% October 2, 2014
Airport Series 1992G 20,600                      20,918                      0.163% October 2, 2014
Airport Series 2002C 38,400                      38,993                      0.163% October 2, 2014
Airport Series 2007G1-G2 148,500                   150,209                   0.280% November 13, 2014
Airport Series 2008B 78,800                      79,707                      0.800% June 30, 2011
Airport Series 2008C1 92,600                      93,909                      1.100% November 4, 2011
Airport Series 2008C2-C3 200,000                   202,827                   0.800% November 3, 2011
Airport 2008 Commercial Paper 100,000                   127,200                   0.280% August 17, 2010

1On May 1, 2009, the $74,000,000 outstanding Series 2001B Excise Tax bonds were refunded and the SBPA expired.
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3. Other Debt.  DURA component unit tax increment bonds, note payable, and loan payable exclusive of unamortized loss 

on refunding of $4,987, at December 31, 2008, are comprised of the following individual issues shown in Table 29 (dollars 

in thousands):

Debt service requirements to maturity for DURA’s note and bond issues are shown in Table 30 (dollars in thousands):

4. Indentures and Reporting Requirements.  The City is subject to a number of limitations and restrictions contained in 

various indentures.  Such limitations and covenants include: continued collection of pledged revenues, segregation of 

pledged revenues, and maintenance of specifi ed levels of bond reserve funds, permissible investment of bond proceeds 

and pledged revenues, and ongoing disclosure to the secondary bond market in accordance with the Securities and 

Exchange Commission’s Rule 15c2-12.  The City believes it is in compliance with all signifi cant covenants.

5.  Notes payable.  The Denver Airport System entered into Master Installment Purchase Agreements with Siemens Financial 

Services, GE Capital Public Finance Inc., Koch Financial Corporation, and Chase Equipment Leasing Inc. to fi nance various 

capital asset purchases.  The payment schedule relating to the loan requirements as of December 31, 2008, is shown in 

Table 31 (dollars in thousands):

The City has a note payable with JP Morgan Chase Bank of New York in the amount of $14,532,000 as of December 31, 2008.  

This represents Housing and Urban Development (HUD) loans that are due regardless of amounts received from borrowers.

Table 29

Purpose Interest Rates Amount 
Series 20022A Variable less than 12.0% 4,590$             
Series 2001 A-1 Variable 186,000           
Series 2004 B-1 8.000% 100,000           
Series 2006A Variable 10,395             
Series 2006B Variable 11,050             
Series 2006C Variable 19,390             
Series 2006D Variable 2,265               
Series 2007 5.25% 4,260               
Note payable 6.00% 1,286               
Total 339,236$      

Table 30

Year Principal Interest 
2009 11,922$               11,257$               
2010 13,722                 10,815                 
2011 15,674                 10,291                 
2012 17,373                 9,728                    
2013 19,040                 9,139                    
2014 - 2018 104,200               36,294                 
2019 - 2023 98,695                 18,704                 
2024 - 2028 58,610                 1,737                    
Total 339,236$           107,965$           

Table 31

Year Principal Interest 
2009 14,368$              2,337$                
2010 14,552                 1,767                   
2011 12,283                 1,176                   
2012 6,683                   796                      
2013 5,327                   551                      
2014 - 2016 10,435                 667                      
Total 63,648$             7,294$               
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6. Line of Credit.  JP Morgan Chase, a private corporation, has extended a Line of Credit Agreement of $8,000,000 to the 

City to provide loans for aff ordable housing and economic development purposes.  The line of credit balance outstanding 

as of December 31, 2008, is $770,000 and represents a liability to JP Morgan Chase.

7. Changes in Long-term Liabilities.  Long-term liability activity for the year ended December 31, 2008, is shown in Table 

32 and 33 (dollars in thousands):

The legal liability, compensated absences, and other accrued liabilities in the governmental activities are generally liquidated 

by the General Fund.  The other governmental funds include a note payable liquidated by the Community Development 

special revenue fund and a claims payable liquidated by the Workers’ Compensation internal service fund.  The amount 

available for long-term debt in the debt service funds for bonds payable and in the special revenue fund was $62,186,000.

Table 32

Due within 
Governmental Activities January 1 Additions Deletions December 31 one year 
Legal liability 1,520$                 4,441$                5,961$               -$                        -$                   
Line of credit 735                      35                        -                           770                     -                      
Compensated absences:
  Classified service employees - 63,357                 32,482                28,606               67,233               5,312             
  Career Service employees - 40,208                 32,856                29,720               43,344               3,587             
Claims payable 32,496                 9,391                   8,863                  33,024               11,371          
General obligation bonds1 424,793              174,802              45,380               554,215             40,305          
Commercial paper notes -                            38,000                -                           38,000               38,000          
GID general obligation bonds 2,520                   -                            305                     2,215                  365                
Excise tax revenue bonds 304,105              -                            13,175               290,930             13,871          
Capitalized lease obligations2 416,914              280,780              262,388             435,306             13,421          
Unamortized premium 35,646                 17,644                6,618                  46,672               5,784             
Unamortized gain on refunding 2,642                   -                            210                     2,432                  210                
Other governmental funds - note payable 14,038                 3,214                   2,720                  14,532               -                      
Total Governmental Activities 1,338,974$      593,645$         403,946$         1,528,673$    132,226$   

1Additions and deletions to general obligation bonds include accretion of $666.
2Deletions include $151 paid by an internal service fund.

Table 33

Due within 
January 1 Additions Deletions December 31 one year 

Business-type Activities
Wastewater Management
  Revenue bonds 25,430$                 -$                             1,180$                    24,250$                 1,235$                    
  Unamortized premium 73                            -                               5                              68                            -                               
  Compensated absences 2,271                      318                          170                          2,419                      658                          
Total Wastewater Management 27,774                   318                          1,355                      26,737                   1,893                      
Denver Airport System:  
  Revenue bonds 4,198,850              1,083,240              1,182,315              4,099,775              100,785                 
  Unamortized premium 58,422                    12,657                    7,560                      63,519                    -                               
  Deferred amount on refunding (303,121)                20,942                    13,001                    (295,180)                -                               
  Notes payable 61,671                    15,295                    13,318                    63,648                    14,368                    
  Compensated absences 7,291                      846                          319                          7,818                      2,098                      
Total Denver Airport System 4,023,113            1,132,980            1,216,513            3,939,580            117,251                
Nonmajor enterprise funds:
  Revenue bonds 6,480                      -                               370                          6,110                      385                          
  Unamortized premium 59                            -                               9                              50                            -                               
  Compensated absences 784                          53                            68                            769                          154                          
Total nonmajor enterprise funds 7,323                      53                             447                          6,929                      539                          
Total Business-type Activities 4,058,210$         1,133,351$         1,218,315$         3,973,246$         119,683$             

Major Component Units:
Revenue bonds1 641,695$               2,230$                    6,239$                    637,686$               12,465$                 
General obligation bonds2 61,451                    -                               18,887                    42,564                    11,555                    
Capitalized lease obligations 64,576                    -                               7,040                      57,536                    7,392                      
Increment bonds and notes payable3 338,963                 182,963                 187,677                 334,249                 11,922                    
Customer advances 51,363                    9,932                      14,759                    46,536                    -                               
Compensated absences 6,837                      2,922                      2,572                      7,187                      2,754                      
Other post employment benefits 3,591                      1,266                      -                               4,857                      -                               
Other long term liabilities 2,493                      103                          -                               2,596                      -                               
Total Major Component Units 1,170,969$         199,416$             237,174$             1,133,211$         46,088$                

1Includes unamortized premium of $13,046; and deferred loss on refunding of ($8,740).
2Includes unamortized discount of ($146) and deferred loss on refunding of ($15).
3Includes deferred amount on refunding of ($4,987).



74 City and County of Denver Notes to Basic Financial Statements

8.  Swap Agreements.  On September 6, 2006, the City entered into interest rate swap agreements with Morgan Stanley 

Capital Services, Inc. and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. to protect against interest rates rising prior to the anticipated 

issuance of its 2008 general obligation bonds.  The notional amount of each swap was $91.5 million.  No cash was paid or 

received by either party when the swaps were initiated.  On February 20, 2008, concurrent with the issuance of the Series 

2008 General Obligation bonds, there was a mandatory unwind of the swap agreements.  At the time of the unwind, the 

swaps had negative value to the City, resulting in total payments to the counterparties of $13,420,000 that were recorded 

as interest expense.

The Denver Airport System has entered into interest rate swap agreements in order to lock in interest rate savings and 

protect against rising interest rates.  Table 34 provides a profi le of the terms of the Airport’s swap agreements (all rates as of 

December 31, 2008):

As rates vary, variable rate bond interest payments and net swap payments will vary. As of December 31, 2008, debt service 

requirements of the related variable rate debt and net swap payments, assuming current interest rates remain the same, for 

their terms, are refl ected in Table 35 (dollars in thousands).

Variable Rate Bonds and Swap payments are calculated using rates in eff ect on December 31 2008.

Table 34

CP, 2002C   
Associated Debt 2008B 1 2006A 2007F-G 2008C2-3 2008C1 2

Payment to counterparty 6.503% 4.562% 4.009% 4.740% 4.760% 
Payment from counterparty (1.232%) (4.391%) (0.305%) (1.000%) (0.405%)
Net swap interest rate 5.271% 0.171% 3.704% 3.740% 4.355% 
Associated bond interest rate 1.217% 4.950% 2.617% 1.000% 0.950% 
Synthetic interest rate 6.488% 5.121% 6.321% 4.740% 5.305% 

1Swaps currently associated by the Airport with $100mm CP, $78.8mm Series 2008B, and a portion of the Series 2002C Bonds.
2Associated 1998 Swap with Lehman was terminated 1/8/09 and replaced with 2009 Swap Agreement.  Not reflected here.

Table 35

Interest Rate 
Year Principal Interest Swaps Net Total 
2009 5,575$                 28,462$              36,209$             70,246$             
2010 1,730                   28,387                 36,172               66,289               
2011 2,385                   28,355                 36,132               66,872               
2012 2,540                   28,398                 36,296               67,234               
2013 6,750                   28,229                 35,947               70,926               
2014 - 2018 251,005               128,596              170,166             549,767             
2019 - 2023 604,930               82,533                 93,405               780,868             
2024 - 2025 253,795               10,036                 10,134               273,965             
Total 1,128,710$      362,996$          454,461$         1,946,167$    
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Table 36 provides a summary of the Airport’s interest rate swap transactions (dollars in thousands):

Payments by the Airport System to counterparties relating to these swap agreements, including termination payments, are 

Subordinate Obligations, subordinate to debt service payments on the Airport System’s Senior Bonds, and on parity with the 

Airport System’s Subordinate Bonds.  The year-end fair values were calculated using the mid-market LIBOR and BMA swap 

curves as of December 31, 2008.  Fair values represent the diff erence between the present value of the fi xed payments and 

the present value of the fl oating payments, at forward fl oating rates as of December 31, 2008.  When the present value of 

payments to be made by the Airport System exceeds the present value of payments to be received, the swap has a negative 

value to the Airport System.  When the present value of payments to be received by the Airport System exceeds that of 

payments to be made, the swap has a positive value to the Airport System.

Table 36
Bond/Swap Variable

Trade Effective Notional Termination Associated Payable Receivable Fair Values

Counterparty Date Date Amount Date Debt Series Swap Rate Swap Rate 12/31/08

1998 Swap Agreements

Goldman Sachs Capital Markets, L.P. 1/22/98 10/4/00 100,000$      11/15/25 2008C2-C3 4.7600% Bond Rate (32,002)$        

Societe Generale, New York Branch 1/22/98 10/4/00 100,000$      11/15/25 2008C2-C3 4.7190% Bond Rate (31,527)           

Lehman Brothers Special Financing, Inc. 1/22/98 10/4/00 100,000$      11/15/25 2008C1 4.7600% Bond Rate (13,853)           

1999 Swap Agreements

Goldman Sachs Capital Markets, L.P. 7/22/99 10/4/01 100,000$      11/1/22 2 5.6179% BMA (30,962)           

Merrill Lynch Capital Services, Inc. 7/22/99 10/4/01 50,000$         11/1/22 2 5.5529% BMA (15,139)           

RFPC, LTD. 7/22/99 10/4/01 50,000$         11/1/22 2 5.6229% BMA (15,507)           

2002 Swap Agreements

Goldman Sachs Capital Markets, L.P. 4/11/02 4/15/02 100,000$      11/1/22 2 BMA 76.33% LIBOR (6,628)             

RFPC, LTD. 4/11/02 4/15/02 100,000$      11/1/22 2 BMA 76% LIBOR (6,721)             

2005 Swap Agreements

Royal Bank of Canada 4/14/05 11/15/06 55,917$         11/15/25 2006A 3.6560% 70% LIBOR (11,309)           

JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. 4/14/05 11/15/06 55,917$         11/15/25 2006A 3.6874% 70% LIBOR (11,506)           

Jackson Financial Products, LLC 4/14/05 11/15/06 111,834$      11/15/25 2006A 3.6560% 70% LIBOR (22,617)           

Piper Jaffray Financial Products, Inc. 4/14/05 11/15/06 55,917$         11/15/25 2006A 3.6560% 70% LIBOR (11,309)           

2006B Swap Agreements

Royal Bank of Canada 8/9/06 11/15/06 55,917$         11/15/25 2006A BMA 4.0855% 8,332               

JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. 8/9/06 11/15/06 55,917$         11/15/25 2006A BMA 4.0855% 8,332               

Jackson Financial Products, LLC 8/9/06 11/15/06 111,834$      11/15/25 2006A BMA 4.0855% 16,664            

Piper Jaffray Financial Products, Inc. 8/9/06 11/15/06 55,917$         11/15/25 2006A BMA 4.0855% 8,332               

2006A Swap Agreements

Bear Stearns Capital Markets, Inc.1 6/1/06 11/15/07 180,850$      11/15/25 2007F-G 4.0085% 70% LIBOR (39,724)           

GKB Financial Services Corp. 6/1/06 11/15/07 60,117$         11/15/25 2007F-G 4.0085% 70% LIBOR (13,241)           
 

2007A Swap Agreements

Bear Stearns Capital Markets, Inc.1 12/21/07 5/1/10 150,000$      11/1/22 2 76.165% 1M 65.55% 10Y 191                  
LIBOR LIBOR

Royal Bank of Canada 12/21/07 5/1/10 50,000$         11/1/22 2 76.165% 65.55% 10Y 64                    
LIBOR LIBOR

2008A Swap Agreements

Royal Bank of Canada 12/18/08 12/18/08 120,233$      11/15/25 2007F-G 4.0080% 1 Month (26,955)           
70% LIBOR

TOTAL (247,085)$    

1On May 30, 2008, the Bear Stearns Companies Inc., merged with JP Morgan & Company.  JP Morgan & Company has indicated its intention to, with agreement from the City, novate the swap with 
Bear Stearns Capital Markets, Inc. to JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A.  As of December 31, 2008, this novation has yet to occur.
2Swaps are currently associated with Commercial paper Series 2008B and a portion of Series 2002C.
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The following risks are generally associated with swap agreements:

Credit Risk – All of the Airport System’s swap agreements rely upon the performance of swap counterparties.  The Airport 

System is exposed to the risk of these counterparties being unable to fulfi ll their fi nancial obligations to the Airport System.  

The Airport System measures the extent of this risk based upon the credit ratings of the counterparty and the fair value of the 

swap agreement.  If the Airport System delivers a surety policy or other credit support document guaranteeing its obligations 

under the swap agreement that is rated in the highest rating category of either Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s Investors Service 

or Fitch, for any swap agreement, the counterparty to that agreement is obligated to either be rated, or provide credit support 

securing its obligations under the swap agreement rated in the highest rating category of either Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s 

Investors Service or Fitch; or, under certain circumstances, provide collateral.  The Airport System is obligated, under the 

swap agreements, to provide such surety policy or credit support if the unsecured and unenhanced ratings of the Airport 

System’s Senior Bonds is below any two of BBB by Standard & Poor’s, Baa2 by Moody’s Investors Service or BBB by Fitch.  As 

of December 31, 2008, the ratings of the Airport System’s Senior Bonds were A+ by Standard & Poor’s (with a stable outlook), 

A1 by Moody’s Investors Service (with a stable outlook) and A+ by Fitch (with a stable outlook).  Therefore, no surety policy or 

credit has been provided to the counterparties by the Airport System.  Failure of either the Airport System or the counterparty 

to provide credit support or collateral, as described in the swap agreements, is a termination event under the swap 

agreements (see termination risk below).  The ratings of the counterparties, or their credit support providers, as of December 

31, 2008, are shown in Table 37:

As of December 31, 2008, there was no risk of loss for the swap agreements that had negative fair values.  For the 
swap agreements that had positive fair values, the risk of loss is the amount of the derivative’s fair value.

Table 37

S&P Moody's Fitch
Bear Stearns Capital Markets, Inc. (Bear Stearns Companies)

(JP Morgan & Company) 1 A+ Aa2 AA-
GKB Financial Services Corporation II, Inc.

(Societe Generale New York Branch) AA- A1 A+
Goldman Sachs Capital Markets, L.P. 

(Goldman Sachs Group, Inc.) A A1 AA-
Jackson Financial Products, LLC

(Merrill Lynch & Co., Inc.) A A2 A+
JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. AA- Aaa AA-

LOOP Financial Products, LLC
(Deutsche Bank, AG, New York Branch) A+ Aa1 AA-

Merrill Lynch Capital Servies, Inc. 
(Merrill Lynch & Co., Inc.) A A2 A+

Piper Jaffray Financial Products, Inc.
(Morgan Stanley Capital Services, Inc.) A A2 A

RFPC, LTD (Ambac Assurance Corp.) A Baa1 not rated

Royal Bank of Canada AA- Aaa AA

Societe Generale, New York Branch AA- Aa2 AA-

Ratings of the Counterparty or
its Credit Support ProviderCounterparty (Credit Support Provider)

1On May 30, 2008, the Bear Stearns Companies Inc. merged with JP Morgan Chase & Company.  JP Morgan 
Chase & Company has indicated its intention to, with agreement from the City,  novate the swap with Bears 
Stearns Capital Markets Inc. to JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A.  As of December 31, 2008, this novation has yet to 
occur.
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Termination Risk – Any party to the Airport System’s swap agreements may terminate the swap if the other party fails to 

perform under the terms of the contract.  Additionally, the Airport System may terminate any of its swap agreements at any 

time at its sole discretion.  Further, certain credit events can lead to a termination event under the swap agreements (see 

Credit Risk above).  If, at the time of termination, the swap has a negative fair value, the Airport System could be liable to the 

counterparty for a payment equal to the swap’s fair value.  If any of the Airport System’s swap agreements are terminated, the 

associated variable rate bonds would either no longer be hedged with a synthetic fi xed interest rate or the nature of the basis 

risk associated with the swap agreement may change.  The Airport System is not aware of any existing event that would lead 

to a termination event with respect to any of its swap agreements.

Basis Risk – Each of the Airport System’s swap agreements are associated with certain debt obligations or other swaps.  The 

Airport System pays interest at variable interest rates on some of the associated debt obligations and associated swaps.  

The Airport System receives variable payments under some of its swap agreements.  To the extent the variable rate on the 

associated debt or the associated swap paid by the Airport System is based on an index diff erent than that used to determine 

the variable payments received by the Airport System under the swap agreement, there may be an increase or decrease in the 

synthetic interest rate intended under the swap agreement.

The Denver Urban Renewal Authority (DURA) has entered into interest rate swap agreements in order to lock in interest rate 

savings and protect against rising interest rates.  Table 38 provides the swap rates as of December 31, 2008.

As of December 31, 2008, debt service requirements of the variable-rate debt under swap agreements and net swap 

payments, assuming current interest rates remain the same, for their term are summarized in Table 39 (dollars in thousands).  

As rates vary, variable-rate bond interest payments and net swap payments will vary.  

Table 38

2006 2008A-1  2008A-2
Fixed payment to counterparty 3.816% 5.259% 4.598%

 
Variable payment from counterparty -0.9 -0.9 -0.9

(USD-SIFMA Municipal Swap Index)

Net interest rate swap payments 2.916% 4.359 3.698

Variable-rate bond coupon payment 1.186 1.185 1.185

Synthetic interest rate on bonds 4.102% 5.544% 4.833%

 

Table 39

  Interest Rate  
Principal Interest Swaps, Net Total

2009 9,105                      2,716                      8,614                      20,435                   
2010 9,750                      2,606                      8,299                      20,655                   
2011 10,980                   2,484                      7,946                      21,410                   
2012 12,785                   2,339                      7,525                      22,649                   
2013 23,450                   2,174                      7,044                      32,668                   
2014 - 2018 48,625                   8,248                      27,295                   84,168                   
2019 - 2023 58,065                   5,013                      16,413                   79,491                   
2024 - 2027 56,435                   1,008                      3,188                      60,631                   
Total 229,195$             26,588$                86,324$                342,107$             
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The terms of the swap agreements are summarized in Table 40 (dollars in thousands).

Under the various swap agreements, DURA is the fi xed-rate payer at the rates listed in the “payable swap rate” column in the 

table above and the counterparties are the fl oating rate payers.

The year-end fair values were calculated using the mid-market BMA swap curve as of December 31, 2008.  Fair values 

represent the diff erence between the present value of the fi xed payments and the present value of the fl oating payments, at 

forward fl oating rates as of December 31, 2008.

The following risks are generally associated with the swap agreements:

Credit Risk – All of DURA’s swap agreements rely upon the performance of the respective swap counterparties.  DURA is 

exposed to the risk of these counterparties being unable to fulfi ll their fi nancial obligations to DURA.  DURA measures the 

extent of this risk based upon the credit ratings of each counterparty (or, with respect to a swap agreement for which the 

counterparty’s payment obligations are guaranteed by another entity, the credit ratings of such guarantor) and the fair value 

of the swap agreement.  The credit risk with respect to the Series 2008A-1 Lehman swap has been realized by its bankruptcy, 

as discussed below.  The ratings of the other counterparties, or their credit support providers, as of December 31, 2008, are 

shown in Table 41:

In September 2008, Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc., the guarantor of the obligations of Lehman Brothers Special Financing, 

Inc. (LBSF) under the 2008A-1 swap, fi led for federal bankruptcy protection.  The bankruptcy constituted an event of default, 

and gave DURA the authority to terminate the swap. DURA had not exercised this right as of December 31, 2008.  The event 

of default also gave DURA the right to suspend making regularly-scheduled payments under the swap agreement, provided 

that the unpaid amounts would be required to be paid, with interest, upon any termination of the swap, along with any 

termination payment.  DURA and LBSF have exercised their right to suspend making payments. DURA has collected and 

accounted for the amounts of such payments and $111,957 has been accrued for the suspended payments to LBSF as of 

December 31, 2008.

Table 40

Variable
Trade Effective Notional Termination Associated Payable Receivable Fair Values

Counterparty Date Date Amount Date Debt Series Swap Rate Swap Rate 12/31/08
2006 Swap Agreements
  Royal Bank of Canada 10/25/06 10/25/06 43,195$        9/1/13 2006A,B,C,D 3.816% SIFMA (2,793)$              

2008A-1 Swap Agreements
  Merrill Lynch Capital Services, Inc. 5/11/04 5/1/07 33,642          12/1/24 2008A-1 5.259% SIFMA (7,631)                
  Lehman Brothers 5/11/04 5/1/07 19,229          12/1/24 2008A-1 5.259% SIFMA (4,362)                
  Bank of America, N.A. 5/11/04 5/1/07 19,229          12/1/24 2008A-1 5.259% SIFMA (4,362)                

2008A-2 Swap Agreements
  Merrill Lynch Capital Services, Inc. 1/28/05 6/1/08 56,950          12/1/25 2008A-2 4.598% SIFMA (11,488)              
  Merrill Lynch Capital Services, Inc. 1/28/05 6/1/08 56,950          12/1/25 2008A-2 4.598% SIFMA (11,488)              

Total 229,195$   (42,124)$          

Table 41

Counterparty (Credit Support Provider)
S&P Moody's Fitch

Royal Bank of Canada AA- Aaa AA
Merrill Lynch Capital Services, Inc. A+ A1 A+
Bank of America, N.A. A+ Aa2 A+

Ratings of the Counterparty or
its Credit Support Provider
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As of December 31, 2008, for the other swaps, there was no risk of loss to DURA since the fair values of the swap agreements 

are negative.

Termination Risk – Any party to DURA’s swap agreements may terminate the swap if the other party fails to perform under 

the terms of the contract.  Additionally, DURA may terminate any of its swap agreements at any time at its sole discretion, 

provided that if DURA would be required to make a termination payment to the applicable counterparty upon such 

termination.

If any of DURA’s swap agreements are terminated, and the associated bonds are then in variable rate mode, such bonds would 

no longer have the benefi t of the interest rate risk hedge represented by such swap agreement.  DURA is not aware of any 

current circumstances that would lead to a termination event with respect to any of such swap agreements.

Basis Risk – Each of the Series 2006, Series 2008A-1 and Series 2008A-2 Swap Agreements provide for the applicable 

counterparty to pay variable payments to DURA based on the SIFMA Municipal Swap Index.  To the extent that the rate 

produced by such index from time to time does not equal the interest rate on the associated Series 2006 or Series 2008A 

Bonds, as applicable, there will either be a net loss or net benefi t to DURA.

IV. Other Note Disclosures 

Note A – Risk Management

The City is exposed to various risks of losses related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets; errors and omissions; 

and natural disasters.  In addition, the City is party to numerous pending or threatened lawsuits under which it may be required 

to pay certain amounts upon fi nal disposition of these matters.  The City has historically retained these risks, except where it has 

determined that commercial insurance is more cost benefi cial or legally required.  The City has covered all claim settlements 

and judgments out of its General Fund resources, except where specifi cally identifi able to an enterprise fund.  The City currently 

reports substantially all of its risk management activities, except workers’ compensation (see Note IV-C), in its General Fund.  

Claims expenditures and liabilities are reported when it is probable that a loss has occurred and the amount of that loss can be 

reasonably estimated. Current liabilities are reported when the liability has matured.  These losses include an estimate of claims 

that have been incurred but not reported.

The Lowry Landfi ll, which accepted hazardous waste from the late 1960s to 1980, is listed on the national Superfund list.  This 

means that the contamination at the site will be cleaned up under the auspices of the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency.  

Under federal law, the City, as owner and operator of the facility is one of the parties responsible for cleanup of the site.  The City’s 

share of the remaining costs for cleanup could be incurred over the next 5 to 30 years.  The City’s liability for a portion of the 

cleanup costs is probable, but cannot be reasonably estimated.

With respect to matters expecting to be settled subsequent to 2008, the City Attorney estimates there is no liability determined as 

probable (in accordance with FASB Statement No. 5) and incurred but not reported claims and judgments at December 31, 2008.  

The City Attorney also estimates that pending cases having a reasonably possible likelihood of resulting in an additional liability 

aggregating approximately $22,090,000 at December 31, 2008.  This amount is not recorded in the accompanying fi nancial 

statements since, in the opinion of management and the City Attorney; it is not probable that a loss has been incurred.

Changes in the long-term legal liability during the past two years are shown in Table 42 (dollars in thousands):

Table 42

2008 2007 
Beginning balance - January 1 1,520$                 2,500$                 
Current year claims and changes in estimates 4,441                   581                      
Claims paid (5,961)                  (1,561)                  
Ending Balance - December 31 -$                           1,520$                
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Pursuant to Colorado law, if a monetary judgment is rendered against the City, and the City fails to provide for the payment of 

such judgment, the Board of County Commissioners must levy a tax (not to exceed 10 mills per annum) upon all of the taxable 

property within the City for the purpose of making provision for the payment of the judgment.  The City must continue to levy 

such tax until the judgment is discharged. Such mill levy is in addition to all other mill levies for other purposes.  The Colorado 

Governmental Immunity Act establishes limits for claims made against governmental entities.  These limits are $150,000 per injury 

or $600,000 per occurrence.

See Note IV-F-5 regarding Denver Airport System related litigation.

Note B – Pollution Remediation

Eff ective January 1, 2008, the City implemented the provisions of GASB Statement No. 49, Accounting and Financial Reporting for 

Pollution Remediation Obligations.  The City has determined that the implementation of GASB 49 had no material eff ect on prior 

year fi nancial statements.

The City has four underground storage tanks that leaked and are under remediation.  Funds spent on remediation are partially 

reimbursed up to 50 percent of the cost by the Colorado Petroleum Storage Tank Trust.  As of December 31, 2008, the City accrued 

a liability, measured at its expected amount, using the expected cash fl ow technique, of $528,890 for its share of remediation 

costs related to these underground storage tanks.  The City determined the liability amount by estimating a reasonable range of 

potential outlays, with no amount within the range considered a better estimate than any other amount.

The Environmental Protection Agency has listed a large area in north Denver on the National Priorities List of Superfund Sites 

because of lead, arsenic and cadmium contamination found in soils in residential neighborhoods.  EPA has divided the Site into 

three operable units. Operable Unit 1 (OU1) consists of the contaminated residential soils in north Denver.  Operable Unit 2 (OU2) 

is the Grant-Omaha Smelter Site.  Operable Unit 3 (OU3) is the Argo Smelter Site.

ASARCO, Inc. fi nished the remediation of Operable Unit 1 in 2006 and has not claimed that the City is responsible for any of those 

costs; therefore management believes the possibility that the City has any liability associated with OU1 is remote.

The EPA has named the City a Potentially Responsible Party (PRP) at OU2 as the current owner of part of the site where the 

former Grant-Omaha Smelter was located. Denver has entered into an Administrative Order on Consent to perform a remedial 

investigation and feasibility study and has paid $18,000 dollars of EPA’s past costs. Whether this site is contaminated or whether it 

will require remediation can not be determined until completion of the remedial investigation. The City’s responsibility for some 

of the investigation and clean up costs is probable; however at this early stage in the process it is not possible to estimate the 

costs associated with this site, therefore no liability has been accrued.  ASARCO, Inc. is another signifi cant PRP at the site. ASARCO, 

Inc. fi led bankruptcy and The City fi led a contingent claim for environmental remediation costs and reached a settlement with 

ASARCO for $640,000, which has been approved by the bankruptcy court.

The City has no connection to OU3 and EPA has not asserted that the City has any responsibility for investigating or cleaning it up, 

therefore management believes the possibility is remote that the City has any liability associated with OU3.

Additionally, the Denver Airport System has accrued a liability of $19,365,644 as of December 31, 2008, in connection with its 

remediation of friable asbestos in the soil at the City’s Stapleton International Airport property.  Under an insurance policy with 

American International Specialty Lines Insurance, Denver Airport System has recorded a receivable of $32,256,896 as of December 

31, 2008, for insurance recoveries from past and future remediation of the Stapleton International Airport property.
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Note C – Workers’ Compensation

The City has a Workers’ Compensation self-insurance trust established in accordance with State Statutes to be held for the benefi t 

of the City’s employees.  This trust is included in the Workers’ Compensation internal service fund.

The Workers’ Compensation internal service fund compensates City employees, or their eligible dependents, for injuries as 

authorized by the State Workers’ Compensation law, in addition to maintaining in-house records of claims.  The Workers’ 

Compensation program is part of the City’s Risk Management Offi  ce, which also provides safety training and loss prevention for all 

City departments and agencies.

The Department of Labor and Employment of the State of Colorado establishes the amount of funding required each year for the 

City to maintain its self-insured permit.  The requirement is calculated using the average amount of claims paid over the previous 

fi ve years plus the outstanding liability for claims as of the end of the previous year.  This requirement at December 31, 2008, for 

2009, was $14,534,000.  The Workers’ Compensation internal service fund has current assets and appropriations set aside in 2008 

to satisfy this requirement.  These funds may only be used for payment of worker’s compensation benefi ts and administrative 

costs.

The City has purchased reinsurance coverage in order to reduce its risk.  For the period from January 1, 2008 through December 

31, 2008, the self-retention amount was $2,500,000 for all employees.  The City had no settlements in the past three years that 

exceeded its self-retention levels.

Liabilities are reported when it is probable that a loss has occurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated, 

and includes an amount for claims that have been incurred but not reported.  Claim liabilities are calculated considering the 

eff ects of infl ation, recent claim settlement trends, and other economic and social factors. The liability is reported in the Workers’ 

Compensation internal service fund and was discounted for investment income.  Changes in the liability during the past two years 

are shown in Table 43 (dollars in thousands):

Note D – Water Board Risk Management

The Water Board is exposed to various risks of losses including general liability (limited under the Colorado Governmental 

Immunity Act to $150,000 per person and $600,000 per occurrence), property damage, and employee life, medical, dental, and 

accident benefi ts.  The Water Board has a risk management program that includes self-insurance for liability, employee medical, 

long-term disability, dental, and vision.  The Water Board carries commercial property insurance for catastrophic losses, including 

fl ood, fi re, earthquakes, and terrorism for scheduled major facilities: the Westside Complex, Marston Treatment Plant and Lab, 

Moff at Treatment Plant, Foothills Water Treatment Plant, and the Recycling Plant.  The Water Board carries limited insurance for 

other nonscheduled miscellaneous locations.  The Water Board also carries commercial insurance for employee life, accident, 

Table 43

2008 2007 
Beginning balance, undiscounted - January 1 32,496$               31,258$              
Current year claims and changes in estimates 18,374                 19,647                 
Claims paid (8,863)                  (8,648)                  
Ending balance undiscounted 42,007                42,257                
Less discount (8,983)                  (9,761)                  
Ending Balance - December 31 33,024$             32,496$             
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short-term disability, and worker’s compensation.  Workers’ compensation insurance is under a retrospectively rated policy 

whereby the initial premiums are adjusted based on actual experience during the period of coverage.  Settled claims have not 

exceeded commercial insurance coverage in any of the past three years.

Claims expenses and liabilities are reported when it is probable that a loss has occurred and the amount of the loss can be 

reasonably estimated.  Premiums on retrospectively rated policies are accrued based on the ultimate cost of the experience to 

date.  These losses include an estimate of claims that have been incurred but not reported.  At December 31, 2008, claims liabilities 

consisting of medical and dental benefi ts were $2,659,000.  Changes in the balances of these liabilities are shown in Table 44 

(dollars in thousands):

Note E – Subsequent Events

1.  Denver Airport System.  There have been various adjustments of airport swap counterparties or credit support 

providers’ credit ratings since December 31, 2008. As of May 11, 2009, Societe Generale was rated  A+ by S & P and by 

Fitch Ratings, Merrill Lynch & Co., Inc. was rated A2 by Moodys and A by S & P, JP Morgan Chase Bank was rated Aa1 by 

Moodys, Goldman Sachs Group was rated A+ by Fitch Ratings, and Ambac Assurance Corp. was rated Ba3 by Moodys.

The 1998 airport swap with Lehman Brothers Special Financing was terminated in January, 2009 and replaced with a new 

swap agreement with Loop Financial Products, with Deutsche Bank, AG, New York Branch providing credit support.

2. Bond Issuance and Commercial Paper.  On April 14, 2009, the City issued an additional $15 million in commercial paper 

notes.  The currently outstanding $53 million of commercial paper notes mature June 1, 2009, at an interest rate of 0.5%.

On May 1, 2009, the City issued $73,630,000 of Series 2009A Excise Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds, with a fi xed interest rate 

of 6.0% and a premium of $6,158,852, for the purpose of current refunding the $74,000,000 outstanding variable rate Series 

2001B Excise Tax Revenue Bonds.

Note F – Contingencies

1. Legal Debt Margin.  Per the City Charter, the City’s indebtedness for general obligation bonds shall not exceed three 

percent of actual value as determined by the last fi nal assessment of the taxable property within the City.  At December 

31, 2008, the City’s General obligation debt outstanding was $624,219,000 and the City’s legal debt margin was 

$1,788,986.

2.  Prior Years’ Defeased Bonds.  At various dates in prior years, the City and certain component units have placed proceeds 

from bond issues and cash contributions in irrevocable refunding escrow accounts.  The amounts deposited in the 

irrevocable escrow accounts are invested in U. S. Treasury obligations that, together with interest earned thereon, would 

provide amounts suffi  cient for payment of all principal and interest of the bond issues on each remaining payment 

date.  The likelihood of the earnings and principal maturities of the U. S. Treasury obligations not being suffi  cient to pay 

the defeased bond issues appears remote.  Accordingly, the escrow accounts and outstanding defeased bonds are not 

included in the accompanying fi nancial statements.  Defeased bonds principal outstanding at December 31, 2008, for the 

City and Water Board component unit was $213,020,000 and $9,455,000, respectively.

Table 44

2008 2007 
Beginning balance - January 1 1,452$                 1,966$                 
Current year claims and changes in estimates 11,635                 10,310                 
Claims paid (10,428)                (10,824)               
Ending Balance - December 31 2,659$                1,452$                
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3.  Grants and Other.  Under the terms of federal and state grants, periodic audits are required and certain costs may 

be questioned as not being appropriate expenditures under the terms of the grants.  Such audits could lead to 

reimbursement to the grantor agencies.  City management believes disallowances, if any, will be immaterial to its 

fi nancial position and activities.

The City is responsible for administering certain federal and state social services programs for which the related revenue and 

expenditures are not included in the accompanying fi nancial statements since the state now makes the grant disbursements.

Table 45 lists Denver County electronic benefi t transfers (EBT) authorizations, warrant expenditures, and total expenditures 

associated with the Human Services special revenue fund for the year ended December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands):

4.  Conduit Debt Obligations.  From time to time, the City issues industrial revenue bonds, single-family mortgage revenue 

bonds, multi-family mortgage revenue bonds, construction loan revenue bonds, and special obligation revenue bonds 

to provide fi nancial assistance to private-sector entities for the acquisition and construction of private, industrial, and 

commercial facilities deemed to be in the public interest.  The bonds are secured by the property fi nanced and are 

payable solely from payments received on the underlying mortgage loans.  Upon repayment of the bonds, ownership 

of the acquired facilities transfers to the private-sector entity served by the bond issuance.  Not the City, the state, nor 

any political subdivision thereof is obligated in any manner for repayment of the bonds.  Accordingly, the bonds are 

not reported as liabilities in the accompanying fi nancial statements.  As of December 31, 2008, the aggregate principal 

amount payable for the bonds was approximately $266,086,000.

Table 45

City EBT
Authorized Plus

City EBT City Share of Expenditures by Expenditures by Total
Program Authorizations Authorizations City Warrant City Warrant Expenditures
Colorado Works 11,070$               2,603$                  24,540$               35,610$               27,143$               
Child Care 22,619                  1,288                    4,222                    26,841                  5,510                    
Child Welfare 42,823                  7,516                    39,199                  82,022                  46,715                  
County Administration -                             -                             16,006                  16,006                  16,006                  
Non-allocated Programs 8                            2                            152                        160                        154                        
Core Services 8,059                    1,963                    478                        8,537                    2,441                    
HB 1414 Activities -                             -                             970                        970                        970                        
Child Support Enforcement -                             -                             12,753                  12,753                  12,753                  
Low Income Energy Assistance 6,114                    -                             595                        6,709                    595                        
Aid to the Blind (1)                           -                             -                             (1)                           -                             
Adult Foster Care 16                          1                            -                             16                          1                            
Aid to Needy and Disabled 4,489                    898                        -                             4,489                    898                        
Home Care Allowance 2,944                    147                        -                             2,944                    147                        
Old Age Pension 20,590                  -                             559                        21,149                  559                        
Colorado Refugee Services -                             -                             56                          56                          56                          
Food Assistance Benefits 68,474                  -                             -                             68,474                  -                             
Food Assistance Job Search -                             -                             1,354                    1,354                    1,354                    
Child Support Grants -                             -                             250                        250                        250                        
Foster Care Celebration Program -                             -                             2                            2                            2                            
Title IV-B Sub Part 2 - PSSF 217                        -                             434                        651                        434                        
Title IV-E Independent Living 66                          -                             167                        233                        167                        
ADP Pass Thru -                             -                             688                        688                        688                        
County Only Pass Thru -                             -                             9,220                    9,220                    9,220                    
TANF Collects-EBT (169)                      (34)                         -                             (169)                      (34)                         
Federal Grants -                             -                             6,490                    6,490                    6,490                    
Total 187,319$           14,384$              118,135$           305,454$           132,519$           1

1Does not include audit adjustments, TANF Collections - IV-D Retained, Medicaid Collections and programs not settled in CFMS, 
 with the exception of Federal grants, which are also captured in the CAFR.  It also excludes County Wide Cost Allocation.
 Pass Thru, as these amounts are not retained by Human Services and not earned by expenses incurred by Human Services.
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To fi nance the acquisition and construction of various facilities at Denver International Airport, the City issued three series 

of Special Facility Revenue Bonds.  These bonds are special limited obligations of the City, payable and secured by a pledge 

of certain revenues to be received from lease agreements for these facilities.  The bonds do not constitute a debt or pledge 

of the full faith and credit of the City or the Airport System, and accordingly, have not been reported in the accompanying 

fi nancial statements.  As of December 31, 2008 Special Facility Revenue Bonds outstanding totaled $309,900,000.

5.  Denver Airport System.  The City and Adams County entered into an intergovernmental agreement for Denver 

International, dated April 21, 1988 (the Intergovernmental Agreement). The Intergovernmental Agreement establishes 

maximum levels of noise that should not be exceeded on an average annual basis at various grid points surrounding the 

Airport.  Penalties must be paid to Adams County when these maximums are exceeded.

There is no noise penalty due for 2008.

The Airport System is involved in several other claims and lawsuits and is the subject of certain other investigations.  The 

Airport System and its legal counsel estimate that the ultimate resolution of these matters will not materially aff ect the 

accompanying fi nancial statements of the Airport System.

Under the terms of the Federal grants, periodic audits are required and certain costs may be questioned as not being 

appropriate expenditures under the terms of the grants.  Such audits could lead to reimbursement to the grantor agencies.  

The Airport System management believes disallowances, if any will be immaterial to its fi nancial position and activities of the 

Airport.

6. Environmental Services.  State and federal laws will require the City to close the Denver Arapahoe Disposal Site (DADS) 

once its capacity is reached and to monitor and maintain the site for 30 subsequent years.  The contracted operator is 

responsible for all closure and post-closure costs for the landfi ll’s individual cells while they are under contract to operate 

the landfi ll.  However, the ultimate responsibility rests with the City as owner of the facility.  The City contractually shifted 

this fi nancial responsibility to its operator as described below. 

Eff ective October 1, 1997, the City renegotiated its contract with Waste Management of Colorado, Inc. (WMC), the current 

operator of DADS.  As a result, the City assigned its responsibility for all closure and post-closure costs to WMC.  To cover these 

costs, WMC has provided a performance bond of $2,250,000, provided a corporate guarantee from their parent company, 

Waste Management, Inc (WMI), and posted a fi nancial assurance plan with the State of Colorado (including an insurance 

certifi cate of $11,051,964 as of March, 2009).  Due to this assignment of closure and post-closure costs to WMC, the City no 

longer recognizes the related closure and post-closure costs liability in its fi nancial statements.

7.  Denver Urban Renewal Authority.  In connection with DURA’s development of the Denver Dry Building, DURA has 

guaranteed certain loans made to the Denver Building Housing, Ltd. by the Colorado Housing and Finance Authority 

with an outstanding balance of $2,741,824 at December 31, 2008.  In addition, DURA has guaranteed all obligations of 

the Denver Dry Development Corporation as general partner, under the terms and conditions of the limited partnership 

agreement of the Denver Building Housing, Ltd.  No amounts have been recorded as a liability in the fi nancial statements, 

as DURA management believes the possibility of having to make payments under these guarantees is remote.

8. Tabor.  At the general election held November 3, 1992, the voters of the State approved an amendment to the Colorado 

Constitution limiting the ability of the State and local governments, such as the City, to increase revenues, debt and 

spending, and restricting property, income and other taxes.  In addition, the amendment requires that the State and local 

governments obtain voter approval to create any “multiple fi scal year direct or indirect debt or other fi nancial obligation 

whatsoever without adequate present cash reserves pledged irrevocably and held for payments in all future fi scal years.”  
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The amendment excludes from its restrictions the borrowings and fi scal operations of “enterprises.”  Enterprises are 

defi ned to include government-owned businesses authorized to issue their own revenue bonds and receiving less than 

10% of their revenues in grants from all Colorado State and local governments combined.  The amendment also requires 

the establishment of an “Emergency Reserve” equal to three percent of fi scal year spending excluding debt service for 

all years subsequent to 1994.  The City has established an emergency reserve of $32,033,000.  The amendment is also 

applicable to several component units, which have established emergency reserves of $255,000.

In November 2005, local voters approved Referred Measure 1B to allow the City to retain any revenue collected in excess of 

the limits established by the state amendment to the constitution for ten fi scal years beginning with fi scal year 2005 and 

thereafter retain and spend any excess revenues up to the amount of the revenue cap as defi ned.

There are numerous uncertainties about the interpretation of the amendment and its application to particular governmental 

entities and their operations.  It is possible that the constitutionality of the amendment as applied in some situations may be 

challenged on various grounds, including the argument that the amendment confl icts with other constitutional provisions 

and violates the protections aff orded by the federal constitution against impairment of contract.

Note G – Deferred Compensation Plan

1.  Description of the Plan.  The Deferred Compensation Plan (Plan) was adopted by the City to provide a means by which 

public employees could defer a portion of their current income and related income taxes to future years.  Under Section 

457 of the Internal Revenue Code, amounts deferred and income earned on those funds are not taxed until made 

available to the participant.  The Plan’s publicly available fi nancial report can be obtained by contacting the City of Denver 

Controller’s Offi  ce at 201 West Colfax Avenue, Department 1109, Denver, Colorado, 80202.

2.  Administration of the Plan.  The Deferred Compensation Governing Committee of the City manages the Plan.  The 

Committee has designated two third-party administrators for the Plan to account for all deferred compensation, 

withdrawals, interest income credited, and the individual balance for each participant.  In addition, the administrators 

execute individual participant agreements and provide Plan information and counseling to all eligible employees.

3. Investments.  Investments are recorded at fair value. In compliance with the City Charter, the Deferred Compensation 

Governing Committee has approved certain options for investment.  All investments are transferred to mutual investment 

funds off ered by the Hartford Variable Annuity Life Insurance Company, to an annuity contract program with the 

Prudential Insurance Company of America, or to a retirement trust investment fund with ICMA Retirement Trust.  The Plan 

provides for self-directed investments by the participants.

4. Contributions.  Participation in the Plan is voluntary and is open to all City employees.  The City does not make any 

contributions.  The maximum deferral in any one year is generally limited to 100 percent of a participant’s pre-deferred 

taxable income or $15,500 for 2008.  Those who are age 50 and older may save an additional $5,000 per year.  However, 

special provisions, applicable during the last three taxable years before a participant attains normal retirement age under 

the Plan, or any year thereafter prior to the participants’ separation from service, may increase the annual maximum up to 

$31,000 for 2008.

5.  Withdrawals.  Withdrawals from the Plan may be made upon retirement, termination of employment with the City, or 

in hardship cases as approved by the Administrator.  Upon death, amounts credited to the participant are paid to the 

benefi ciary designated by the participant.
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Eligible participants may elect the Systematic Withdrawal Option, purchase an annuity, or receive a lump-sum distribution.  

The Systemic Withdrawal Option allows eligible participants to withdraw specifi ed amounts from their account at regular 

intervals.  The balance of their account remains in the pool of Plan assets and continues to be invested as directed by 

the participant.  The annuity option allows eligible participants to purchase a payment stream for a period certain or for 

the lifetime of the annuitant.  Contracts purchased under this annuity option remain as assets of the Plan.  The periodic 

distributions are accounted for as withdrawals in the year disbursed.

6. Assets.  All amounts of compensation deferred under the Plan, all property and rights purchased with those amounts, 

and all income attributable to those amounts, property, or rights are held in trust by the City for the exclusive benefi t of 

the participants and their benefi ciaries. The assets of the Plan are reported as an other employee benefi t trust fund of the 

City.

7. Plan Termination and Amendments.  The City can at any time elect to amend, modify, or terminate the Plan.  However, 

notice must be given to all participants at least 45 days prior to the eff ective date of an amendment.  No amendments will 

deprive the participants of any benefi ts they were entitled to prior to the change.  If the Plan is terminated, all amounts 

then credited to the participants are to be paid out by the administrators under the normal withdrawal requirements and 

procedures.

8. Component Units.  Several component units off er plans similar to the City’s which are also qualifi ed under Section 457 of 

the Internal Revenue Code.

Note H – Pension Plans

The City has two material pension plans covering substantially all employees of the primary government, as follows:

Denver Employees Retirement Plan• 

State of Colorado - Fire and Police Pension Plan• 

The majority of the City’s employees are covered under the Denver Employees Retirement Plan; fi remen and policemen are 

covered under the State of Colorado - Fire and Police Pension Plan.  In addition to the two material plans off ered, several 

component units off er various types of pension plans, which include deferred annuity plans and defi ned contribution plans.

1. Plan Descriptions.  The following are brief descriptions of the retirement plans.  Plan participants should refer to the 

appropriate source documents or publicly available fi nancial reports for more complete information on the plans.

The Denver Employees Retirement Plan (DERP) is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defi ned benefi t plan established by 

the City to provide pension and post-retirement health benefi ts for its employees.  The DERP is administered by the DERP 

Retirement Board in accordance with sections 18-401 through 18-430.7 of the City’s Revised Municipal Code.  Amendments to 

the plan are made by ordinance. These Code sections establish the plan, provide complete information on the DERP, and vests 

the authority for the benefi t and contribution provisions with the City Council. The DERP Retirement Board acts as the trustee 

of the plan’s assets.  As of January 1, 2008, the date of the last actuarial valuation, the plan was under-funded; however, there 

is no Net Pension Obligation reported because the actuarial valuation adjusts contributions in the ensuing year to fully fund 

the Plan.  The Board monitors the Plan continually to ensure an appropriate level of funding.

DERP prepares its fi nancial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 

America.  The Plan is accounted for using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting.
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All full-time fi re fi ghters and police offi  cers of the City participate in the State of Colorado - Fire and Police Pension Plan (State 

Plan), a cost-sharing multiple-employer public employee retirement system. Authority for the State Plan, including benefi t 

and contribution provisions, is derived from Title 31, Articles 30, 30.5 and 31 of the Colorado Revised Statutes.  The plan is 

amended by statute. The plan is affi  liated with and administered by the Fire and Police Pension Association (FPPA).

Each plan issues a publicly available fi nancial report that includes fi nancial statements and required supplementary 

information of that plan. Those reports are available by contacting:

Denver Employees Retirement Plan Fire and Police Pension Association
777 Pearl Street 5290 DTC Parkway, Suite 100
Denver, Colorado 80203 Greenwood Village, Colorado 80111

2. Pension Plans’ Funding Policy and Annual Pension Cost.  For DERP, the City contributes 8.50% of covered payroll and 

employees make a pre-tax contribution of 2.50% in accordance with Section 18-407 of the Revised Municipal Code of 

the City.  The City’s contributions to DERP for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006 were $41,313,000 

$38,862,000, and $36,036,000, respectively, which equaled the required contributions each year.

For FPPA, covered employees contribute at the rate of at least 8% of base salary.  The City is required to provide level dollar 

funding at a minimum of $27,894,000 each year until there is no longer any unfunded actuarial liability for police offi  cers 

and fi re fi ghters hired before April 8, 1978.  The City’s contributions to FPPA for employees hired before April 8, 1978, for the 

years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 were $30,135,266, $30,353,579, and $29,659,628, respectively, which was 

over 100% of the required contributions.  The City also made contributions for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007, 

and 2006 for police offi  cers and fi re fi ghters hired on or after April 8, 1978, in the amounts of $12,443,683, $11,728,730, and 

$10,977,086, respectively.  There are no long-term contracts for contributions to the State Plan.  The City’s annual pension cost 

for the current year and related contribution information for DERP (plan totals) is shown in Table 46, 47 and 48 (dollars in 

thousands):

Table 46

DERP
DERP Health Benefits

Actuarially determined contribution
rates (percentage of covered payroll):

Employer 7.75% 0.73%
Plan members 2.27% 0.22%

Annual pension costs $54,668 $5,211
Total contributions made $57,167 $5,437
Actuarial valuation date 1/1/08 1/1/08
Actuarial cost method Projected unit credit Projected unit credit
Amortization method Level dollar, Level dollar,

open basis open basis
Remaining amortization period 30 years 30 years
Asset valuation methods 5-year smoothed mkt. 5-year smoothed mkt.
Actuarial assumptions:

Investment rate of return 8.00% 8.00%
Projected salary increases 3.0-6.3% 3.0-6.3%

Includes inflation at 3.00% 0%
Cost of living adjustment None None
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Note I – Change in Reporting Entity

The Denver Preschool Program, Inc. (DPP) has been deemed a component unit of the City because the Mayor appoints six of the 

seven DPP board members and City Council appoints the remaining member.  To refl ect the change in reporting entity, DPP is 

presented as a discretely presented component unit as of and for the year ended December 31, 2008.  Net assets for the City’s 

discretely presented component units as of January 1, 2008, have been restated in the amount of $9,113,000 to report DPP’s net 

assets as of that date. 

 *  *  *  *  *

Table 47

December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands)

Annual Actuarial Required Percentage of Net Pension
Year Contribution (ARC) 1 ARC Contributed Obligation

DERP 2006 53,428$                                   92.2% -$                                            
2007 50,536                                      100.0% -                                              
2008 54,668                                      100.0% -                                              

DERP Health Benefits 2006 5,292$                                      99.5% -$                                            
2007 5,475                                        100.0% -                                              
2008 5,211                                        100.0% -                                              

1Employers made contributions based on the legally required rates.

Three-year Trend Information

Table 48

Defined Benefit Pension Plans Schedule of Funding Progress
December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands)

 Unfunded
Actuarial Accrued Unfunded (Excess) Actuarial

Actuarial Actuarial Value Liability-Projected (Excess) Actuarial Funded Covered Accrued Liab. as a
Valuation Date of Assets Unit Credit Accrued Liability Ratio Payroll % of Covered Payroll

DERP
January 1, 2006                1,735,209                         1,782,505                           47,296 97.3%               495,285 9.5%

January 1, 2007                1,837,476                         1,862,773                           25,297 98.6%               499,463 5.1%

January 1, 2008                1,950,011                         1,985,651                           35,641 98.2%               545,835 6.5%

DERP Health Benefits
January 1, 2006                      90,228                            123,775                           33,547 72.9%               495,285 6.8%

January 1, 2007                      93,089                            127,133                           34,044 73.2%               499,463 6.8%

January 1, 2008                      96,457                            128,607                           32,150 75.0%               545,835 5.9%
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Required Supplementary Information Budgetary Comparison Schedule - 
General Fund and Human Services Special Revenue Fund
December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands)

Variance with 
Original Final Actual Final Budget 

Revenues
Taxes 578,170$           582,984$           573,915$           (9,069)$               
Licenses and permits 24,833                20,047                27,763                7,716                   
Intergovernmental revenues 27,257                26,973                32,107                5,134                   
Charges for services 149,677              148,506              137,160              (11,346)               
Investment and interest income 9,453                   8,323                   11,692                3,369                   
Fines and forfeitures 40,237                41,497                38,416                (3,081)                 
Contributions -                            -                            11                        11                        
Other revenue 13,402                16,454                8,652                   (7,802)                 
Total Revenues 843,029            844,784            829,716            (15,068)             

Budget Basis Expenditures
General government 212,384              186,489              177,559              8,930                   
Public safety 412,899              422,877              424,884              (2,007)                 
Public works 82,484                83,479                81,710                1,769                   
Human services -                            -                            -                            -                            
Health 43,061                43,061                42,514                547                      
Parks and recreation 49,620                51,418                50,375                1,043                   
Cultural activities 32,617                32,574                32,531                43                        
Community development 17,535                17,739                17,209                530                      
Total Budget Basis Expenditures 850,600            837,637            826,782            10,855               

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
budget basis expenditures (7,571)                 7,147                   2,934                   (4,213)                 

 
Other Financing Sources (Uses)  
Insurance recoveries -                            -                            74                        74                        
Certificate of participation issued -                            -                            9,710                   9,710                   
Proceed from sale of asset -                            -                            -                            -                            
Transfers in 21,177                26,377                30,731                4,354                   
Transfers out (31,731)               (67,592)               (67,591)               1                           
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (10,554)             (41,215)             (27,076)             14,139               

Excess of revenues and other financing sources
over budget basis expenditures and 
other financing uses (18,125)$           (34,068)$           (24,142)               9,926$               

Add grantor expenditures -                            
Net change in fund balances (24,142)               
Fund balance - January 1 195,591              
Fund Balance - December 31 171,449$         

See notes to required supplementary information.

Budget
General Fund
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Variance with 
Original Final Actual Final Budget 

-$                         -$                         46,176$              46,176$              
-                            -                            -                            -                            
-                            -                            80,388                80,388                
-                            -                            2,655                   2,655                   
-                            -                            6                           6                           
-                            -                            75                        75                        
-                            -                            1,616                   1,616                   
-                            -                            160                      160                      
-                             -                             131,076            131,076            

-                            -                            -                            -                            
-                            -                            -                            -                            
-                            -                            -                            -                            

169,366              175,977              162,630              13,347                
-                            -                            -                            -                            
-                            -                            -                            -                            
-                            -                            -                            -                            
-                            -                            -                            -                            

169,366            175,977            162,630            13,347               

-                            -                            (31,554)               31,554                

-                            -                            6                           (6)                         
-                            -                            -                            -                            
-                            -                            -                            -                            
-                            -                            150                      (150)                     

(43)                       (43)                       (43)                       -                            
(43)                       (43)                       113                      (156)                    

(43)$                    (43)$                    (31,441)               31,398$            
18,874                

(12,567)               
20,993                
8,426$               

Budget
Human Services Special Revenue Fund
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BUDGETARY INFORMATION

The City adheres to the following procedures in establishing the budgetary data for governmental fund types refl ected in the 

fi nancial statements:

1. Formal budgetary integration for expenditures is employed during the year for the general, special revenue, and capital 

projects funds except for certain special assessment projects and general improvement district funds.  Formal budgetary 

integration is not employed for debt service funds, and certain special assessment projects and general improvement 

district funds included in capital projects and debt service funds, because eff ective budgetary control is alternatively 

achieved through bond and general obligation bond indenture provisions.

2. Budgets for appropriation in the general, Human Services special revenue, and capital projects funds are adopted on a 

basis consistent with GAAP.  The General Fund and Human Services special revenue fund legally adopt budgets on an 

annual basis for expenditures.  All other special revenue funds and the capital projects funds adopt budgets on a project 

length basis.

3. On or before July 1, heads of all City departments and agencies submit requests for appropriations to the budget offi  cer 

who compiles the requests and submits a comprehensive budget request document to the Mayor.  Thereafter, on or 

before September 15 of each year, the Mayor briefs the City Council on the tentative revenue and expenditure plans for 

the ensuing year.  After receiving and considering City Council’s recommendations, the Mayor prepares and submits to 

the City Council, on or before the third Monday in October of each year, a proposed budgetary report which includes all 

projected revenues and expenditures, the amount to be raised by taxation to pay interest on general obligation bonded 

indebtedness, and the amounts to be expended during the ensuing year for capital improvement projects identifying the 

sources of revenue for fi nancing such projects.  Upon receipt of the proposed budget, the City Council publishes a notice 

that the budget is open for inspection by the public and that a public hearing on the proposed budget will be held by no 

later than the fourth Monday in October.  After the public hearing and consideration is given to the input by the public, 

the City Council, not later than the second Monday in November, adopts the budget by passage of an ordinance.

4. Authorization to transfer budgeted amounts between departments (appropriations) within any fund or revisions that 

alter the total expenditures of any fund must be approved by the City Council.  Management can transfer budgeted 

amounts between line items within departments (appropriations).  The legal level of budgetary control is established and 

maintained at the funded project level for special revenue and capital projects funds and at the department level for all 

other funds.  Budgeted amounts are as originally adopted and as amended by the City Council throughout the year.

5. Unencumbered appropriations in the General Fund and Human Services special revenue fund lapse at year-end.  The 

unencumbered appropriations in the remaining special revenue funds and capital projects funds do not lapse at year-

end, but terminate upon expiration of the grant or project fi scal year or term.



GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS



NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS  

Special revenue funds are operating funds used to account for the proceeds of specifi c revenue sources that are restricted for 
specifi c purposes other than special assessments or major capital projects.

General Government - • to account for the proceeds of restricted revenue not specifi cally accounted for in another special revenue fund.

Public Safety - • to account for the proceeds of restricted revenue to be used for public safety purposes.

Health - • to account for the proceeds of restricted revenue to be used for expenditures in connection with health related purposes and 
activities.

Culture and Recreation - • to account for the proceeds of restricted revenue to be used in providing culture and recreation services.

Community Development -•  to account for the proceeds of restricted revenue to be used for community development purposes and 
activities.

Economic Opportunity - • to account for the proceeds of restricted revenue to be used in providing economic opportunity services.

Special Funds -•  to account for resources restricted by agreement for various purposes.

DEBT SERVICE FUNDS 

Debt service funds are used to account for the payment of principal and interest on long-term debt.  Debt Service revenues are 
from taxes and other operating revenues, some of which are pledged specifi cally to repay certain outstanding bond issues.

Bond Principal -•  to account for resources used for the payment of principal on governmental long-term debt.

Bond Interest -•  to account for resources used for the payment of interest on governmental long-term debt.

Excise Tax Revenue Bond - • to account for the accumulation of funds for the payment of principal and interest on the Excise Tax Revenue 
bonds.

General Improvement District - • to account for the fi nancial activities associated with the payment of principal and interest on General 
Improvement District general obligation bonds.

CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS 

Capital projects funds are used to account for the acquisition and construction of major capital facilities other than those fi nanced 
by proprietary funds and trust funds.

Winter Park Capital Fund - • to account for fi nancial resources from the Winter Park Trust.

Capital Improvements - • to account for fi nancial resources segregated for the acquisition of major capital projects of the City other than 
those fi nanced by bond projects, other capital projects, enterprise funds, and internal service funds.

Conservation Trusts - • to account for the proceeds from State Lottery Funds, investment earnings, and refunds; all used for parks and 
recreation capital improvements.

Other Capital Projects -•  to account for fi nancial resources segregated for the fi nancing of major capital projects for which grant or other 
funds will be used.

Entertainment and Culture -•  to account for the fi nancing of improvements and maintenance deemed to benefi t properties against which 
special assessments are levied.

Special Assessments -•  to account for the fi nancing of improvements and maintenance deemed to benefi t properties against which special 
assessments are levied. 

General Improvement District -•  to account for the fi nancial resources segregated for the fi nancing of improvements of properties with the 
general improvement district.

PERMANENT FUND 

Cableland Trust - • to account for resources restricted by ordinance to be used to maintain the residence know as Cableland.

GOVERNMENTAL INDIVIDUAL FUND SCHEDULES AND STATEMENTS
General Fund and Human Services Special Revenue Fund -•  Schedules of Expenditures Compared with Authorizations.

General Fund - • comparative Balance Sheet and Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance.



This page left blank intentionally.

  Financial 93



94 City and County of Denver 

Combining Balance Sheet - Nonmajor Governmental Funds
December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands)

 
Special Debt Capital Cableland

Revenue Service Projects Trust Total

Assets
Cash on hand 4,587$              -$                       -$                       -$                       4,587$              
Cash and cash equivalents 73,119              57,956              69,581              883                   201,539           
Receivables (net of allowances  

for uncollectibles of $49,776):  
Taxes 32,559              80,196              50,955              -                         163,710           
Special assessments -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         
Notes 83,174              -                         -                         -                         83,174              
Accounts 28,818              -                         6                        -                         28,824              
Accrued interest 388                   206                   277                   53                      924                   

Interfund receivable 2,695                -                         -                         -                         2,695                
Due from other governments 35,251              -                         4,355                -                         39,606              
Prepaid items and other assets 102                   -                         -                         -                         102                   
Restricted assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 48,251              -                         87                      3,000                51,338              
Assets held for disposition 5,743                -                         -                         -                         5,743                

Total Assets 314,687$       138,358$       125,261$       3,936$            582,242$       

Liabilities and Fund Balances
Liabilities:

Vouchers payable 23,646$           -$                       11,479$           -$                       35,125$           
Accrued liabilities 1,071                15                      -                         -                         1,086                
Due to taxing units 569                   -                         -                         -                         569                   
Interfund payable 4,614                -                         18                      -                         4,632                
Deferred revenue 69,756              77,891              50,739              -                         198,386           
Advances 3,504                -                         -                         -                         3,504                

Total Liabilities 103,160          77,906            62,236            -                          243,302          

Fund Balances:
Reserved for:

Notes receivable 83,174              -                         -                         -                         83,174              
Prepaid items and other assets 102                   -                         -                         -                         102                   
Assets held for disposition 5,743                -                         -                         -                         5,743                
Emergency use 30,018              -                         15                      -                         30,033              
Debt service:  

Long-term debt 1,734                40,717              72                      -                         42,523              
Interest -                         19,735              -                         -                         19,735              

Unreserved:  
Designated for subsequent years' expenditures -                         -                         57,629              -                         57,629              
Undesignated:  

Special revenue funds 90,756              -                         -                         -                         90,756              
Capital projects funds -                         -                         5,309                -                         5,309                
Permanent fund -                         -                         -                         3,936                3,936                

Total Fund Balances 211,527          60,452            63,025            3,936               338,940          

Total Liabilities and Fund Balances 314,687$       138,358$       125,261$       3,936$            582,242$       
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Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances -
Nonmajor Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands)

Special Debt Capital Cableland  
Revenue Service Projects Trust Total

Revenues
Taxes:

Facilities development admission -$                      3,056$             6,960$             -$                      10,016$           
Lodgers 15,387             23,760             -                         -                         39,147             
Occupational privilege -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         
Property 33,603             84,192             48,135             -                         165,930           
Sales 12,012             25,197             -                         -                         37,209             
Specific ownership -                         -                         54                     -                         54                     
Telephone 6,710                -                         -                         -                         6,710                

Special assessments -                         -                         1,394                -                         1,394                
Licenses and permits 1,601                -                         -                         -                         1,601                
Intergovernmental revenues 119,814           -                         15,077             -                         134,891           
Charges for services 48,063             -                         1,616                -                         49,679             
Investment and interest income 4,213                3,240                3,629                710                   11,792             
Fines and forfeitures 2,978                -                         4                        -                         2,982                
Contributions 5,652                -                         1,743                -                         7,395                
Other revenue 31,125             -                         183                   -                         31,308             
Total Revenues 281,158         139,445         78,795            710                   500,108         

Expenditures
Current:

General government 79,501             -                         2,207                -                         81,708             
Public safety 110,144           -                         122                   -                         110,266           
Public works -                         -                         34,975             -                         34,975             
Health 9,457                -                         220                   -                         9,677                
Parks and recreation 45,066             -                         5,185                -                         50,251             
Cultural activities 7,224                -                         1,004                -                         8,228                
Community development 20,589             -                         10                     -                         20,599             
Economic opportunity 31,486             -                         -                         -                         31,486             

Principal retirement 8,664                58,860             -                         -                         67,524             
Interest 15,091             47,081             109                   -                         62,281             
Capital outlay -                         -                         39,317             -                         39,317             
Total Expenditures 327,222         105,941         83,149            -                          516,312         

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures (46,064)            33,504             (4,354)              710                   (16,204)            

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Sale of capital assets (58)                    -                         2,584                -                         2,526                
Capital leases 20,780             -                         -                         -                         20,780             
Bond premium (discount) (237)                  -                         -                         -                         (237)                  
Insurance recoveries 6                        -                         -                         -                         6                        
Transfers in 66,002             41                     9,146                -                         75,189             
Transfers out (4,814)              (30,235)            (8,531)              (161)                  (43,741)            
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 81,679            (30,194)          3,199               (161)                 54,523            

Net change in fund balances 35,615             3,310                (1,155)              549                   38,319             
Fund balances - January 1 175,912           57,142             64,180             3,387                300,621           

Fund Balances - December 31 211,527$      60,452$         63,025$         3,936$            338,940$      
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Combining Balance Sheet - Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds
December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands)

General Public
Government Safety Health

Assets
Cash on hand -$                              576$                        -$                              
Cash and cash equivalents 20,021                     20,275                     -                                 
Receivables (net of allowances for uncollectibles of $48,598)

Taxes 1,929                       30,630                     -                                 
Notes 15,127                     -                                 -                                 
Accounts 341                           1,495                       -                                 
Accrued interest 92                             56                             -                                 

Interfund receivable 926                           63                             15                             
Due from other governments 2,243                       6,798                       2,445                       
Prepaid items and other assets -                                 -                                 -                                 
Restricted assets:  

Cash and cash equivalents 30,018                     -                                 -                                 
Assets held for disposition -                                 -                                 -                                 

Total Assets 70,697$                  59,893$                  2,460$                    

Liabilities and Fund Balances
Liabilities:

Vouchers payable 3,594$                     9,289$                     421$                        
Accrued liabilities 34                             166                           18                             
Due to taxing units -                                 569                           -                                 
Interfund payable 17                             1,758                       1,342                       
Deferred revenue 324                           33,503                     20                             
Advances -                                 -                                 -                                 

Total Liabilities 3,969                       45,285                    1,801                       

Fund Balances:
Reserved for:

Notes receivable 15,127                     -                                 -                                 
Prepaid items and other assets -                                 -                                 -                                 
Assets held for disposition -                                 -                                 -                                 
Emergency use 30,018                     -                                 -                                 
Debt service:

Long-term debt -                                 -                                 -                                 
Unreserved - undesignated 21,583                     14,608                     659                           
Total Fund Balances 66,728                    14,608                    659                           

Total Liabilities and Fund Balances 70,697$                  59,893$                  2,460$                    
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Culture and Community Economic Special
Recreation Development Opportunity Funds Total

4,009$                     -$                              2$                             -$                              4,587$                     
13,208                     4,944                       -                                 14,671                     73,119                     

 
-                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 32,559                     
-                                 68,047                     -                                 -                                 83,174                     

2,084                       -                                 -                                 24,898                     28,818                     
5                                5                                -                                 230                           388                           
3                                -                                 1,688                       -                                 2,695                       

288                           21,638                     1,839                       -                                 35,251                     
48                             -                                 54                             -                                 102                           

 
16,499                     1,734                       -                                 -                                 48,251                     

-                                 5,743                       -                                 -                                 5,743                       

36,144$                  102,111$               3,583$                    39,799$                  314,687$               

4,366$                     3,201$                     1,329$                     1,446$                     23,646$                   
327                           81                             445                           -                                 1,071                       

-                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 569                           
319                           187                           923                           68                             4,614                       
255                           11,458                     806                           23,390                     69,756                     

3,504                       -                                 -                                 -                                 3,504                       
8,771                       14,927                    3,503                       24,904                    103,160                  

-                                 68,047                     -                                 -                                 83,174                     
48                             -                                 54                             -                                 102                           

-                                 5,743                       -                                 -                                 5,743                       
-                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 30,018                     

-                                 1,734                       -                                 -                                 1,734                       
27,325                     11,660                     26                             14,895                     90,756                     

27,373                    87,184                    80                              14,895                    211,527                  

36,144$                  102,111$               3,583$                    39,799$                  314,687$               
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Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances -
Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands)

General Public
Government Safety Health

Revenues  
Taxes:

Lodgers 15,387$               -$                          -$                          
Property 3,468                    30,135                 -                             
Sales 12,012                 -                             -                             
Telephone -                             -                             -                             

Licenses and permits 1,599                    -                             -                             
Intergovernmental revenues 8,786                    69,136                 9,442                    
Charges for services 1,716                    5,402                    -                             
Investment and interest income 1,553                    438                       -                             
Fines and forfeitures 2                            2,976                    -                             
Contributions 721                       95                          13                          
Other revenue 7,413                    387                       66                          
Total Revenues 52,657                108,569              9,521                   

Expenditures
Current:

General government 72,856                 -                             -                             
Public safety -                             110,144               -                             
Health -                             -                             9,457                    
Parks and recreation -                             -                             -                             
Cultural activities -                             -                             -                             
Community development -                             -                             -                             
Economic opportunity -                             -                             -                             

Principal retirement -                             387                       -                             
Interest -                             125                       -                             
Total Expenditures 72,856                110,656              9,457                   

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures (20,199)                (2,087)                  64                          

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Sale of capital assets -                             -                             -                             
Capital leases 3,045                    -                             -                             
Bond premium (discount) -                             -                             -                             
Insurance recoveries 4                            -                             -                             
Transfers in 33,182                 2,967                    -                             
Transfers out (3,204)                  -                             -                             
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 33,027                2,967                   -                              

Net change in fund balances 12,828                 880                       64                          
Fund balances - January 1 53,900                 13,728                 595                       

Fund Balances - December 31 66,728$              14,608$              659$                     
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Cultural and Community Economic Special
Recreation Development Opportunity Funds Total

-$                          -$                          -$                          -$                          15,387$               
-                             -                             -                             -                             33,603                 
-                             -                             -                             -                             12,012                 
-                             -                             -                             6,710                    6,710                    
2                            -                             -                             -                             1,601                    

1,405                    18,516                 12,529                 -                             119,814               
19,653                 358                       18,226                 2,708                    48,063                 

80                          1,348                    -                             794                       4,213                    
-                             -                             -                             -                             2,978                    

4,093                    730                       -                             -                             5,652                    
19,100                 956                       -                             3,203                    31,125                 

44,333                21,908                30,755                13,415                281,158              

480                       -                             -                             6,165                    79,501                 
-                             -                             -                             -                             110,144               
-                             -                             -                             -                             9,457                    

45,066                 -                             -                             -                             45,066                 
7,224                    -                             -                             -                             7,224                    

-                             20,589                 -                             -                             20,589                 
-                             -                             31,486                 -                             31,486                 

799                       -                             -                             7,478                    8,664                    
503                       -                             -                             14,463                 15,091                 

54,072                20,589                31,486                28,106                327,222              

(9,739)                  1,319                    (731)                      (14,691)                (46,064)                

-                             (58)                        -                             -                             (58)                        
17,735                 -                             -                             -                             20,780                 

(237)                      -                             -                             -                             (237)                      
2                            -                             -                             -                             6                            

10,059                 -                             456                       19,338                 66,002                 
-                             -                             -                             (1,610)                  (4,814)                  

27,559                (58)                         456                       17,728                81,679                

17,820                 1,261                    (275)                      3,037                    35,615                 
9,553                    85,923                 355                       11,858                 175,912               

27,373$              87,184$              80$                       14,895$              211,527$           



100 City and County of Denver 

Combining Balance Sheet - Nonmajor Debt Service Funds
December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands)

Excise General
Bond Bond Tax Revenue Improvement  

Principal Interest Bond District Total

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 22,108$               19,819$               16,000$               29$                       57,956$               
Receivables (net of allowances

for uncollectibles of $997):
Taxes 45,259                 31,531                 2,907                   499                       80,196                 
Accrued interest -                            161                       45                         -                            206                       

Restricted assets:
Cash and cash equivalents -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            

Total Assets 67,367$             51,511$             18,952$             528$                    138,358$          

Liabilities and Fund Balances
Liabilities:

Vouchers payable -$                          -$                          -$                          -$                          -$                          
Accrued liabilities -                            -                            15                         -                            15                         
Deferred revenue 45,616                 31,776                 -                            499                       77,891                 

Total Liabilities Balance 45,616                31,776                15                          499                       77,906                

Fund Balances:
Reserved for debt service:

Long-term debt 21,751                 -                            18,937                 29                         40,717                 
Interest -                            19,735                 -                            -                            19,735                 

Total Fund Balances 21,751                19,735                18,937                29                          60,452                

Total Liabilities and Fund Balances 67,367$             51,511$             18,952$             528$                    138,358$          
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Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances -
Nonmajor Debt Service Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands)

General
Bond Bond Excise Tax Improvement  

Principal Interest Revenue Bond District Total

Revenues
Taxes:

Facilities development admission -$                          -$                          3,056$                 -$                          3,056$                 
Lodgers -                            -                            23,760                 -                            23,760                 
Property 47,201                 36,678                 -                            313                       84,192                 
Sales and use -                            -                            25,197                 -                            25,197                 

Investment and interest income -                            2,254                   986                       -                            3,240                   
Total Revenues 47,201                38,932                52,999                313                       139,445             

Expenditures
Principal retirement 45,380                 -                            13,175                 305                       58,860                 
Interest -                            33,127                 13,850                 104                       47,081                 
Total Expenditures 45,380                33,127                27,025                409                       105,941             

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures 1,821                   5,805                   25,974                 (96)                        33,504                 

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers in -                            -                            -                            41                         41                         
Transfers out -                            (5,520)                  (24,715)                -                            (30,235)                
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) -                              (5,520)                 (24,715)              41                          (30,194)              

Net change in fund balances 1,821                   285                       1,259                   (55)                        3,310                   
Fund balances - January 1 19,930                 19,450                 17,678                 84                         57,142                 

Fund Balances - December 31 21,751$             19,735$             18,937$             29$                       60,452$             
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Combining Balance Sheet - Nonmajor Capital Projects Funds
December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands)

Winter Park Capital Conservation 
Capital Fund Improvements Trusts 

Assets  
Cash and cash equivalents 2,913$                         47,984$                      10,711$                      
Receivables (net of allowances for uncollectibles of $181):

Taxes -                                    49,154                         -                                    
Special assessments -                                    -                                    -                                    
Accounts -                                    2                                   -                                    
Accrued interest 8                                   193                               41                                 

Interfund receivable -                                    -                                    -                                    
Due from other governments -                                    -                                    -                                    
Restricted assets:

Cash and cash equivalents -                                    -                                    -                                    

Total Assets 2,921$                        97,333$                     10,752$                     

Liabilities and Fund Balances
Liabilities:

Vouchers payable 520$                            6,577$                         1,097$                         
Interfund payable -                                    16                                 -                                    
Deferred revenue -                                    49,534                         -                                    

Total Liabilities 520                               56,127                        1,097                           

Fund Balances:
Reserved for:

 Emergency use -                                    -                                    -                                    
 Long-term debt -                                    -                                    -                                    

Unreserved:
Designated for subsequent years' expenditures 2,349                           41,206                         8,892                           
Undesignated 52                                 -                                    763                               

Total Fund Balances 2,401                           41,206                        9,655                           

Total Liabilities and Fund Balances 2,921$                        97,333$                     10,752$                     
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General 
Other Capital Entertainment Special Improvement 

Projects and Culture Assessments District Total 

759$                            6,443$                         642$                            129$                            69,581$                      

-                                    610                               953                               238                               50,955                         
-                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    
-                                    -                                    -                                    4                                   6                                   

12                                 22                                 1                                   -                                    277                               
-                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    

4,355                           -                                    -                                    -                                    4,355                           

72                                 -                                    -                                    15                                 87                                 

5,198$                        7,075$                        1,596$                        386$                            125,261$                   

2,838$                         438$                            1$                                 8$                                 11,479$                      
-                                    2                                   -                                    -                                    18                                 

14                                 -                                    953                               238                               50,739                         
2,852                           440                               954                               246                               62,236                        

-                                    -                                    -                                    15                                 15                                 
72                                 -                                    -                                    -                                    72                                 

2,274                           2,784                           118                               6                                   57,629                         
-                                    3,851                           524                               119                               5,309                           

2,346                           6,635                           642                               140                               63,025                        

5,198$                        7,075$                        1,596$                        386$                            125,261$                   
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Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances -
Nonmajor Capital Projects Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands)

Winter Park Capital Conservation 
Capital Fund Improvements Trusts 

Revenues
Taxes:

Facilities development admission -$                               -$                               -$                               
Occupational privilege -                                 -                                 -                                 
Property -                                 47,709                      -                                 
Specific ownership -                                 -                                 -                                 

Special assessments -                                 -                                 -                                 
Intergovernmental revenues -                                 -                                 5,818                        
Charges for services -                                 466                            -                                 
Fines and forteitures -                                 -                                 -                                 
Investment and interest income 125                            2,637                        450                            
Contributions -                                 -                                 -                                 
Other revenue -                                 -                                 7                                
Total Revenues 125                            50,812                     6,275                        

Expenditures
Current:

General government -                                 2,207                        -                                 
Public safety -                                 122                            -                                 
Public works -                                 30,427                      -                                 
Health -                                 220                            -                                 
Parks and recreation 628                            1,571                        2,860                        
Cultural activities -                                 446                            -                                 
Community development -                                 -                                 -                                 

Interest -                                 -                                 -                                 
Capital outlay 3,133                        16,162                      2,660                        
Total Expenditures 3,761                        51,155                     5,520                        

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures (3,636)                       (343)                          755                            

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Sale of capital assets -                                 2,580                        -                                 
Transfers in 2,028                        7,118                        -                                 
Transfers out -                                 (4,037)                       (876)                          
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 2,028                        5,661                        (876)                           

Net change in fund balances (1,608)                       5,318                        (121)                          
Fund balances - January 1 4,009                        35,888                      9,776                        

Fund Balances - December 31 2,401$                     41,206$                  9,655$                     
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General 
Other Capital Entertainment Special Improvement 

Projects and Culture Assessments District Total 

-$                               6,960$                      -$                               -$                               6,960$                      
-                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 
-                                 -                                 -                                 426                            48,135                      
-                                 -                                 -                                 54                              54                              

456                            -                                 938                            -                                 1,394                        
9,259                        -                                 -                                 -                                 15,077                      
1,150                        -                                 -                                 -                                 1,616                        

4                                -                                 -                                 -                                 4                                
143                            238                            22                              14                              3,629                        

1,743                        -                                 -                                 -                                 1,743                        
-                                 9                                -                                 167                            183                            

12,755                     7,207                        960                            661                            78,795                     

-                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 2,207                        
-                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 122                            

3,467                        -                                 897                            184                            34,975                      
-                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 220                            

126                            -                                 -                                 -                                 5,185                        
-                                 558                            -                                 -                                 1,004                        

10                              -                                 -                                 -                                 10                              
109                            -                                 -                                 -                                 109                            

13,292                      3,716                        -                                 354                            39,317                      
17,004                     4,274                        897                            538                            83,149                     

(4,249)                       2,933                        63                              123                            (4,354)                       

4                                -                                 -                                 -                                 2,584                        
-                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 9,146                        

(318)                          (3,259)                       -                                 (41)                             (8,531)                       
(314)                           (3,259)                      -                                   (41)                             3,199                        

(4,563)                       (326)                          63                              82                              (1,155)                       
6,909                        6,961                        579                            58                              64,180                      

2,346$                     6,635$                     642$                         140$                         63,025$                  
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Schedule of Expenditures Compared with Authorizations - General Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands)

2008 Annual
Authorizations Budget Basis Authorized
After Revisions Expenditures Balance

 
General Government:
Mayor's Office 1,817$                                1,774$                                43$                                      
 Civic Events 916                                      916                                      -                                           

Education/Advocacy Initiatives 1,113                                  1,052                                  61                                        
Employee Assistance 444                                      425                                      19                                        
City Council 4,326                                  4,241                                  85                                        

Telecommunications 367                                      304                                      63                                        
Board of Ethics 106                                      103                                      3                                          
Career Service Authority 6,222                                  6,187                                  35                                        

Career Service Authority Hearing Office 355                                      359                                      (4)                                         
City Attorney 14,286                                13,611                                675                                      

Airport Legal Services 1,971                                  1,844                                  127                                      
Human Service Legal Services 4,589                                  4,494                                  95                                        

Clerk and Recorder 9,896                                  9,658                                  238                                      
Board of Adjustment 248                                      247                                      1                                          
Human Rights and Community Relations 1,173                                  1,075                                  98                                        
General Services:

Administration 1,229                                  1,205                                  24                                        
Facilities and Planning 18,509                                17,900                                609                                      
Purchasing 1,944                                  1,829                                  115                                      
Public Office Buildings Utilities 28,092                                26,540                                1,552                                  

Auditor 4,954                                  4,386                                  568                                      
Auditor - Airport 1,106                                  1,014                                  92                                        

Department of Finance 37,079                                36,866                                213                                      
Adams Mark Tax Increment 1,025                                  1,025                                  -                                           
Annual Rental Payments 772                                      572                                      200                                      
Downtown Historical District 174                                      (6)                                         180                                      
Payments to Elderly and Disabled 1,500                                  1,088                                  412                                      

Excise and Licenses 1,504                                  1,478                                  26                                        
Technology Services 36,587                                33,435                                3,152                                  
Contract Compliance 3,609                                  3,507                                  102                                      

Contract Compliance - Airport 576                                      430                                      146                                      
Total General Government 186,489$                         177,559$                         8,930$                              

Public Safety
911 Call Center 8,838$                                9,216$                                (378)$                                  
Civil Service Commission 1,674                                  1,603                                  71                                        
Collective Bargaining 160                                      66                                        94                                        
County Court 20,584                                20,753                                (169)                                    
District Attorney 17,437                                17,296                                141                                      
Emergency Management 627                                      526                                      101                                      
Fire 100,382                             100,722                             (340)                                    
Independent Monitor 654                                      640                                      14                                        
Mayor's Youth Program 379                                      281                                      98                                        
Police 169,414                             171,542                             (2,128)                                 
Police Airport 2,513                                  2,575                                  (62)                                       

continued
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Schedule of Expenditures Compared with Authorizations - General Fund - 
continued
December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands)

2008 Annual
Authorizations Budget Basis Authorized
After Revisions Expenditures Balance

Police Photo Radar 2,957                                  2,429                                  528                                      
Safe City Initiative 1,475                                  1,383                                  92                                        
Safety Administration 3,834                                  3,777                                  57                                        
Undersheriff 91,949                                92,075                                (126)                                    
Total Public Safety 422,877$                         424,884$                         (2,007)$                            

Public Works
Administration 5,200$                                4,971$                                229$                                   
Operations 45,980                                45,414                                566                                      
Transportation 32,299                                31,325                                974                                      
Total Public Works 83,479$                           81,710$                           1,769$                              

Health
Environmental Health 9,915$                                9,390$                                525$                                   
City Payments to Health Authority:

Clinic 244                                      222                                      22                                        
Public Health 2,267                                  2,267                                  -                                           
Denver C.A.R.E.S. 2,995                                  2,995                                  -                                           
Poison Center 97                                        97                                        -                                           
Medically Indigent 27,543                                27,543                                -                                           

Total Health 43,061$                           42,514$                           547$                                  

Parks and Recreation
Administration 3,874$                                3,667$                                207$                                   
General Parks 26,670                                26,229                                441                                      
Recreation 20,874                                20,479                                395                                      
Total Parks and Recreation 51,418$                           50,375$                           1,043$                              

Cultural Activities
Art, Culture, and Film 1,220$                                1,233$                                (13)$                                    
Denver Public Library 31,354                                31,298                                56                                        
Total Cultural Activities 32,574$                           32,531$                           43$                                    

 
Community Planning/Development 17,739$                             17,209$                             530$                                   
Total Community Planning/Development 17,739$                           17,209$                           530$                                  

 
Total 837,637$                         826,782$                         10,855$                           
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Schedule of Expenditures Compared with Authorizations - 
Human Services Special Revenue Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands)

2008 Annual  
Authorizations Budget Basis Authorized
After Revisions Expenditures Balance

Grants - Currently Active
13001 HSOA Human Services Grant 2,981$                              2,981$                              -$                                       
13007 Community Service Block Grant 802                                    802                                    -                                         
13007 Community Service Block Grant FY07-08 79                                      79                                      -                                         
13009 Emergency Food and Shelter Program 18                                      18                                      -                                         
13009 Emergency Shelter FY06 -                                         (1)                                       1                                        
13009 Emergency Shelter FY07 5                                        5                                        -                                         
13009 Emergency Shelter FY08 391                                    391                                    -                                         
13012 Shelter Plus Care Anchor 45                                      45                                      -                                         
13012 Shelter Plus Care Anchor Community 34                                      34                                      -                                         
13012 Shelter Plus Care Anchor Community FY06-07 -                                         (19)                                     19                                      
13012 Shelter Plus Care Collab-Homelessness FY03-04 535                                    535                                    -                                         
13012 Shelter Plus Care Dave's Place 38                                      38                                      -                                         
13012 Shelter Plus Care Durkin -                                         (39)                                     39                                      
13012 Shelter Plus Care Durkin 13                                      13                                      -                                         
13012 Shelter Plus Care Durkin Project 170                                    170                                    -                                         
13012 Shelter Plus Care Ex-offenders -                                         (10)                                     10                                      
13012 Shelter Plus Care Homeless Veterans FY07-12 6                                        6                                        -                                         
13012 Shelter Plus Care Mariposa Housing 37                                      37                                      -                                         
13012 Shelter Plus Care Rental Assistance 28                                      28                                      -                                         
13012 Shelter Plus Care Rowan Gard 50                                      50                                      -                                         
13012 Shelter Plus Care Scattered Sites FY07-08 342                                    342                                    -                                         
13012 Shelter Plus Care Seniors 32                                      32                                      -                                         
13012 Shelter Plus Care Seniors 63                                      63                                      -                                         
13012 Shelter Plus Care STAR 37                                      37                                      -                                         
13012 Shelter Plus Care STAR 38                                      38                                      -                                         
13012 Shelter Plus Care Woman FY 08-09 21                                      21                                      -                                         
13012 Shelter Plus Care Woman's Project -                                         (20)                                     20                                      
13012 Shelter Plus Care Women 250                                    250                                    -                                         
13012 Shelter Plus Care Xenia 94                                      94                                      -                                         
13012 Shelter Plus Care Xenia FY07-08 100                                    100                                    -                                         
13015 Title IV Incentives 82                                      82                                      -                                         
13017 Child Care 7,841                                4,480                                3,361                                
13019 Homeless Vets Reintegration 161                                    161                                    -                                         
13019 Homeless Vets Reintegration FY06-07 49                                      49                                      -                                         
13019 Homeless Vets Reintegration FY08-09 188                                    188                                    -                                         
13601 Child Welfare System Improvement 500                                    500                                    -                                         
13601 Family to Family (F2F) Anchor Site 137                                    137                                    -                                         
13601 Family to Family (F2F) Anchor Site 172                                    172                                    -                                         
13601 Parents  are the Power FY07 19                                      19                                      -                                         
State/County Welfare
13005 Child Welfare 41,941                              40,358                              1,583                                
13008 County Public Welfare 98,040                              91,261                              6,779                                
13013 County Veterans Service Office 2                                        2                                        -                                         
13301 Parental Fees 18                                      18                                      -                                         
13302 Aid to the Blind 1                                        1                                        -                                         
13303 Aid to the Needy Disabled 1,000                                443                                    557                                    
13304 Board for Developmentally Disabled 8,719                                8,719                                -                                         
13305 General Assistance 1,311                                1,324                                (13)                                     
13306 Local Funded Community Service 4,825                                3,893                                932                                    
13308 Denver Senior 198                                    198                                    -                                         
13308 Title III Older Americans 270                                    270                                    -                                         
City and Other Projects
13502 Integrated Care Management Incentive 282                                    282                                    -                                         
13602 Parents are the Power FY06 3                                        3                                        -                                         
13701 Americorp – Donations 38                                      38                                      -                                         
13704 Homeless Services Donations 1,434                                1,434                                -                                         
13802 Family Crisis Project 10                                      19                                      (9)                                       
13806 Youth Transitional Housing 46                                      46                                      -                                         
13808 Energy Assistance 1,867                                1,799                                68                                      
13809 Excess Federal IV-E Reimbursement 614                                    614                                    -                                         
Total 175,977$                         162,630$                         13,347$                            

1 Includes grantor expenditures of $18,874 reported in the Economic Opportunity Special Revenue Fund
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Balance Sheets - General Fund
December 31, 2008 and 2007 (dollars in thousands)

2008 2007
 

Assets
Cash on hand 30$                                2$                                  
Cash and cash equivalents 94,089                          94,691                          
Receivables (net of allowances for uncollectibles of $22,306 and $595):

Taxes 117,668                        113,616                       
Notes 25                                  25                                  
Accounts 13,737                          14,292                          
Accrued interest 781                                1,111                            

Interfund receivable 31,596                          30,977                          
Due from other governments 215                                289                               
Prepaid items and other assets 861                                -                                     
Restricted assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 21,001                          40,817                          
Total Assets 280,003$                    295,820$                    

Liabilities and Fund Balances
Liabilities:

Vouchers payable 10,672$                        13,576$                       
Accrued liabilities 19,160                          12,168                          
Due to taxing units 30                                  2                                    
Interfund payable 3,408                            2,774                            
Deferred revenue 75,272                          71,706                          
Advances -                                     3                                    
Compenseted absenses 12                                  -                                     

Total Liabilities 108,554                       100,229                      

Fund Balance:
Reserved for:

Notes receivable 25                                  -                                     
Prepaid items and other assets 861                                -                                     
Emergency use -                                     20,101                          
Debt service:

Long-term debt 21,001                          20,716                          
Unreserved-undesignated 149,562                        154,774                       

Total Fund Balance 171,449                       195,591                      

Total Liabilities and Fund Balance 280,003$                    295,820$                    

Totals
December 31, 
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Statements of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - General Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 (dollars in thousands)

 
2008 2007

Revenues
Taxes:

Lodgers 14,626$                              13,483$                              
Motor Vehicle ownership 19,514                                 16,963                                
Occupational priveledge 43,040                                 21,376                                
Public service -                                            18,478                                
Property 62,703                                 79,232                                
Sales and use 430,928                              418,177                              
Telephone 3,104                                   3,231                                   

Licenses and permits 27,763                                 28,094                                
Intergovernmental revenues 32,107                                 32,861                                
Charges for services 137,160                              107,519                              
Investment and interest income 11,692                                 18,717                                
Fines and forfeitures 38,416                                 34,253                                
Contributions 11                                         3                                           
Other revenue 8,652                                   11,162                                
Total Revenues 829,716                              803,549                             

Expenditures
Current:

General government 173,300                              156,040                              
Public safety 424,718                              400,469                              
Public works 81,710                                 84,310                                
Health 42,514                                 41,783                                
Parks and recreation 50,375                                 47,003                                
Cultural activities 32,531                                 31,386                                
Community development 17,209                                 17,499                                

Principal retirement 378                                      571                                      
Interest 4,047                                   2,737                                   
Total Expenditures 826,782                              781,798                             

Excess of revenues over expenditures 2,934                                   21,751                                

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Sale of capital assets -                                            13                                        
Capital leases restructured 260,000                              -                                            
Payment to escrow (250,290)                             -                                            
Insurance recoveries 74                                         1                                           
Transfers in 30,731                                 32,333                                
Transfers out (67,591)                               (44,163)                               
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (27,076)                               (11,816)                               

Net change in fund balance (24,142)                               9,935                                   
Fund balance - January 1 195,591                              185,656                              

Fund Balance - December 31 171,449$                           195,591$                           

Totals
Year ended December 31,



PRIOPRIETARY FUNDS



PROPRIETARY FUNDS 
Proprietary funds are a group of funds that account for activities that are often seen in the private sector and are operated in a 
similar manner as in the private sector.

ENTERPRISE FUNDS 

Environmental Services - • to account for the operation and activity of the City’s chemical waste disposal, phase out of hazardous materials 
disposal sites, and litter prevention.

Golf Course - • to account for the administration, operation, maintenance and improvement of City-owned golf facilities.

INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS 

Central Services - • to account for providing paper and printing goods and services to departments of the City and other users on a cost 
reimbursement basis.

Fleet Maintenance - • to account for the fi nancing of automotive repairs and services provided to departments of the City or to other gov-
ernmental units on a cost reimbursement basis.

Asphalt Plant - • to account for the expenditures and revenues of the City’s Asphalt Plant that provides a service to the metropolitan Denver 
area and is an essential element in the street resurfacing program of the City’s Street Maintenance division.

Workers Compensation -•  to account for the City’s workers compensation self insurance activities.
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Combining Statement of Net Assets - Nonmajor Enterprise Funds
December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands)

Environmental Golf   
Services Course Total 

Assets  
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 13,872$                     4,788$                       18,660$                     
Receivables:  

Accounts 1,136                          49                               1,185                          
Accrued interest 54                               19                               73                               

Inventories -                                   128                             128                             
Interfund receivable 8                                  25                               33                               
Restricted assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 1,184                          -                                   1,184                          
Accrued interest receivable 4                                  -                                   4                                  
Other receivables 416                             -                                   416                             

Total Current Assets 16,674                       5,009                         21,683                       

Capital assets:
Land and construction in progress 3,168                          4,004                          7,172                          
Buildings and improvements 672                             8,457                          9,129                          
Improvements other than buildings 131                             13,092                       13,223                       
Machinery and equipment 163                             4,223                          4,386                          
Accumulated depreciation (901)                            (14,263)                      (15,164)                      

Net capital assets 3,233                          15,513                       18,746                       
Bond issue costs and other assets -                                   182                             182                             
Total Noncurrent Assets 3,233                         15,695                       18,928                       

Total Assets 19,907                       20,704                       40,611                       

Liabilities
Current liabilities:

Vouchers payable 181                             339                             520                             
Revenue bonds payable -                                   385                             385                             
Accrued liabilities 590                             189                             779                             
Interfund payable 1,118                          489                             1,607                          
Compensated absences -                                   154                             154                             
Deferred revenue -                                   98                               98                               

Current liabilities (payable from restricted assets):  
Vouchers payable 123                             -                                   123                             

Total Current Liabilities 2,012                         1,654                         3,666                         

Noncurrent liabilities:
Revenue bonds payable -                                   5,725                          5,725                          
Unamortized premiums -                                   50                               50                               
Compensated absences 218                             397                             615                             

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 218                             6,172                         6,390                         

Total Liabilities 2,230                         7,826                         10,056                       

Net Assets
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 3,233                          9,585                          12,818                       
Restricted for capital projects 1,481                          -                                   1,481                          
Unrestricted 12,963                       3,293                          16,256                       
Total Net Assets 17,677$                    12,878$                    30,555$                    
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For the Year Ended December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands)

Environmental Golf  
Services Course Total 

Operating Revenues
Charges for services 7,260$                       8,396$                       15,656$                     
Other revenue 277                             3                                  280                             
Total Operating Revenues 7,537                         8,399                         15,936                       

 
Operating Expenses  
Personnel services 2,467                          4,563                          7,030                          
Contractual services 2,066                          257                             2,323                          
Supplies and materials 64                               1,067                          1,131                          
Depreciation 14                               668                             682                             
Other operating expenses 1,725                          1,399                          3,124                          
Total Operating Expenses 6,336                         7,954                         14,290                       

 
Operating income 1,201                          445                             1,646                          

 
Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)   
Investment and interest income 604                             226                             830                             
Interest expense -                                   (299)                            (299)                            
Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) 604                             (73)                               531                             
  
Income before transfers 1,805                          372                             2,177                          

Transfers out (250)                            -                                   (250)                            

Change in Net Assets 1,555                          372                             1,927                          
 

Net assets - January 1 16,122                       12,506                       28,628                       
 

Net Assets - December 31 17,677$                    12,878$                    30,555$                    

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund
Net Assets - Nonmajor Enterprise Funds
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Combining Statement of Cash Flows - Nonmajor Enterprise Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands)

Environmental Golf  
Services Course Total 

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Receipts from customers 7,992$                     8,465$                     16,457$                   
Payments to suppliers (3,998)                      (3,805)                      (7,803)                      
Payments to employees (2,415)                      (4,516)                      (6,931)                      
Other payments (1,485)                      -                                 (1,485)                      
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 94                              144                           238                           

Cash Flows From Noncapital Financing Activities
Transfers out (250)                          -                                 (250)                          
Net Cash Used by Noncapital Financing Activities (250)                          -                                  (250)                          

Cash Flows From Capital and Related Financing Activities
Principal payments -                                 (370)                          (370)                          
Acquisition of capital assets (26)                            (2,865)                      (2,891)                      
Interest paid on capital debt -                                 (299)                          (299)                          
Net Cash Used by Capital and Related Financing Activities (26)                            (3,534)                      (3,560)                      

 
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Interest received 638                           259                           897                           

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 456                           (3,131)                      (2,675)                      
Cash and cash equivalents - January 1 14,600                     7,919                       22,519                     
Cash and Cash Equivalents - December 31 15,056$                  4,788$                    19,844$                  

Reconciliation of Operating Income to Net Cash
Provided by Operating Activities  

Operating income 1,201$                     445$                        1,646$                     
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash

provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 14                             668                           682                           
Accounts receivable 455                           13                             468                           
Inventories -                                 7                                7                                
Vouchers payable (1,628)                      (1,179)                      (2,807)                      
Unearned revenue -                                 53                             53                             
Accrued liabilities 52                             47                             99                             
Interfund payable -                                 90                             90                             

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 94$                           144$                        238$                        

Noncash Activities
Amortization of bond premium -$                              9$                             9$                             
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Combining Statement of Net Assets - Internal Service Funds
December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands)

Central Fleet Asphalt Workers'  
Services Maintenance Plant Compensation Total 

 
Assets
Current Assets:  

Cash and cash equivalents -$                            2,203$                   2,289$                   23,912$                 28,404$                 
Receivables (net of allowance of $4):

Accounts 16                           58                           -                              149                         223                         
Accrued interest -                              -                              -                              99                           99                           

Interfund receivable 1,241                     1,911                     13                           1,101                     4,266                     
Inventories 116                         2,141                     402                         -                              2,659                     
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 14                           -                              -                              -                              14                           

Total Current Assets 1,387                     6,313                     2,704                     25,261                  35,665                  

Capital Assets:
Buildings and improvements 715                         -                              3,392                     -                              4,107                     
Improvements other than buildings -                              15                           67                           -                              82                           
Machinery and equipment 828                         6,528                     957                         -                              8,313                     
Accumulated depreciation (661)                       (5,301)                    (3,405)                -                              (9,367)                    

Net capital assets 882                         1,242                     1,011                     -                              3,135                     
Total Assets 2,269                     7,555                     3,715                     25,261                  38,800                  

Liabilities
Current Liabilities:

Vouchers payable 486                         367                         104                         314                         1,271                     
Accrued liabilities 9                              196                         13                           30                           248                         
Interfund payable 1,520                     6                              5                              129                         1,660                     
Capital lease obligations 74                           -                              -                              -                              74                           
Compensated absences 11                           225                         -                              7                              243                         
Claims reserve -                              -                              -                              11,371                   11,371                   

Total Current Liabilities 2,100                     794                         122                         11,851                  14,867                  

Noncurrent Liabilities:
Capital lease obligations 243                         -                              -                              -                              243                         
Compensated absences 40                           716                         41                           87                           884                         
Other accrued liabilities -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              
Claims reserve -                              -                              -                              21,653                   21,653                   

Total noncurrent liabilities 283                         716                         41                           21,740                   22,780                   
Total Liabilities 2,383                     1,510                     163                         33,591                  37,647                  

Net Assets
Invested in capital assets,  

net of related debt 566                         1,242                     1,011                     -                              2,819                     
Unrestricted (deficit) (680)                       4,803                     2,541                     (8,330)                    (1,666)                    

Total Net Assets (Deficit) (114)$                     6,045$                  3,552$                  (8,330)$                 1,153$                  



  Financial 115

For the Year Ended December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands)

Central Fleet Asphalt Workers'  
Services Maintenance Plant Compensation Total 

 
Operating Revenues
Charges for services 4,853$                    21,576$                  8,354$                    15,868$                  50,651$                  
Other revenue 7                               386                          1                               833                          1,227                       
Total Operating Revenues 4,860                      21,962                   8,355                      16,701                   51,878                   

Operating Expenses
Personnel services 482                          7,279                       514                          1,062                       9,337                       
Contractual services 270                          140                          24                            536                          970                          
Supplies and materials 1,076                       13,469                    6,482                       468                          21,495                    
Depreciation 137                          413                          240                          -                                790                          
Claims payments -                                -                                -                                8,863                       8,863                       
Change in claims reserve -                                -                                -                                528                          528                          
Other operating expenses 3,145                       480                          532                          1,896                        6,053                       
Net Operating Expenses 5,110                      21,781                   7,792                      13,353                   48,036                   

Operating income (loss) (250)                          181                           563                           3,348                       3,842                       

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)
Loss on disposal of assets -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                
Investment and interest income -                                -                                -                                1,134                       1,134                       
Interest expense (24)                           -                                -                                -                                (24)                           
Total Nonoperating
 Revenues (Expenses) (24)                            -                                 -                                 1,134                      1,110                      

Transfers in -                                50                            -                                -                                50                            

Change in net assets (274)                         231                          563                          4,482                       5,002                       

Net assets (deficit)  - January 1 160                          5,814                       2,989                       (12,812)                   (3,849)                     

(114)$                      6,045$                   3,552$                   (8,330)$                  1,153$                   

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Assets -

Net Assets (Deficit) -December 31

Internal Service Funds
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Combining Statement of Cash Flows - Internal Service Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands)

Central Fleet Asphalt Workers' 
Services Maintenance Plant Compensation Total 

Cash Flows From Operating Activities  
Receipts from customers 4,430$        22,197$      8,399$        13,522$      48,548$      
Payments to suppliers (3,787)         (14,291)       (7,282)         (796)            (26,156)       
Payments to employees (468)            (7,223)         (515)            (1,012)         (9,218)         
Other receipts (payments) -                   -                   -                   541              541              
Sale of salvage -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
Claims paid -                   -                   -                   (8,758)         (8,758)         
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 175             683             602             3,497         4,957         

Cash Flows from Noncapital Financing Activities
Transfers in -                   50                -                   -                   50                
Net Cash Provided by Noncapital Financing Activities -                    50                -                    -                    50                

Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities
Principal payments (151)            -                   -                   -                   (151)            
Acquisition of capital assets -                   -                   (29)               -                   (29)               
Loss on disposal of assets -                   207              -                   -                   207              
Interest paid (24)               -                   -                   -                   (24)               
Net Cash Provided (Used) by Capital and Related

Financing Activities (175)            207             (29)              -                    3                   

Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Interest received -                   -                   -                   1,123          1,123          

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents -                   940              573              4,620          6,133          
Cash and cash equivalents - January 1 14                1,263          1,716          19,292        22,285        
Cash and Cash Equivalents - December 31 14$             2,203$      2,289$      23,912$    28,418$    

Reconciliation of Operating Income (loss) to Net Cash   
Provided by Operating Activities

Operating income (loss) (250)$          181$           563$           3,348$        3,842$        
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash

provided (used) by operating activities:
Depreciation 137              413              240              -                   790              
Accounts receivable 2                  (27)               8                  302              285              
Interfund receivable (432)            262              36                (939)            (1,073)         
Inventories 4                  (234)            (322)            -                   (552)            
Vouchers payables 190              15                80                92                377              
Accrued liabilities 10                80                (1)                 50                139              
Interfund payable 514              (7)                 (2)                 116              621              
Claims reserve -                   -                   -                   528              528              

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 175$          683$          602$          3,497$      4,957$      



FIDUCIARY FUNDS



FIDUCIARY FUNDS 
Fiduciary funds are trust and agency funds which account for assets held by a governmental unit in a trustee capacity or as an 
agent for individuals, private organizations, other governmental units, or other funds.  These include expendable trust funds, 
non-expendable trust funds, pension trust funds, and agency funds.

PENSION, HEALTH, AND OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS TRUST FUNDS 

Pension Benefi ts Trust Funds - Denver Employees Retirement Plan -•  to account for the pension assets of the Denver Employees 
Retirement Plan.

Health Benefi ts Trust Funds - Denver Employees Retirement Plan -•  to account for the health benefi ts assets of the Denver Employees 
Retirement Plan.

Deferred Compensation -•  to account for City employees’ voluntary deferrals of current income to future years and the investment income 
earned.

AGENCY FUNDS 

Employee Salary Redirect Plan -•  to account for employees’ income tax exempt voluntary salary deductions used to pay for dependent 
childcare, medical expense reimbursement, and medical insurance premium payments.

Agency -•  to account for the consolidation of payroll activity in one fund after the recording of expenditures in the appropriate funds.  Also, 
collected receipts are temporarily held here in unapportioned accounts until a proper allocation is determined.  Additionally, property taxes 
collected for all the taxing entities in the County of Denver are transferred here from the trust fund where they are initially recorded.
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Combining Statement of Fiduciary Net Assets - 
Pension, Health, and Other Employee Benefit Trust Funds
December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands)

Pension Benefits Health Benefits Other Employee
Trust Fund Trust Fund Benefit Trust Fund

Denver Denver Deferred 
Employees Employees Compensation  

Retirement Plan Retirement Plan Plan Total

Assets  
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 41,025$                      1,966$                        -$                                 42,991$                      
Securities lending collateral 144,352                      6,920                           -                                    151,272                      
Receivables:

Accounts 2,060                           99                                 -                                    2,159                           
Accrued interest 6,111                           293                              -                                    6,404                           

Investments:  
U.S. Government obligations 131,432                      6,301                           -                                    137,733                      
Domestic stocks and bonds 829,142                      39,748                        -                                    868,890                      
International stocks 203,867                      9,773                           -                                    213,640                      
Annuity -                                    -                                    342,997                      342,997                      
Mutual funds -                                    -                                    32,841                        32,841                        
Real estate 168,445                      8,075                           -                                    176,520                      
Other 82,200                        3,940                           8,198                           94,338                        

Total Investments 1,415,086                   67,837                        384,036                      1,866,959                   

Total Current Assets 1,608,634                 77,115                        384,036                     2,069,785                 

Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 960                              46                                 -                                    1,006                           
Total Assets 1,609,594                 77,161                        384,036                     2,070,791                 

Liabilities
Vouchers payable 3,868                           185                              -                                    4,053                           
Securities lending obligations 150,181                      7,200                           -                                    157,381                      
Total Liabilities 154,049                     7,385                           -                                      161,434                     

Net Assets Held in Trust for Pension and
Other Employee Benefit Trust Funds 1,455,545$              -                                      384,036$                  

Net Assets Held in Trust for OPEB Benefits 69,776$                     

Net Assets Held in Trust for Benefits 1,909,357$              
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Combining Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Assets - 
Pension, Health, and Other Employee Benefit Trust Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands)

Pension Benefits Health Benefits Other Employee
Trust Fund Trust Fund Benefit Trust Fund

Denver Denver Deferred  
Employees Employees Compensation

Retirement Plan Retirement Plan Plan Total

Additions  
Contributions:

City and County of Denver 37,602$                 3,711$                   -$                            41,313$                 
Denver Health and Hospital Authority 6,761                     543                         -                              7,304                     
Plan members 12,805                   1,183                     33,011                   46,999                   

Total contributions 57,168                  5,437                     33,011                  95,616                  

Investment earnings (loss):
Net appreciation (depreciation) in fair (571,798)               (27,770)                  -                              (599,568)               
    value of investments
Interest and dividends 55,299                   2,695                     (103,535)               (45,541)                  

Total investment loss (516,499)              (25,075)                 (103,535)              (645,109)              

Less investment expense (8,678)                    (422)                       -                              (9,100)                    
Net loss from investments (525,177)              (25,497)                 (103,535)              (654,209)              

Securities lending earnings 6,885                     336                         -                              7,221                     
Securities lending expenses:

Borrower rebates (4,475)                    (219)                       -                              (4,694)                    
Agent fees (604)                       (29)                          -                              (633)                       

Net earnings from securities lending 1,806                     88                            -                                1,894                     

Total net investment loss (523,371)              (25,409)                 (103,535)              (652,315)              

Total Additions (466,203)              (19,972)                 (70,524)                 (556,699)              

Deductions
Benefits 115,091                 10,823                   31,036                   156,950                 
Refunds of contributions 493                         24                           -                              517                         
Administrative expenses 2,840                     138                         14                           2,992                     
Total Deductions 118,424               10,985                  31,050                  160,459               

  
Change in net assets (584,627)               (30,957)                  (101,574)               (717,158)               
Net assets - January 1 2,040,172             100,733                 485,610                 2,626,515             

Net assets - December 31 1,455,545$        69,776$               384,036$             1,909,357$        
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Combining Statement of Changes in Assets and Liabilities - Agency Funds 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands)

Balance Balance 
January 1 Additions Deductions December 31 

Employee Salary Redirect Plan
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 83$                                4,495$                          4,496$                          82$                                
Accrued Interest -                                     1                                     -                                     1                                     
Total Assets 83$                                 4,496$                          4,496$                          83$                                 

Liabilities
Vouchers payable -$                                   -$                                   -$                                   -$                              
Other accrued liabilities 83                                  4,441                            4,441                            83                                  
Total Liabilities 83$                                 4,441$                          4,441$                          83$                                 

Agency
Assets
Cash on hand 4,028$                          822$                             1,236$                          3,614$                          
Cash and cash equivalents 12,877                          440,996                        437,552                        16,321                          
Receivables (net of allowances for

uncollectibles of $6,222):
Taxes 485,093                        506,022                        490,325                        500,790                        
Accounts 26                                  16                                  18                                  24                                  

Total Assets 502,024$                    947,856$                    929,131$                    520,749$                    

Liabilities
Vouchers payable 326$                             44,075$                        43,622$                        779$                             
Other accrued liabilities 4,130                            444,584                        443,561                        5,153                            
Due to taxing units 497,568                        525,982                        508,733                        514,817                        
Total Liabilities 502,024$                    1,014,641$                995,916$                    520,749$                    

Total - All Agency Funds
Assets
Cash on hand 4,028$                          822$                             1,236$                          3,614$                          
Cash and cash equivalents 12,960                           445,491                         442,048                        16,403                          
Receivables (net of allowances for    

uncollectibles of $6,222):    
Taxes 485,093                         506,022                         490,325                        500,790                        
Accounts 26                                   16                                   18                                  24                                  

Accrued interest -                                     1                                     -                                     1                                     
Total Assets 502,107$                    952,352$                    933,627$                    520,832$                    

Liabilities
Vouchers payable 326$                             44,075$                        43,622$                        779$                             
Other accrued liabilities 4,213                            449,025                        448,002                        5,236                            
Due to taxing units 497,568                        525,982                        508,733                        514,817                        
Total Liabilities 502,107$                    1,019,082$                1,000,357$                520,832$                    
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122 City and County of Denver 

Combining Statement of Net Assets - Nonmajor Component Units
December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands)

 
Cherry Creek Cherry Creek Denver Art
Subarea BID North BID Colfax BID Museum

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 15$                       918$                     284$                     7,664$                 
Investments -                             -                             -                             510                       
Receivables:

Taxes -                             2,859                    332                       -                             
Accounts -                             20                          -                             165                       
Other -                             -                             -                             10,587                 

Inventories -                             -                             -                             428                       
Prepaid items and other assets -                             94                          -                             1,711                    

Restricted Assets: 
Cash and cash equivalents -                             8,150                    13                          954                       
Net assets held by third party -                             -                             -                             103,767               

Capital Assets:
Land and construction in progress -                             1,273                    -                             4,600                    
Buildings and improvements -                             15                          -                             37,234                 
Machinery and equipment -                             188                       -                             1,839                    
Accumulated depreciation -                             (148)                      -                             (28,579)                

Net Capital Assets -                             1,328                    -                             15,094                 

Long-term receivables -                             -                             -                             6,621                    
Other assets -                             208                       -                             -                             
Total Assets 15                          13,577                629                       147,501              

Liabilities
Vouchers payable -                             353                       21                          1,904                    
Accrued liabilities -                             91                          -                             1,544                    
Deferred revenue -                             2,859                    332                       1,942                    
Noncurrent liabilities:

Due within one year -                             271                       -                             1,484                    
Due in more than one year -                             9,030                    -                             8,770                    

Total Liabilities -                              12,604                353                       15,644                

Net Assets
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt -                             155                       -                             15,094                 
Restricted for:

Emergency use -                             88                          11                          -                             
Debt service -                             1                            -                             -                             
Donor restrictions:

Expendable -                             -                             -                             17,422                 
Nonexpendable -                             -                             -                             99,058                 

Unrestricted 15                          729                       265                       283                       

Total Net Assets 15$                       973$                     276$                     131,857$           
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Denver Denver Metro
Museum of Convention Denver
Nature and and Visitor's Preschool Downtown Old South West  

Science Bureau, Inc. Program, Inc. Denver BID Gaylord BID Colfax BID Total

12,712$               3,109$                 9,413$                 1,306$                 18$                       56$                       35,495$               
5,508                    137                       -                             -                             -                             3                            6,158                    

 
-                             -                             -                             4,364                    -                             -                             7,555                    

2,470                    1,719                    -                             287                       -                             -                             4,661                    
3,095                    -                             -                             -                             -                             -                             13,682                 

329                       -                             -                             -                             -                             -                             757                       
1,056                    319                       7                            41                          -                             -                             3,228                    

 
 

-                             2,600                    5,717                    -                             -                             -                             17,434                 
60,077                 135                       -                             -                             -                             -                             163,979               

 
 

-                             -                             -                             -                             -                             -                             5,873                    
-                             744                       -                             618                       -                             -                             38,611                 

7,236                    1,402                    19                          (180)                      19                          -                             10,523                 
(6,179)                  (1,511)                  (2)                           -                             (19)                        -                             (36,438)                
1,057                    635                       17                          438                       -                             -                             18,569                 

-                             -                             -                             -                             -                             -                             6,621                    
-                             -                             -                             -                             -                             -                             208                       

86,304                8,654                   15,154                6,436                   18                          59                          278,347              

2,158                    759                       2,631                    316                       -                             -                             8,142                    
733                       715                       5,996                    -                             10                          -                             9,089                    
589                       522                       -                             4,365                    -                             -                             10,609                 

 
-                             47                          -                             -                             -                             -                             1,802                    
-                             58                          -                             -                             -                             -                             17,858                 

3,480                   2,101                   8,627                   4,681                   10                          -                              47,500                

1,057                    635                       17                          438                       -                             -                             17,396                 

-                             -                             -                             153                       -                             3                            255                       
-                             -                             -                             -                             -                             -                             1                            

60,685                 -                             5,717                    -                             -                             -                             83,824                 
3,182                    -                             -                             -                             -                             -                             102,240               

17,900                 5,918                    793                       1,164                    8                            56                          27,131                 

82,824$              6,553$                6,527$                1,755$                8$                          59$                       230,847$           
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Combining Statement of Activities - Nonmajor Component Units
For the Year Ended December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands)

Cherry Creek Cherry Creek Denver Art
Subarea BID North BID Colfax BID Museum

 
Expenses 11$                     2,421$              277$                 37,740$            

Program Revenues
Charges for services -                           137                    -                          9,449                
Operating grants and contributions -                           -                          -                          19,812              
Total Program Revenues -                            137                    -                           29,261             

Net expenses (11)                      (2,284)               (277)                   (8,479)               

General Revenues
Taxes:  

Lodgers -                           -                          -                          -                          
Property 11                       2,684                336                    -                          
Sales and use -                           -                          -                          5,780                
Specific ownership -                           212                    24                      -                          

Investment and interest income -                           33                      6                         (5,209)               
Other revenues -                           -                          2                         3,884                
Total General Revenues 11                        2,929                368                    4,455                

Change in net assets -                           645                    91                      (4,024)               
Net Assets - January 1, as previously reported 15                       328                    185                    135,881            
Restatement for change in reporting entity -                           -                          -                          -                          
Net Assets - January 1, as restated 15                       328                    185                    135,881            

Net Assets - December 31 15$                     973$                 276$                 131,857$       
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Denver Denver Metro  
Museum of Convention Denver
Nature and and Visitor's Preschool Downtown Old South West

Science Bureau, Inc. Program, Inc. Denver BID Gaylord BID Colfax BID Total

32,979$            15,661$            14,459$            5,026$              38$                    89$                    108,701$         

12,843              3,396                -                          -                          -                          -                          25,825              
11,340              -                          35                      349                    -                          -                          31,536              

24,183             3,396                35                       349                    -                           -                           57,361             

(8,796)               (12,265)             (14,424)             (4,677)               (38)                     (89)                     (51,340)             

-                          13,744              -                          -                          -                          -                          13,744              
-                          -                          -                          4,210                20                      103                    7,364                

6,807                -                          11,552              -                          -                          -                          24,139              
-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          236                    

(30,970)             115                    286                    -                          -                          -                          (35,739)             
4,983                37                      -                          792                    -                          24                      9,722                

(19,180)           13,896             11,838             5,002                20                       127                    19,466             

(27,976)             1,631                (2,586)               325                    (18)                     38                      (31,874)             
110,800            4,922                -                          1,430                26                      21                      253,608            

-                          -                          9,113                -                          -                          -                          9,113                
110,800            4,922                9,113                1,430                26                      21                      262,721            

82,824$          6,553$             6,527$             1,755$             8$                       59$                    230,847$       
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128 City and County of Denver 

Combined Schedule of Bonds Payable, Commercial Paper, and Escrows
December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands)

Mandatory
Amount Interest  Amount 1st Optional Sinking Fund

Issued Maturity Rate Outstanding Call Date Redemption
Denver Airport System
1991D Airport System Revenue 600,001$      2013 7.75% 69,211$         Not callable 2009-2012
1992F-G Airport System Revenue1 135,000         2025 0.90% 45,400           1/2/2009 2009-2024
1995C Airport System Revenue 107,585         2012 6.50% 10,625           Not callable 2010-2011
1997E Airport System Revenue 415,705         2011-2013 6.00% 34,462           Not callable n/a
1998A Airport System Revenue 206,665         2025 5.00% 175,990         11/15/2009 2021-2024
1998B Airport System Revenue 103,395         2025 5.00% 103,395         11/15/2009 n/a
Escrow - LOI 54,880           2013-2025 6.125-7.75% 54,880           5/15/2009 n/a
2000A Airport System Revenue 330,625         2009-2023 4.80-6.00% 233,270         11/15/2010 2022
2001A Airport System Revenue 395,635         2009-2017 5.00-5.625% 206,912         11/15/2011 n/a
2001B Airport System Revenue 16,675           2013-2016 4.70-5.50% 16,675           11/15/2011 n/a
2001D Airport System Revenue 70,540           2009-2024 5.00-5.50% 53,510           11/15/2011 n/a
2002C Airport System Revenue1 49,000           2024 0.90% 38,400           1/2/2009 2009-2024
2002E Airport System Revenue 203,565         2009-2023 4.00-5.50% 152,440         11/15/2012 n/a
2003A Airport System Revenue 161,965         2026-2031 5.00% 161,965         1/2/2009 2027-2030
2003B Airport System Revenue 125,000         2033 5.00-5.75% 75,460           11/15/2013 2031-2032
2005A Airport System Revenue 227,740         2011-2025 4.00-5.00% 224,510         11/15/2015 n/a
2006A Airport System Revenue 279,585         2009-2015 4.00-5.00% 279,585         11/15/2016 n/a
2006B Airport System Revenue 170,005         2015 -2025 5.00% 133,555         Not callable n/a
Escrow - ABS 77,263           2009-2024 5.00-7.75% 137,750         11/15/2009 n/a
2007A Airport System Revenue 188,350         2023-2030 5.00% 188,350         11/15/2017 2028-2029
2007B Airport System Revenue 24,250           2032 5.00% 24,250           11/15/2017 n/a
2007C Airport System Revenue 34,635           2016-2033 5.00% 34,635           11/15/2017 n/a
2007D Airport System Revenue 147,815         2016-2023 5.25-5.50% 147,815         11/15/2017 n/a
2007D2 Airport System Revenue 31,950           2014-2015 5.00% 31,950           Not callable n/a
2007E Airport System Revenue 47,400           2032 2.99-3.25% 47,400           11/15/2017 2030-2031
2007F1-F4 Airport System Revenue2 208,025         2025 4.025% 208,025         1/2/2009 2021-2024
2007G1-G2 Airport System Revenue3 148,500         2025 2.00% 148,500         1/2/2009 2021-2024
2008A1 Airport System Revenue 221,215         2009-2017 5.00-5.50% 201,830         Not callable n/a
2008A2-A4 Airport System Revenue 387,625         2032 5.00-5.25% 387,625         5/16/2010 2016-2031
2008B Airport System Revenue1 81,800           2025 1.45% 78,800           1/2/2009 n/a
2008C1-C3 Airport System Revenue1 292,600         2025 0.95-1.00% 292,600         1/2/2009 n/a
2008 Commercial Paper 100,000         2009 1.10% 100,000         n/a n/a
Total Denver Airport System 4,099,775   
Deferred amount on refundings (295,180)       
Unamortized premium net of discount 63,519           
Net Denver Airport System 3,868,114   

Wastewater Management
2002 Wastewater Revenue Bonds 30,700           2009-2022 4.25-5.50% 24,250           11/1/2012 n/a
Unamortized premium 68                   
Total Wastewater Management 24,318          

Golf Enterprise
2005 Golf Enterprise Revenue Bonds 7,365              2009-2020 4.375-5.50% 6,110              9/1/2016 2010-2018
Unamortized Premium 50                   
Total Golf Enterprise 6,160             

continued
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Combined Schedule of Bonds Payable, Commercial Paper, and Escrows - continued
December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands)

Mandatory
Amount Interest  Amount 1st Optional Sinking Fund

Issued Maturity Rate Outstanding Call Date Redemption
Water Board
1999 Refunding General Obligation Bonds 14,530$         2010-2029 5.50-6.00% 14,530$           10/1/2013 n/a
2000 Refunding General Obligation Bonds 12,700           2011-2015 4.80-5.50% 3,245                10/1/2011 n/a
2001A Refunding General Obligation Bonds 11,215           2009-2016 4.00-4.70% 6,595                9/1/2011 n/a
2001B Refunding General Obligation Bonds 75,170           2009 4.00% 10,340             n/a n/a
2002 Refunding General Obligation Bonds 11,610           2009-2022 3.125-4.50% 8,015                10/1/2012 n/a
2003A Revenue Bonds 50,000           2009-2023 2.50-5.00% 49,500             6/1/2013 n/a
2003B Revenue Bonds 77,155           2009-2016 3.75-5.00% 61,215             6/1/2013 n/a
2004 Revenue Bonds 43,655           2009-2024 4.125-5.50% 38,155             12/1/2014 n/a
2005 Revenue Bonds 30,000           2009-2025 3.25-5.25% 26,940             12/1/2015 2024
2007 Revenue Bonds 100,000         2012-2037 3.00-5.00% 100,000           12/15/2018 2021-2036
2008 Revenue Bonds 1,800              2009-2022 0.75% 1,680                n/a 2009-2036
Total Water Board 320,215          
Deferred amount on refunding (953)                  
Premium net of discount 4,487                
Net Water Board 323,749          

General Obligation
1999A Various Purposes (mini-bonds) 3,134              2014 4.75% 3,133                4 not callable n/a
2000 Various Purpose Bonds 29,000           2009-2015 4.75-5.10% 16,050              8/1/2010 n/a
2002 Art Museum Bonds 52,500           2009-2017 4.25-5.00% 35,410             8/1/2012 n/a
2003A Auditorium Theatre/Zoo Bonds 35,000           2009-2018 3.00-5.50% 19,965             8/1/2013 n/a
2003B Medical Facilities Bonds 148,000         2009-2018 4.00-5.00% 105,925           8/1/2013 n/a
2005 Justice System Facilities/Zoo Bonds 77,000           2009-2025 4.00-5.00% 66,700             8/1/2015 n/a
2006 Justice System Facilities Bonds 125,000         2009-2025 4.25-5.00% 125,000           8/1/2016 n/a
2007 Justice System Facilities (mini-bonds) 8,861              2022 4.75% 8,861                4 not callable n/a
2008 Justice System Facilities 174,135         2009-2025 3.00-5.50% 170,635           not callable n/a
2008 Commercial Paper 38,000           2008 0.90% 38,000             n/a n/a
Total Primary Government 589,679          
Unamortized premium 34,540             
Net Primary Government 624,219          
1998 Gateway Village GID 2,000              2009-2018 6.00% 585                   6/1/2009 n/a
2004 Gateway Village GID 2,010              2009-2012 3.00-3.40% 1,630                12/1/2009 n/a
Deferred amount on refunding (57)                    
Total General Obligation 626,377          

Excise Tax Revenues Bonds
1999 Excise Tax Refunding 74,340           2009-2014 5.25-5.50% 36,945             9/1/2009 n/a
2001 Excise Tax Revenue Series A 186,500         2009-2010 4.00-5.00% 13,955             3/1/2011 n/a
2001 Excise Tax Revenue Series B1 75,000           2025 3.75% 74,000             1/2/2009 2021-2025
2003 Excise Tax Refunding 28,245           2009-2015 3.00-5.25% 17,040             5/1/2013 n/a
2005 Excise Tax Refunding 149,190         2009-2020 3.50-5.25% 148,990           not callable n/a
Total Excise Tax Revenues Bonds 290,930          
Deferred amount on refunding (2,433)              
Unamortized premium 12,132             
Net Excise Tax Revenue Bonds 300,629          

Total General Long-Term Debt 927,006          

Total Bonds Payable 5,149,347$   

1Variable rate issue - weekly interest rate reset
2Auction rate securities - 7 day auction
3Variable rate issue - daily interest rate reset
4Amounts do not include $1,805 and $731 of compound interest on the Series 1999A and 2007 mini-bonds, respectively.
Variable rate issues reflect rate in effect as of December 31, 2008
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Financial Planning 02/01
The public report burden for this information collection is estimated to average 380 hours annually.  Form # 350-050-36

City or County: Denver

YEAR ENDING :
Dec-08

This Information From The Records Of City and County of Denver: Prepared By: Catherine Dockery
Phone: (720) 913-5539

A.     Local         B.       Local           C.  Receipts from    D.  Receipts from  
Motor-Fuel Motor-Vehicle State Highway- Federal Highway

Taxes Taxes User Taxes Administration
1.  Total receipts available
2.  Minus amount used for collection expenses
3.  Minus amount used for nonhighway purposes
4.  Minus amount used for mass transit
5.  Remainder used for highway purposes 

AMOUNT AMOUNT
A.  Receipts from local sources: A.  Local highway disbursements:
     1.  Local highway-user taxes      1.  Capital outlay (from page 2) 54,531,068.00$                        
          a.  Motor Fuel  (from Item I.A.5.)      2.  Maintenance: 15,332,854.00$                        
          b.  Motor Vehicle (from Item I.B.5.)      3.  Road and street services:
          c.  Total (a.+b.)           a.  Traffic control operations 10,253,244.00$                        
     2.  General fund appropriations 96,210,605.00$                                b.  Snow and ice removal 6,223,194.00$                          
     3.  Other local imposts (from page 2) 1,207,962.00$                                  c.  Other 12,382,000.00$                        
     4.  Miscellaneous local receipts (from page 2) 536.00$                                             d.  Total  (a. through c.) 28,858,438.00$                        
     5.  Transfers from toll facilities      4.  General administration & miscellaneous 2,901,340.00$                          
     6.  Proceeds of sale of bonds and notes:      5.  Highway law enforcement and safety 15,044,403.00$                        
          a.  Bonds - Original Issues      6.  Total  (1 through 5) 116,668,103.00$                     
          b.  Bonds - Refunding Issues B.  Debt service on local obligations:
          c.  Notes      1.  Bonds:
          d.  Total (a. + b. + c.) -$                                                    a.  Interest -$                                            
     7.  Total (1 through 6) 97,419,103.00$                                b.  Redemption -$                                            
B.  Private Contributions -$                                                    c.  Total (a. + b.) -$                                            
C.  Receipts from State government      2.  Notes:
       (from page 2) 19,249,000.00$                                a.  Interest -$                                            
D.  Receipts from Federal Government           b.  Redemption -$                                            
       (from page 2) -$                                                    c.  Total (a. + b.) -$                                            
E.  Total receipts (A.7 + B + C + D) 116,668,103.00$                        3.  Total  (1.c + 2.c) -$                                            

C.  Payments to State for highways
D.  Payments to toll facilities
E.  Total disbursements (A.6 + B.3 + C + D) 116,668,103.00$                     

Opening Debt Amount Issued Redemptions Closing Debt
A.  Bonds (Total) -$                                          -$                                          -$                                              -$                                            
        1.  Bonds (Refunding Portion)
B.  Notes (Total) -$                                            

A. Beginning Balance B. Total Receipts C. Total Disbursements D. Ending Balance E. Reconciliation
116,668,103.00$                   116,668,103.00$                   -$                                            

Notes and Comments:
 - II.A.2 ("General fund appropriations") have been added to the extent that they are calculated to support highway expenditures

 - IV.  Until 2006 we reported debt only for street-related special assessment districts.  That amount is now negligible.  General Obligation debt related to highways cannot

     be separated from debt for other purposes.

 - V.A&D.  The City and County of Denver has no comprehensive, separate Road and Street "Fund."  We have funds for various capital outlays; General Fund

  appropriations and other specified revenues support non-capital expenditures on roads and streets.

FORM FHWA-536 (Rev.01-05)           PREVIOUS EDITIONS OBSOLETE (Next Page)

V.  LOCAL ROAD AND STREET FUND BALANCE

LOCAL HIGHWAY FINANCE REPORT

I.  DISPOSITION OF HIGHWAY-USER REVENUES AVAILABLE FOR LOCAL GOVERNMENT EXPENDITURE

ITEM

II.  RECEIPTS FOR ROAD AND STREET PURPOSES III.  DISBURSEMENTS FOR ROAD AND STREET PURPOSES

ITEM ITEM

IV.   LOCAL HIGHWAY DEBT STATUS
(Show all entries at par)
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STATE:

Colorado

YEAR ENDING (mm/yy):
City and County of Denver Dec-08

AMOUNT AMOUNT
A.3.  Other local imposts: A.4.  Miscellaneous local receipts:
    a.  Property Taxes and Assessments 1,207,962.00$                                  a.  Interest on investments 536.00$                                        

    b.  Other local imposts:           b.  Traffic Fines & Penalties

        1.  Sales Taxes           c. Parking Garage Fees
        2.  Infrastructure & Impact Fees           d.  Parking Meter Fees
        3.  Liens           e.  Sale of Surplus Property
        4.  Licenses           f.  Charges for Services
        5. Other           g.  Other Misc. Receipts
        6.  Total (1. through 5.) -$                                                     h.  Other
    c.  Total (a. + b.) 1,207,962.00$                                  i.  Total (a. through h.) 536.00$                                        

(Carry forward to page 1) (Carry forward to page 1) 

AMOUNT AMOUNT
C.   Receipts from State Government D.  Receipts from Federal Government
    1.  Highway-user taxes 19,249,000.00$                          1.  FHWA (from Item I.D.5.)
    2.  State general funds     2.  Other Federal agencies:
    3.  Other State funds:         a.  Forest Service 
        a.  State bond proceeds         b.  FEMA
        b.  Project Match         c.  HUD
        c. $1.50 Addl Motor Vehicle Reg. Fee         d.  Federal Transit Admin
        d. $2.50 Apportioned Motor Veh Reg Fee         e.  U.S. Corps of Engineers
        e.  (Specify)         f.  Other Federal
         f.  Total (a. through e.) -$                                                   g.  Total (a. through f.) -$                                              
   4.  Total (1. + 2. + 3.f) 19,249,000.00$                          3.  Total (1. + 2.g)

(Carry forward to page 1) 

ON NATIONAL OFF NATIONAL
HIGHWAY HIGHWAY TOTAL

SYSTEM SYSTEM
(a) (b) (c)

A.1.  Capital outlay:
          a.  Right-Of-Way Costs 158,490 158,490.00$                               
          b.  Engineering Costs 5,685,770 5,685,770.00$                            
          c.  Construction:  
               (1.) New Facilities 0 -$                                              
               (2).  Capacity Improvements 6,562,257 6,562,257.00$                            
               (3).  System Preservation 37,749,713 37,749,713.00$                         
               (4).  System Enhancement & Operation 4,374,838 4,374,838.00$                            
               (5).  Total Construction (1)+(2)+(3)+(4) 0 48,686,808 48,686,808.00$                         
         d.  Total Capital Outlay (Lines 1.a. + 1.b. + 1.c.5) 0 54,531,068 54,531,068.00$                         

(Carry forward to page 1) 

Notes and Comments:
 - II.A.4 (b,c,d,e) - Receipts formerly classified here are now reflected in Page 1, II.A.2.- General Fund appropriations because these specific

       revenue sources are not solely dedicated for Road and Street purposes.

 - II.C.3(c) and (d) - In previous years, we were able to identify these receipts; in 2005 our Motor Vehicles Division combined both these and

    other revenues and booked them under one revenue account code;  for that reason, we can no longer identify amounts for these two 

    categories.   Their absence here means that the Page, 1, II.A.2 calculation for General Fund support is higher.

 - III.A.1(a) - The City's financial information system does not allow us to distinguish on from off national highway system outlays)

 - III.A.1.d - Total capital outlays increased in 2008 as the result of the passage of a large General Obligation bond issuance that funded street-related projects

     along with a large number of non-street-related projects

FORM FHWA-536 (Rev.12-96)           PREVIOUS EDITIONS OBSOLETE

ITEM ITEM

III.  DISBURSEMENTS FOR ROAD AND STREET PURPOSES - DETAIL

LOCAL HIGHWAY FINANCE REPORT

II.  RECEIPTS FOR ROAD AND STREET PURPOSES - DETAIL

ITEM ITEM
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Contents

135 FINANCIAL TRENDS 

These schedules contain trend information to help the reader understand how the City’s Financial performance and well-
being have changed over time.

144 REVENUE CAPACITY 

These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the City’s most signifi cant local revenue source, the sales tax.

148 DEBT CAPACITY 

These schedules present information to help the reader assess the aff ordability of the City’s current levels of outstanding 
debt and the City’s ability to issue additional debt in the future.

156 DEMOGRAPHIC AND ECONOMIC INFORMATION 

These schedules off er demographic and economic indicators to help the reader understand the environment within which 
the City’s fi nancial activities take place.

159 OPERATING INFORMATION 

These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader understand how the information in the City’s 
fi nancial report relates to the services the City provides and the activities it performs.

This part of the City and County of Denver’s comprehensive annual fi nancial report presents detailed information as a context for 
understanding what the information in the fi nancial statements, note disclosures, and required supplementary information says 
about the government’s over fi nancial health.
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  Statistical 145

All other 
taxpayers, 90.76%

Principal property 
taxpayers, 9.24%

Columbia-
Healthone, 0.68%

Frontier Airlines, 
0.73%

Temple-Hoyne, 
0.67%

Republic Plaza 
Properties, 0.66%

Callahan Capital 
Partners, 0.89%

Skywest Airlines, 
0.52

Maguire Properties, 
0.58%

Qwest Corp., 1.83%

Public Service Co., 
1.52%

United Airlines, 
1.16%

2008 Principal Property Taxpayers

Source: Denver County Assessor

Taxpayer
Taxable Assessed 

Value Rank

Percentage of 
Total Taxable 

Assessed Value
Taxable Assessed 

Value Rank

Percentage of 
Total Taxable 

Assessed Value

Qwest Corp.  $                    198,396 1 1.83%
Public Service Co.                        164,862 2 1.52%  $                    133,732 2 2.12%
United Airlines, Inc.                        125,728 3 1.16%                        116,032 3 1.84%
Callahan Capital Partners                          96,813 4 0.89%
Frontier Airlines                          78,783 5 0.73%      
Columbia-Healthone, LLC                          74,173 6 0.68%                          63,171 5 1.00%
Temple-Hoyne Buell Foundation                          73,060 7 0.67%                          51,691 8 0.82%
Republic Plaza Properties                          71,261 8 0.66%                          52,232 7 0.83%
Maguire Properties - Denver Center, LLC                          63,074 9 0.58%      
Skywest Airlines                          56,395 10 0.52%
U. S. West                        164,752 1 2.62%
Equity Office Properties                           79,707 4 1.27%
Crescent Real Estate Funding                          61,195 6 0.97%
Cornerstone Denver, LLC                          31,388 9 0.50%
Denver Plaza Associates, Ltd.                          29,753 10 0.47%
Totals  $               1,002,545 9.24%  $                   783,653 12.44%

Principal Property Taxpayers
Current Year and Nine Years Ago (dollars in thousands)

2008 1999
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1  Does not include $34,540 unamortized premium on general obligation bonds.

2  Percentage calculated on estimated Scientifi c and Cultural Facilities District sales and use tax for Denver City and County compared to State total, per 
the Colorado Department of Revenue, Offi  ce of Research and Analysis.

3 Percentage calculated on Denver’s wastewater charges compared to the entire metro district per Metro Wastewater Reclamation District.

Direct and Overlapping Governmental Activities Debt
December 31, 2008 (dollars in thousands)

City and County
Debt Percentage  of Denver

Outstanding Applicable Share of Debt

 $                892,466 1

3,868,114
24,318

6,160
323,749

5,114,807

Gateway Village bonds 2,158
Golf bonds 6,160
Excise tax revenue bonds 300,629
Denver Airport System bonds 3,868,114
Wastewater Management bonds 24,318
Water Board bonds 323,749

21,751
                   567,928 

115,418 30.2% 2 $34,856 
948,275 30.2% 2 286,379

69,266 35.0% 3 24,243
616,042 100.0% 616,042

1,749,001 961,520

 $           2,316,929  $           1,529,448 

General long-term debt

Less amount reserved for long-term debt
Total Net Direct Debt

Denver Airport System bonds
Wastewater Management bonds
Golf bonds
Water Board bonds

School District #1
Total Overlapping Debt

Total Net Direct and Overlapping Debt

Direct Debt

Overlapping Debt
Denver Metropolitan Football Stadium District
Regional Transportation District
Metro Wastewater Reclamation District

Gross Bonded Debt
Less self supporting-bonds:
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Source:  Denver Department of Aviation
Denver Department of Community Planning  
 and Development
Denver Department of Excise and Licenses

Denver Department of FinanceDenver 
Department of Human Services
Denver Department of Parks and Recreation
Denver Department of Public Works

Denver Department of Safety
Denver Offi  ce of Economic Development
Denver Public Library

Operating Indicators by Function
Last Four Fiscal Years

2008 2007 2006 2005
Police

Physical arrests 70,883             75,312             73,668             67,095             
Traffic violations 132,659           119,336           117,855           111,307           

Fire
Emergency responses 84,953             91,838             80,418             83,165             
Fires extinguished 1,043                 690                    530                    596                   
Inspections 31,819             23,946             23,134             22,370             

Sheriff
Average daily population 2,334                2,412                2,475                2,337                
Number of jails 2                        2                        2                        2                        

Public works
Parking tickets issued 618,556            585,290            578,547            577,478           
Recyclables collected (tons) 28,067             26,550             21,760             17,673             
Refuse collected (tons) 219,675           231,956           234,059           248,596           

Other public works
Alleys paved (square yards) 170,336           74,887             117,611           288,268           
Potholes repaired (tons of asphalt) 4,346                4,273                3,943                2,855                
Street resurfacing (square yards) 1,887,206        549,260           624,609           754,619           

Human services
Family Medicaid Application for Denver clients 14,513             13,747             13,247             11,783             
New child welfare case involvements 2,656                2,501                2,169                1,995                

Community development
Permits issued 45,999             52,184             52,958             60,568             

Economic opportunity
Low income affordable housing units created 45                     30                     261                   652                   
Percent of job seekers entering employment 66.74% 61.84% 59.70% 59.60%

Parks and recreation
Admissions 556,601           614,390           629,270           918,487           
Memberships 21,659             18,856             1 33,513             1 33,370             

Library
Total volumes borrowed 9,776,905        9,517,573        9,244,353        8,428,033        
Volumes in collection 2,398,677        2,436,793        2,455,965        2,483,487        

Wastewater
Average daily sewage treatment (thousands of gallons) 50,210             59,945             70,226             65,537             

Denver airport system
Passenger air traffic 51,200,000     49,800,000     47,000,000     43,388,000     

Excise and Licenses
Number of business license transactions 17,895             18,355             15,311             15,902             

1  Department changed the way they are counting memberships.
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Capital Asset Statistics
Last Four Fiscal Years

2008 2007 2006 2005

Fire
Number of engines/trucks 39/23 39/23 39/23 39/23
Number of stations 33 33 33 33

Police
Number of marked/unmarked vehicles 313/101 313/101 314/78 307/83
Number of stations 6 6 6 6

Public works
Bridges (major/minor) 290/179 288/177 287/175 283/175
Alleys

paved 4,573 4,340 4,216 -
unpaved 563 791 915 923

Streets (centerline miles) 2,005 1,949 1,868 1798
Traffic signals 1,259 1,255 1,249 1251

Parks and recreation
Acreage 19,500 19,100 19,000 19,000
Golf courses 8 8 7 7
Mountain acreage 14,000 14,000 14,000 14000
Number of parks (includes mountain parks) 393 399 397 368
Parkways (miles) 100 100 100 100
Athletic fields/lighted 324/28 322/28 329/27 329/27
Recreation centers 29 29 29 29
Swimming pools 28 28 28 29
Tennis courts/lighted 129/39 140/67 140/67 140/67

Cultural activities
Concert venues 7 7 7 7
Public libraries 23 23 23 23

Wastewater
Sanitary sewers (miles) 1,887 1,875 1,872 1867
Storm sewers (miles) 1,017 985 966 954
Treatment capacity (millions of gallons) 18,888 18,888 18,888 18888

Denver airport system
Acreage 33,800 33,800 33,800 33800
Number of runways 6 6 6 6

Seating Capacities
Boettcher Concert Hall 2,679 2,679 2,679 2,634
Colorado Convention Center 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000
Denver Auditorium Theatre 2,245 2,245 2,245 2,065
Denver Coliseum 11,500 11,500 11,500 10,500
Ellie Caulkins Opera House 2,225 2,225 2,225 2,247
Red Rocks Amphitheater 9,450 9,450 9,450 9,450
Temple Hoyne Buell Theatre 2,844 2,844 2,844 2,882

Source:  Denver Department of Aviation
Denver Department of Finance
Denver Department of General Services
Denver Department of Parks and Recreation

Denver Department of Public Works
Denver Department of Safety
Denver Public Library
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